

# MULTIVARIABLE ADAPTIVE CONTROL: UNCERTAIN HIGH FREQUENCY GAIN, ROBUSTNESS AND GUARANTEED TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE

Andrei Giordano Holanda Battistel

Tese de Doutorado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Engenharia Elétrica, COPPE, da Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, como parte dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do título de Doutor em Engenharia Elétrica.

Orientadores: Liu Hsu Eduardo Vieira Leão Nunes

Rio de Janeiro Janeiro de 2015

# MULTIVARIABLE ADAPTIVE CONTROL: UNCERTAIN HIGH FREQUENCY GAIN, ROBUSTNESS AND GUARANTEED TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE

Andrei Giordano Holanda Battistel

TESE SUBMETIDA AO CORPO DOCENTE DO INSTITUTO ALBERTO LUIZ COIMBRA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO E PESQUISA DE ENGENHARIA (COPPE) DA UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO RIO DE JANEIRO COMO PARTE DOS REQUISITOS NECESSÁRIOS PARA A OBTENÇÃO DO GRAU DE DOUTOR EM CIÊNCIAS EM ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA.

Examinada por:

Prof. Liu Hsu, Docteur d'Etat.

Prof. Eduardo Vieira Leão Nunes, D. Sc.

Prof. José Paulo Vilela Soares da Cunha, D. Sc.

Prof. Ramon Romankevicius Costa, D. Sc.

Prof. Alexandre Sanfelice Bazanela, D. Sc.

RIO DE JANEIRO, RJ – BRASIL JANEIRO DE 2015 Battistel, Andrei Giordano Holanda

Multivariable Adaptive Control: Uncertain High Frequency Gain, Robustness and Guaranteed Transient Performance/Andrei Giordano Holanda Battistel. – Rio de Janeiro: UFRJ/COPPE, 2015.

XVII, 123 p.: il.; 29,7cm.

Orientadores: Liu Hsu

Eduardo Vieira Leão Nunes

Tese (doutorado) – UFRJ/COPPE/Programa de Engenharia Elétrica, 2015.

Bibliography: p. 101 – 108.

1. MIMO MRAC. 2. Controle adaptativo multivariável.

3. grau relativo arbitrário. I. Hsu, Liu *et al.*II. Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, COPPE,
Programa de Engenharia Elétrica. III. Título.

## Agradecimentos

Durante os últimos seis anos fiz morada no Rio de Janeiro. Neste tempo e lugar encontrei diversas pessoas, que muitas vezes sem o saber, me ensinaram e inspiraram. O meio acadêmico me trouxe a convivência de pessoas em diferentes estágios e áreas do conhecimento. As trocas estabelecidas nessa diversidade levaram a constantes reflexões que me fizeram repensar academia e ciência para além do meu foco principal e imediato. Seguramente meu processo de formação acadêmica foi significativamente influenciado por estas pessoas, desde as que contribuíram efetivamente quanto aquelas que me fizeram pensar mesmo durante as discussões mais descontraídas. Assim, gostaria de agradecer de modo especial a algumas pessoas:

Primeiramente ao meu orientador Liu Hsu, sem o apoio e incentivo do qual eu dificilmente teria vindo para COPPE, ainda para fazer o mestrado. Sou grato de poder contar ao longo desses anos não só com seus valiosos ensinamentos, como também com a amizade, além da proposta de bons trabalhos de mestrado e doutorado.

Agradeço ao orientador Eduardo Nunes pela dedicação e zelo com que tratou desta Tese desde o início, além da ótima convivência. A prontidão e paciência dedicados a todas as etapas do processo e especialmente nos momentos finais fizeram toda a diferença no resultado final desde trabalho.

Aos professores que acompanharam e influenciaram minha trajetória na COPPE: Ramon Costa, pelas críticas tanto na banca de qualificação quanto defesa desta Tese; Fernando Lizarralde, pelos bons conselhos em diversos momentos.

Aos profs. Marcelo Minhoto, Alexandre Bazanella e José Paulo Cunha, membros externos das bancas de qualificação e defesa, cujas críticas e sugestões foram essenciais ao desenvolvimento e conclusão do trabalho.

Ao prof. Casé, por ter me dado a oportunidade de ministrar a matéria de Controle Linear para a graduação, e aos alunos. Essa experiência serviu para perceber que eu de fato estava num caminho sem volta na minha opção pela carreira acadêmica.

Aos amigos que fiz no laboratório durante estes anos, Leonardo Orenstein, Gabriel Gleizer, Lucas Vargas, Alex Neves, Rodrigo Costa, Gustavo Freitas, Rodrigo Carneiro, Joyce Mergulhão, Ticiana de Lello e Ivanko Yanque.

Aos funcionários Roberto Calvet, Daniele da Silva, sempre prontos a resolver os mais diversos tipos de problemas burocráticos que eu consegui arrumar em seis anos. Aos amigos engenheiros e acadêmicos, André da Silva, com quem aprendi muito sobre engenharia e discuti aleatoriedades, além de dividir alguns trabalhos e colaborações; e Tiago Roux, pelas discussões valiosas sobre assuntos técnicos e carreira.

Ao colega e amigo Thiago Madureira, que apesar da distância e da rotina frenética sempre nunca deixou de dividir experiências sobre os momentos mais "desesperadores" das nossas carreiras.

Aos amigos com quem mais compartilhei os dramas e as conquistas acadêmicas, com quem muito aprendi entre alguns sambas, enredos e cervejas; Humberto Beltrão, Samanta Samira, Cláudia Fabiana, Sandor Buys, Mariam Daychoum, Nina Castellano, Tainá Turri, João Marcos, Pedro Navarrete e Felipe Horta; e em especial à Eliara Beck pela companhia em várias madrugadas - por vezes virtual, em torno dos trabalhos - por outras nas segundas do Semente.

As amigas Natasha Pinto e Sara Cabral, pela amizade genuína trazida pelo acaso e que marcou uma época da minha vida, entre todas as vezes que me tiraram de casa até os almoços no Fundão.

Aos amigos do Coral do CT, Patrícia Schavarosk, Nélio Rocha, Gabriel Giacomini, Beatriz Xavier e Oliver Kuster; não aprendi a cantar, mas fiz bons amigos.

Aos amigos músicos, Zé Paulo Becker, Adaury Jr. Carlos César, Samuel de Oliveira, Rômulo Duarte, Paulo Sérgio Santos, Bebê Kramer, Guto Wirtti e Yamandu Costa; por ajudarem a manter aceso o interesse pela música, muitas vezes amainado pela falta de tempo; e também pelos momentos de descontração necessária e valioso aprendizado. Certamente essas amizades foram importantes na minha vontade de permanecer no Rio. Ao amigo Caio Márcio, por me apresentar este novo círculo; a Yasmin Haddad, pela parceria e conversas acadêmicas; e ao Marcelo Roriz, por me mostrar que é possível viver sem nunca perder o bom humor!

Aos amigos de longa data, do Rio Grande; Matheus Rodrigues e Leonardo Figueiredo, que o tempo indelével não só não separou, como os trouxe para serem vizinhos no outro Rio durante uma boa parte desses anos. Ao Leonardo Hadlich, pelas visitas frequentes que além de renderem histórias pra contar me ajudaram a recuperar periodicamente o sotaque e o vocabulário. À Larissa Lautert, pela amizade e conversas enriquecedoras sobre os mais variados assuntos. Às amigas Amanda da Cruz e Mari Perius, com quem dividi tantas histórias, pela amizade atemporal. Aos badernistas Gustavo e Ricardo Ivanov, também sempre presentes. Ao Daniel Ito, sempre disposto a ajudar e ouvir, além dos momentos de descontração musical, futebolística e as vezes quase-filosófica.

À avó Izabel Holanda, pela maneira como marcou fortemente nos filhos a importância de uma boa formação. Quando isso se propagou até mim pelas gerações posteriores, trouxe junto a beleza e o aconchego inigualável de se ter uma família unida. Aos avós Alcides e Irma Battistel, por terem ensinado através das gerações a importância do esforço e do trabalho em qualquer atividade.

Aos Tios Julio Holanda, com quem muito aprendi logo no início da carreira, durante o período de estágio quando decidi seguir na área de controle; e Marcos Holanda, outro grande exemplo que me motivou a escolher a engenharia. Ao primo Julio Valença, pelo incentivo a vir pro Rio, que junto com a Marcele Ravanello cumprem sempre bem o papel de ser a família mais próxima que tenho aqui.

A prima Rebeca Holanda, cujo carinho, paciência e disposição são a prova de que mesmo à distância é possível ser presente e importante diariamente.

A Catia Valdman, primeira amizade que fiz no Rio e que hoje vejo como parte da família, pela atenção e disposição em ajudar e aconselhar sempre que preciso.

À Cora Ottoni, por ter acompanhado com um bom humor inigualável justamente os momentos mais críticos e decisivos de toda esta jornada, me ajudando tanto a me distrair quanto a manter o foco quando necessário. Os meses finais teriam sido muito menos leves e mais cheios de nervosismo se naõ pudesse contar com tanto carinho, companheirismo, risadas e torcida.

Ao Karim Helayel, pelo apoio constante em todas as esferas da vida, desde os primeiros dias de Rio. Devo a essa amizade uma grande parcela da minha evolução e formação pessoal. O envolvimento de ambos com a academia, em áreas e em contextos diferentes foi e ainda é essencial na minha maneira de observar e pensar a ciência e a academia. Isto somado à toda a experiência extra-acadêmica o tornam um verdadeiro irmão. À sua esposa Beatriz Malcher e ao seu pai José Helayel pela presença constante, apoio e torcida nos momentos importantes e difícies, como também nos momentos de descontração e leveza.

Aos meus irmãos; Damien, que nascido no ano que entrei na universidade acaba por constantemente me lembrar da parcela da minha vida dedicada à Engenharia. Sua sagacidade, ousadia e criatividade servem como uma espécie de horizonte que eu gostaria de atingir com a carreira; e Deirdre, que com sua amizade e parceria sem limites se tornou a melhor amiga que eu poderia querer. Sua maneira decidida e inteligente de ver as coisas me dão a certeza de que ainda vou aprender muito com ela em diversas esferas.

Aos meus pais, sem os quais nada disso seria possível. Primeiramente por ter me mantido ciente da quantidade de privilégios com os quais contei para poder chegar até aqui. Além disso, ter a sorte de ter pais professores e acadêmicos, certamente me garantiu uma considerável parcela de tranquilidade em todo este processo. O fato de terem propriedade necessária para me acalmar e incentivar nos momentos dificeis, e comemorar nas conquistas é por si só mais um privilégio.

Agradeço ao meu pai Orimar pelo exemplo de professor e pesquisador, pelas muitas discussões a esse respeito ao longo dos anos e por todos as tomadas de decisões difíceis antes das quais procurei os seus precisos e preciosos conselhos. Agradeço à minha mãe Amara, que por ser de outra área me proporcionou visões alternativas e humanas dos mesmos temas, além de ter me alfabetizado ainda muito novo. Sem esta condição inicial eu provavelmente ainda estaria longe de concluir o doutorado!

Por fim, gostaria de agradecer a UFRJ/COPPE, instituição que me acolheu e através do qual adquiri minha formação de pós-graduação, e sem a qual minha vida teria sido completamente diferente. Agradeço ao CNPq e CAPES pelo financiamento que viabilizou esta trajetória.

Resumo da Tese apresentada à COPPE/UFRJ como parte dos requisitos necessários para a obtenção do grau de Doutor em Ciências (D.Sc.)

#### CONTROLE ADAPTATIVO MULTIVARIÁVEL: GANHO DE ALTA FREQUÊNCIA INCERTO, ROBUSTEZ E DESEMPENHO TRANSITÓRIO GARANTIDO

Andrei Giordano Holanda Battistel

Janeiro/2015

Orientadores: Liu Hsu Eduardo Vieira Leão Nunes

Programa: Engenharia Elétrica

Este trabalho propõe novas soluções para o Controle Adaptativo Multivariável por Modelo de Referência (MIMO MRAC). As técnicas são aplicáveis a plantas de grau relativo arbitrário e não exigem condições de simetria relacionadas ao ganho de alta frequência (HFG), considerado desconhecido. Controladores robustos com garantia de desempenho transitório são obtidos sem a necessidade de parametrização aumentada do controlador.

Em comparação às técnicas convencionais do MRAC, os controladores propostes são aplicáveis a uma classe mais abrangente de sistemas. Em vez da frágil e restritiva condição de simetria, o HFG deve ter autovalores reais e positivos e forma de Jordan diagonal. Algoritmos com alto ganho e projeção paramétrica são propostos a fim de obter controladores mais robustos em relação àqueles baseados apenas em lei do gradiente. O MRAC Binário (BMRAC) é generalizado para grau relativo arbitrário utilizando diferenciadores exatos, tal que se obtem rastreamento global e exato de saída com garantias de desempenho transitório. Propõe-se ainda uma nova extensão ao BMRAC utilizando adaptação com projeção e alto ganho além de filtragem do sinal de controle e malha de predição. O controlador resultante, chamado BM-RAC Estendido, permite rastreamento prático de saída com garantias de transitório. Simulações numéricas são apresentadas a fim de confirmar os resultados teóricos e ilustrar a performance dos controladores. Abstract of Thesis presented to COPPE/UFRJ as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Science (D.Sc.)

#### MULTIVARIABLE ADAPTIVE CONTROL: UNCERTAIN HIGH FREQUENCY GAIN, ROBUSTNESS AND GUARANTEED TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE

Andrei Giordano Holanda Battistel

January/2015

Advisors: Liu Hsu Eduardo Vieira Leão Nunes Department: Electrical Engineering

This work proposes new solutions to Multivariable Model Reference Adaptive Control (MIMO-MRAC) for plants with arbitrary relative degree without requiring stringent symmetry assumptions related with the plant uncertain high frequency gain (HFG). Robust controllers with guaranteed transient performance are obtained without the need of augmented control parametrization.

Compared to conventional MRAC techniques, the proposed controllers are applicable to a wider class of plants. Instead of fragile symmetry conditions, the HFG is required to have diagonal Jordan form with real and positive eigenvalues, which is a robust and generic condition. Controllers based on parameter projection with high adaptation gain are proposed to obtain improved robustness in comparison to pure gradient adaptive laws. The Binary-MRAC(BMRAC) is generalized to arbitrary relative degree using exact differentiators, such that global exact output tracking is obtained with guaranteed transient properties. A further extension of the BMRAC is proposed, which inherits its high gain and adaptation laws with projection combined with input filtering and prediction loop. The result is the Extended BMRAC (eBMRAC), a robust global practical output tracking controller with guaranteed transient. Simulations are presented to illustrate theoretical developments and performance of the proposed techniques.

## Contents

List of Figures			xiii	
1	Intr	oduct	ion	1
	1.1	Basic	Definitions	. 3
		1.1.1	Linear Systems	. 4
		1.1.2	Stability of Dynamic Systems	. 5
		1.1.3	Stable Polynomials	. 6
		1.1.4	Interactor Matrix and the High Frequency Gain	. 7
		1.1.5	Passivity Concepts	. 9
	1.2	Proble	em Description - Multi-Input Multi-Output (MIMO) Case	. 10
	1.3	Multi	variable Model Reference Adaptive Control and its Symmetry	
		Condi	tions	. 14
	1.4	Review	w of Previous Designs	. 16
		1.4.1	Lyapunov Design	. 16
		1.4.2	Gain factorization	. 18
		1.4.3	Generalized Passivity (WSPR)	. 21
		1.4.4	WSPR based MIMO MRAC	. 22
	1.5	L1 Ad	laptive Control	. 23
		1.5.1	L1-AC Problem Formulation	. 24
	1.6	Objec	tive and Contribution of the Work	. 28
<b>2</b>	Bili	near E	Crror Multivariable MRAC	30
	2.1	Introd	luction	. 30
	2.2	Biline	ar MIMO MRAC Design using a stabilizing multiplier	. 31
		2.2.1	Error Equations	. 31
		2.2.2	Conventional Design	. 32
		2.2.3	New Design	. 33
		2.2.4	Stability Analysis	. 33
		2.2.5	Determining the stabilizing multiplier $\overline{L}$	. 38
	2.3	Simula	ation Results	

		2.3.1	Process control plant with nonuniform relative degree satisfy-		
			ing the PDJ condition		
		2.3.2	Visual Servoing Application	39	
		2.3.3	Discrete-Time Plant	42	
3	Multivariable Binary-MRAC using Global Exact Differentiators				
	(GI	RED-E	BMRAC)	47	
	3.1	Introd	luction	47	
	3.2	BMR	AC using a MIMO lead filter	50	
	3.3	MIMO	O Robust Exact Differentiators	52	
	3.4	Globa	l RED based BMRAC	54	
	3.5	Simul	ation Results	56	
		3.5.1	Comparison with Bilinear MRAC	57	
<b>4</b>	$\mathbf{Ext}$	ended	Binary-MRAC	63	
	4.1	Introd	luction	63	
	4.2	Binar	y Model Reference Adaptive Control (BMRAC)	64	
	4.3	Smoot	th Sliding Control (SSC)	65	
		4.3.1	Plants with relative degree one	65	
	4.4	Comb	ining SSC and B-MRAC	66	
		4.4.1	Adaptation Law with Projection with Smooth Saturation		
			function for disturbance rejection $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	69	
	4.5	Simul	ation Results	70	
		4.5.1	Robustness properties of the eBMRAC $\hdots$	70	
		4.5.2	Performance in the presence of unmodeled dynamics $\ldots$ .	73	
		4.5.3	Effect of $k_{nom}$	76	
		4.5.4	Transient and steady-state behavior properties	80	
		4.5.5	Second order unstable plant with time delay $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	83	
	4.6	Limita	ations with L1-AC	86	
		4.6.1	First Order Plant	89	
		4.6.2	Second Order Plant	90	
	4.7	Prelin	ninary Results on the MIMO eBMRAC	95	
		4.7.1	Simulation Results for the MIMO eBMRAC	95	
<b>5</b>	Cor	nclusio	ns and Future Work	99	
	5.1	Futur	e Work	100	
		5.1.1	Bilinear MRAC	100	
		5.1.2	GRED-BMRAC	100	
		5.1.3	eBMRAC	100	
		5.1.4	General issues on MRAC	100	

#### Bibliography

$\mathbf{A}$	Robust Exact Differentiators (RED)				
	A.1 First Order Differentiator $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	. 110			
	A.2 Arbitrary Order Differentiators	. 111			
В	GRED-BMRAC proofs	113			
	B.1 Proof of Theorem 3: $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	. 113			
	B.2 Proof of Corollary 2:	. 116			
	B.3 Proof of Theorem 4	. 117			
С	eBMRAC proofs	120			
	C.1 Proof of Theorem 5	. 120			
	C.2 Proof of Theorem 6	. 121			
D	Publications	123			

101

## List of Figures

1.1	Block Diagram of MRAC structure	13
1.2	L1-AC architecture	25
2.1	Process control plant tracking performance: plant output $y$ (—); and	
	model output $y_m$ ()	39
2.2	Process control plant: tracking errors	40
2.3	Process control plant: control signal $u$ (—); and model matching	
	signal $u^*$ ()	40
2.4	Camera-robot system representation	41
2.5	Visual servoing plant tracking performance: plant output $y$ (—); and	
	model output $y_m$ () with stabilizing multiplier	42
2.6	Visual servoing plant with the stabilizing multiplier: tracking errors $% \mathcal{A}^{(n)}$ .	43
2.7	Visual servoing plant without the stabilizing multiplier: tracking errors	43
2.8	Tracking errors for discrete-time plant with $\beta < \beta_{min}$	44
2.9	Tracking errors for discrete-time plant with $\beta = 4.75$	45
2.10	Tracking errors for discrete-time plant with $\beta = 15$	46
2.11	Tracking performance for discrete-time plant with $\beta = 15$	46
3.1	Block diagram of GRED-BMRAC	56
3.2	Tracking errors obtained with BMRAC using only the RED to com-	
	pensate relative degree	57
3.3	Tracking errors obtained with BMRAC using only the lead filter to	
	compensate relative degree	58
3.4	Tracking errors obtained with the hybrid scheme (GRED-BMRAC) $$ .	58
3.5	Tracking performance obtained with the hybrid scheme (GRED-	
	BMRAC)	59
3.6	Control signal of the hybrid scheme (GRED-BMRAC) $\hfill \hfill $	59
3.7	Switching function of the hybrid scheme (GRED-BMRAC) $\ . \ . \ .$ .	60
3.8	Bilinear MRAC tracking performance: plant output $y$ (—); and model	
	output $y_m$ ()	60

3.9	Window of Fig. 3.8. Bilinear MRAC tracking performance: plant	
	output $y$ (—); and model output $y_m$ ()	61
3.10	GRED-BMRAC tracking performance: plant output $y$ (—); and	
	model output $y_m$ ()	61
3.11	GRED-BMRAC tracking performance: plant output $y$ (—); and	
	model output $y_m$ ()	62
		. <b>.</b>
4.1	BMRAC block diagram	65
4.2	Smooth sliding control block diagram	66
4.3	Extended BMRAC (eBMRAC) block diagram	68
4.4	Smooth saturation function	69
4.5	Tracking error with BMRAC	71
4.6	Tracking performance with BMRAC	72
4.7	Tracking error with BMRAC in the presence of unmodeled time-delay	72
4.8	Tracking performance with BMRAC in the presence of unmodeled	
	time-delay	73
4.9	Tracking error with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled time-delay	74
4.10	Prediction error with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled time-delay	74
4.11	Tracking performance with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled	
	time-delay $\ldots$	75
4.12	Tracking with BMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics $\ldots$	75
4.13	$\ensuremath{\operatorname{Prediction}}$ error with <code>eBMRAC</code> in the presence of unmodeled dynamics	76
4.14	Tracking error with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics	77
4.15	Tracking performance with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled	
	dynamics	77
4.16	Control signal with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics	78
4.17	Tracking error with the regular regressor $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	78
4.18	Tracking error with the augmented regressor $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	79
4.19	Prediction error with the regular regressor	79
4.20	Prediction error with the augmented regressor	80
4.21	Tracking performance with unmodeled dynamics with $k_{nom} = k^*$	81
4.22	Tracking performance with unmodeled dynamics with $k_{nom} = 2k^*$	81
4.23	Tracking error with unmodeled dynamics with $k_{nom} = 2k^*$	82
4.24	Prediction error with unmodeled dynamics with $k_{nom} = 2k^* \dots$	82
4.25	Prediction error for different values of $\gamma$	83
4.26	Detail of Fig. 4.25	84
	Tracking error for different values of $\gamma$	84
4.28	Steady state tracking error for different values of $\gamma$	85
4.29	Control input with different values of $\gamma$	85

4.30	Tracking errors obtained for different values of $\tau$ showing residual	
	convergence	86
4.31	Tracking error for second order unstable plant $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	87
4.32	Prediction error for second order unstable plant $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	87
4.33	Tracking performance for second order unstable plant $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	88
4.34	Control signal for second order unstable plant $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	88
4.35	L1-AC performance for Example 1	90
4.36	eBMRAC performance for for first order plant	91
4.37	L1-AC: Second order plant with $r(t) = 100cos(0.2t)$	92
4.38	L1-AC: Second order plant with $r(t) = 100cos(t) \dots \dots \dots \dots$	92
4.39	L1-AC step response for unknown input gain in Second order plant $~$ .	93
4.40	eBMRAC: Second order plant with $r(t) = 100cos(0.2t)$	93
4.41	eBMRAC: Second order plant with $r(t) = 100cos(t)$	94
4.42	eBMRAC step response for unknown $k_p$ for second order plant	94
4.43	Tracking errors obtained for the MIMO example	96
4.44	Prediction errors obtained for the MIMO example	97
4.45	Tracking performance for the MIMO example	97
4.46	Control signals obtained for the MIMO example	98

## List of abbreviations

- SISO Single-Input, Single-Output
- MIMO Multi-Input, Multi-Ouput
- HFG High Frequency Gain
- **PR** Positive Real
- SPR Strictly Positive Real
- **PDJ** Positive Diagonal Jordan Form (with positive and real eigenvalues)
- **SPD** Symmetric Positive Definite
- **WSPR** W-Strictly Positive Real
- WASPR W-Almost-Positive Real
- **MRC** Model Reference Control
- MRAC Model Reference Adaptive Control
- BMRAC Binary Model Reference Adaptive Control
- eBMRAC Extended Binary Model Referene Adaptive Control
- SSC Smooth Sliding Control
- L1-AC L1 Adaptive Control
- **RED** Robust Exact Differentiator
- **GRED** Global Robust Exact Differentiator

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

In several control applications, the knowledge of system models and/or parameters is not accurate enough. Also, it is often necessary to deal with plants with uncertainties and unmodeled dynamics, or even systems whose parameters vary with time or according to its operating point. In such cases, it is not unusual that fixed-gain controllers do not suffice for a desirable operation. Such applications brought up the need to develop strategies to design controllers that would adjust themselves recursively during the system operation. This adjustment would be done based both on prior system knowledge and on information obtained through measurements, such as input-output or states. In other words, the desired controller would "adapt" itself over time based on some form of system identification [1, 2].

The term "Adaptive Control" have been used since the 1950s, initially motivated by the problem of designing autopilots for aircrafts operating at a wide range of speeds and altitudes [1]. Since aircraft dynamics are conceptually nonlinear and time varying, a single fixed-gain controller would not suffice due to large parameter variations. This lead to adoption of gain scheduling, based on the fact that aircraft dynamics can be approximated by a linear model for a given operating point specified by speed and altitude [2].

Several strategies to self-adjusting controllers were proposed thereafter, such as rudimentary model reference schemes [3],[4], sensitivity rules [5],[6] and the MIT rule. Later on, Kalman proposed a self-tunning optimal linear quadratic controller which was updated based on explicit identification of the system parameters [7].

The 1960s brought advances and theoretical understanding through Lyapunov analysis and the use of state variable representation. On the other hand, the crash of the X-15 test plane was partially attributed to the adaptive system [8], which eventually led to some loss of interest in the field. However, some important contributions were made, such as the development of Dynamic Programming and the advances in System Identification. Also, previously proposed techniques were revisited in the light of the Lyapunov method [9], providing better understanding and restating the importance of rigorous theoretical analysis.

Significant amount of research regarding stability proofs and conditions succeeded such as [10]. In 1979, Egardt [11] showed that adaptive strategies would become unstable in the presence of disturbances. The works by Rohrs[12] and Ioannou [13], brought more examples of the lack of robustness which raised awareness for the fact that the assumptions under which stability was guaranteed was very sensitive to unmodeled dynamics, triggering the interest on Robust Adaptive Control.

Regarding the multi-input multi-output (MIMO) systems, several techniques were later proposed, when the ideia of model reference (or model following) was already discussed, such as [14], [15], [16], [10], [17] and [18]. Significant progress was achieved through [19] where the relative degree for MIMO systems was introduced, as well as the concept of interactor matrix.

Adaptive Control is nowadays a mature branch of control theory with a rich and vast literature, including several textbooks as [20], [21], [2], [22] among others. It is also a field of current interest in diverse engineering and science fields, with open research problems [23].

In the specific case of MIMO systems, there are both theoretical challenges and practical interest, since a variety of systems have multiple inputs and multiple outputs. Also, some concepts known for the scalar case have to be reexamined and generalized for multivariable systems.

Several works proposed solutions to the MIMO MRAC problem. An early design for unknown HFG was proposed assuming that a symmetryzing matrix  $S_p$  is known such that  $K_p S_p = (K_p S_p)^T > 0$  is known [24], [21], [2]. This is a not only restrictive requirement when  $K_p$  is unknown, but also a fragile condition that is easily destroyed for arbitrarily small parametric disturbances.

Circumvention of the symmetry requirements were later possible by using factorization of  $K_p$  such as [25], which led to controller overparametrization. A recently proposed approach based on generalized passivity resulted in a controller that does not involve augmented parametrization and also exempts the symmetry assumption. However, the drawback is that it is restricted to uniform relative degree one.

The idea of using variable structures in MRAC is also used in MIMO systems, such as [26], [27], [28] and [29]. Even though the HFG needs to be only anti-Hurwitz, not symmetric, the Sliding Mode Control (SMC) has significant drawbacks such as chattering and sensitivity to noise. This encouraged the use of adaptation laws with projection or sigma-modifications, such that parameters are limited. In techniques such as the BMRAC, the gain can be tuned up to a high value to improve performance and still result in chattering-free control laws [30].

The purpose of this work is to present new techniques for direct Model Reference Adaptive Control (MRAC) using output feedback. In the Direct Adaptive Control, the controller parameters are updated directly from an adaptive law, whilst the Indirect Adaptive Control the plant parameters are firstly estimated and these estimates are used to calculate a controller. The term output feedback means that state variables are not measured nor used for control purposes.

This work is dedicated to propose new MRAC techniques that require less restrictive assumptions than those found in the literature for MIMO systems. Also, we are concerned in obtaining robust controllers with guaranteed transient performance.

We propose a new MRAC algorithm that is similar to conventional designs, such as seen in [21],[2]. Its advantages are the relative simplicity, since it is fairly related to standard designs; the applicability to plants with arbitrary relative degree and the exemption of symmetry requirements, such that it can be applied to a wider class of plants in comparison to conventional techniques.

It is known that pure gradient adaptive control may suffer from lack of robustness and poor adaptation transient. This has motivated us to propose an extension to a recently proposed Binary MRAC (BMRAC) technique [31]. This algorithm is the MIMO extension to a projection based controller [32] which assures boundedness on controller parameters. The resulting controller is shown to have improved robustness and guaranteed transient performance.

Inspired by the BMRAC technique and in the light of the recently proposed L1 Adaptive Control (L1-AC) [33], which was widely discussed and uses interesting control ingredients, we also propose a further extension to the BMRAC, which we called Extended BMRAC (eBMRAC). This controller is based on a combination of early proposed techniques and shows to present interesting robustness and guaranteed transient properties. Also, we show that it is possible to circumvent fundamental limitations of the L1-AC.

In the next sections we present some basic definitions we use throughout the text and a brief literature review, focusing mainly on the techniques within the scope of this thesis. For further and more general references on adaptive control, see [23].

#### **1.1** Basic Definitions

In this section we present basic definitions, Lemmas and Theorems that are used throughout the text.

#### 1.1.1 Linear Systems

Consider a Linear Time Invariant (LTI) system described by the following realization or state-space model with p inputs and q outputs.

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t) \tag{1.1}$$

$$y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t)$$
(1.2)

with  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times p}$ ,  $C \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times n}$  and  $D \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times p}$ ;  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the system state,  $u \in \mathbb{R}^p$  is the input and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^q$  is the output.

This system can be described in input-output form by

$$Y(s) = G(s)U(s) \tag{1.3}$$

$$G(s) = C(sI - A)^{-1}B + D$$
(1.4)

where I is the  $n \times n$  identity matirx, Y(s) and U(s) are the Laplace transforms of y(t) and u(t) respectively, and G(s) has q rows and p columns and its elements are rational functions of s.

Another way to describe an LTI system is using operators [21]. Consider the inverse Laplace transform of G(s), the output for a given input u(t) is the convolution

$$y(t) = \int_0^t g(t-\tau)u(\tau)d\tau \tag{1.5}$$

Considering G(s) as an operator whose operation is defined by (1.5), it is convenient to express the system (1.3) as

$$y(t) = G(s)[u](t)$$
 (1.6)

such that G(s)[u](t) denotes the output of a system whose operator representation is G(s) and input is u(t).

The concepts of Controllability and Observability of a system are useful and defined as follows.

**Definition 1 (Controllability [34])** The state equation (1.1) or the pair (B, A) is said to be controllable if for any initial state  $x(0) = x_0$  and any final state  $x_1$ , there exists an input that transfers  $x_0$  to  $x_1$  in a finite time. Otherwise (1.1) is said to be uncontrollable.

**Definition 2 (Observability [34])** The state equation (1.1)-(1.2) is said to be observable if for any unknown initial state  $x(0) = x_0$ , there exists a finite  $t_1 :> 0$ such that the knowledge of the input u(t) and the output y(t) over  $[0, t_1]$  suffices to determine uniquely the initial state x(0). Otherwise the equation is said to be unobservable.

It is possible to verify whether a system is Controllable/Observable or not using the following matrices.

$$C_M = \begin{bmatrix} B & AB & A^2B & \dots & A^{n-1}B \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.7)

$$O_M = \left[ C^T \ A^T C^T \ (A^T)^2 C^T \ \dots \ (A^T)^{n-1} C^T \right]^T$$
(1.8)

A system is controllable if and only if  $rank(C_M) = n$  and is observable if and only if  $rank(O_M) = n$ . For other necessary and sufficient conditions on Controllability and Observability, see [34].

In this work we are particularly interested in the *o*bservability index,  $\nu$ , which is the least integer such that

$$O_M = \left[ C^T \ A^T C^T \ (A^T)^2 C^T \ \dots \ (A^T)^{\nu-1} C^T \right]^T = n$$

#### 1.1.2 Stability of Dynamic Systems

We use the standard Lyapunov stability definitions. For further reference, the reader is referred to [2, 21, 35].

Consider a system described by the possibly nonlinear differential equation

$$\dot{x} = f(x,t), \quad x(t_0) = x_0$$
(1.9)

where  $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f : \mathcal{J} \times \mathcal{B}(r) \to \mathcal{R}$ ,  $\mathcal{J} = [t_0, \infty)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(r) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n | |x| < r\}$ . We assume that f possesses one and only solution  $x(t) = x(t; x_0, t_0)$  for every  $x_0 \in \mathcal{B}(r)$ and every  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ .

Assume the system (1.9) has a solution  $x(t) = x(t; x_0, t_0)$  for a given pair of  $\{x_0, t_0\}$ . The condition  $f(0, t) = 0, \forall t \ge t_0$  means that the origin  $x_e = 0$  is an equilibrium state of the system. If there exists h > 0 such that the ball  $B(h) = \{\in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x|| \le h\}$  contains no other equilibrium states,  $x_e = 0$  is said to be an isolated equilibrium state.

**Definition 3 (Stability [2])** The equilibrium state  $x_e = 0$  of system (1.9) is stable if for every  $\epsilon > 0$  and any  $t_0 \ge 0$  there exists a  $\delta(\epsilon, t_0) > 0$  such that  $||x_0|| < \delta$  implies that  $||x(t; x_0, t_0)|| < \epsilon$ ,  $\forall t \ge t_0$ . The equilibrium state  $x_e = 0$  is unstable if it is not stable. **Definition 4 (Uniform Stability [2])** The equilibrium state  $x_e = 0$  of system (1.9) is uniformly stable if  $\delta(\epsilon, t_0) = \delta(\epsilon)$  in Definition 3

**Definition 5 (Attractive Equilibrium [2])** The equilibrium state  $x_e = 0$  of system (1.9) is attractive if for every  $t_0 \ge 0$  there exists a  $\rho(t_0) > 0$  such that  $||x_0|| < \rho$  implies that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t; x_0, t_0) = 0$ .

**Definition 6 (Uniform Asymptotic Stability [2])** The equilibrium state  $x_e = 0$  of system (1.9) is uniformly asymptotically stable if it is uniformly stable and if for some  $\delta_1 > 0$ , every  $\epsilon_1 > 0$ , and any  $t_0 \ge 0$  there exists a  $T(\epsilon_1, \delta_1) > 0$  such that  $||x_0|| < \delta_1$  imples that  $||x(t; x_0, t_0)|| < \epsilon_1$ ,  $\forall t \ge t_0 + T$ .

We are also interested in systems whose trajectories are attracted to a small vicinity of the equilibrium point. We shall refer to *practical stability* according to the following definition.

**Definition 7 (Practical Stability [36], [37])** The system  $\dot{x} = f(t, x, v)$  is said to be uniformly input-to-state practically stable (ISpS) if there existe  $\beta \in \mathcal{KL}, \gamma \in \mathcal{K}$ , referred as the ISpS gain, and a nonnegative constant  $\kappa$ , such that for each initial time  $t_0 \geq 0$  and initial condition  $x(t_0)$ , and each bounded measurable input signal  $v(\cdot)$  defined on  $[t_0\infty)]$ , the solution exists on  $[t_0\infty)]$  and is such that

$$\|x(t)\| \le \beta(\|x(t_0)\|, t - t_0) + \gamma(\|v_{[t_0, t]}\|_{\infty}) + \kappa$$
(1.10)

Where  $||v_{[t_0,t]}||_{\infty} = \sup_{t \in [t_0,t]} |f(t)|$ . When (1.10) is satisfied with  $v \equiv 0$ , we say that the system is uniformly globally asymptotically practically stable (GApS), and in addition, if  $\beta = ce^{-a(t-t_0)|x(t_0)|}$ , wehre c and a are generic positive constants, it is said to be uniformly globally exponentially practically stable (GEpS)

#### 1.1.3 Stable Polynomials

Stability of linear systems described in state-space form (1.1) or input-output (1.3) is directly related to the eigenvalues of the matrix A or the poles of G(s), given by the roots of the characteristic equation det(sI - A) = 0.

Consider the polynomial  $X(s) = \alpha_n s^n + \alpha_{n-1} s^{n-1} + \ldots + \alpha_0$ .

**Definition 8** [2] We say that X(s) is monic if  $\alpha_n = 1$  and the degree of X(s) is *n* if the coefficient  $\alpha_n$  of  $s^n$  is nonzero.

**Definition 9 (Hurwitz Polynomial [2])** A polynomial is said to be **Hurwitz** if all the roots of X(s) = 0 are located in Re[s] < 0 **Definition 10 (Schur Polynomial [2])** A polynomial is said to be **Schur** if all the roots of X(s) = 0 are located in Re[s] < |1|

A polynomial is said to be stable if it is Hurwitz for continuous-time systems and Schur for discrete-time systems.

**Definition 11 (Hurwitz and Anti-Hurwitz Matrices)** A matrix A is said to be **Hurwitz** if all its eigenvalues are negative, that is, the roots of  $\lambda I - A = 0$  are in  $Re[\lambda] < 0$ . Similarly, A matrix A is said to be **Anti-Hurwitz** if all its eigenvalues are positive, that is, the roots of  $\lambda I - A = 0$  are in  $Re[\lambda] > 0$ .

#### 1.1.4 Interactor Matrix and the High Frequency Gain

Consider a continuous-time linear time-invariant (LTI) plant with M inputs and M outputs.

$$y(t) = G(s)[u](t)$$
 (1.11)

where  $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^M$  is the plant output,  $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^M$  is the plant input, with  $t \in [0, \infty)$ .

The concept of interactor matrix [38] is important in MRAC schemes, since it determines the system structure at infinity. For design purposes we shall also refer to a modified interactor, which is defined next [2, 21].

**Proposition 1** [21] For any  $M \times M$  proper rational full rank transfer matrix G(s)there exists a unique lower triangular polynomial matrix  $\xi(s)$ , defined as the left interactor matrix of G(s), of the form

$$\xi(s) = \begin{bmatrix} s^{l_1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ s^{l_1}h_{21}(s) & s^{l_2} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ s^{l_1}h_{M1}(s) & s^{l_1}h_{M2}(s) & \dots & s^{l_{M-1}}h_{MM-1}(s) & s^{l_M} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (1.12)$$

where  $h_{ij}(s)$ , j = 1, ..., M - 1, i = 2, ..., M, are polynomials divisible by s and  $l_i \ge 0, i = 1, ..., M$ , are integers such that

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \xi(s) G(s) = K_p^0$$

is finite and nonsingular

Note that the inverse of the left interactor is not stable. Since in the design of model reference control  $\xi^{-1}(s)$  is required to be stable, it is convenient to employ a modified left interactor matrix that has a stable inverse.

**Proposition 2** [21] For any  $M \times M$  proper rational full rank transfer matrix G(s)there exists a lower triangular polynomial matrix  $\xi(s)$ , defined as the modified left interactor (MLI) matrix of G(s), of the form

$$\xi(s) = \begin{bmatrix} d_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ h_{21}^m(s) & d_2(s) & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ h_{M1}(s) & h_{M2}(s) & \dots & h_{MM-1}(s) & d^M(s) \end{bmatrix},$$
 (1.13)

where  $h_{ij}^m(s)$ , j = 1, ..., M - 1, i = 2, ..., M, are some polynomials and  $d_i(s) = s^{l_i} + a_1^i s^{l_i-1} + ... + a_{l_i}^i$ , and i = 1, ..., M are any chosen monic stable polynomials such that

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \xi(s)G(s) = K_p \tag{1.14}$$

is finite and nonsingular. Furthermore,  $h_{ij}^m(s)$  can be chosen as  $h_{ij}^m(s) = poly$  $nomial part of <math>s^{l_j}(h_{ij}(s) + a_1^i s^{-1} h_{ij}(s) + \ldots + a_{l_i}^i s^{-l_i} h_{ij}(s))$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, M-1$ ,  $i = 2, \ldots, M$ . For this choice of  $h_{ij}^m(s)$ , we have

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \xi(s) G_0(s) = K_p^0 \tag{1.15}$$

For proofs, see [21][pp.385].

Thus, Eq. (1.14) defines the High Frequency Gain (HFG) of the system transfer function (matrix) G(s). In the SISO case,  $k_p$  is a scalar and the interactor matrix is any stable polynomial of degree n - m. The condition usually assumed for adaptive control is that there is prior knowledge on the signal of  $k_p$  [].

In the multivariable case, different knowledge and conditions are required on  $K_p$  to different adaptive control techniques. In this Thesis we draw special attention to mitigating symmetry requirements on the HFG and seek to use a more robust condition referred to as the PDJ condition (Positive Diagonal Jordan), defined as follows.

**Definition 12 (Positive Diagonal Jordan Condition (PDJ))** A matrix is said to be PDJ if its eigenvalues are real and positive and its Jordan form is diagonal.

A matrix satisfying the PDJ condition can be multiplied by a symmetric positive definite (SPD) matrix such that the product is also SPD. This result is of particular importance to this work and is stated in the following lemma.

**Lemma 1** ([39], [40]) Given  $K_p \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times M}$ , there exists  $W = W^T > 0$ ,  $W \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times M}$ such that

$$WK_p = K_p^T W > 0,$$

if and only if  $K_p$  is PDJ.

Proof: see [40].

Further, it can be shown that if the leading minors of  $K_p$  are nonzero, there exists a matrix  $\overline{L}$  such that  $\overline{L}K_p$  is PDJ. Consider the *LDU* factorization [41] of  $K_p$ .

$$K_p = L_p D_p U_p$$

where  $L_p$  is unit lower triangular,  $D_p$  is diagonal and  $U_p$  is unit upper triangular. It is possible to choose a diagonal matrix  $D_0$  with positive real and distint eigenvalues such that there is a lower triangular matrix

$$\bar{L} = D_0 (L_p D_p)^{-1}$$

This implies that

$$\bar{K}_p = \bar{L}K_p = D_0(L_p D_p)^{-1}(L_p D_p)U_p = D_0 U_p$$

is upper triangular and PDJ. According to Lemma 1, there is W such that  $W\bar{L}K_p$  is SPD.

This result is also important to our work, since it shows that even if the plant HFG is not PDJ, a multiplier can be used to satisfy the PDJ condition. This idea is explored in Chapters 2 and 3.

#### 1.1.5 Passivity Concepts

**Definition 13 (Positive Real Transfer Functions [35])** A  $M \times M$  proper rational transfer function matrix G(s) is called positive real if

- poles of all elements G(s) are in  $Re[s] \leq 0$ ,
- for all real  $\omega$  for which  $j\omega$  is not a pole of any element of G(s), the matrix  $G(j\omega) + G^T(-j\omega)$  is positive semidefinite, and
- any pure imaginary pole  $j\omega$  of any element of G(s) is a simple pole and the residue matrix  $\lim_{s\to j\omega}(s-j\omega)G(s)$  is positive semidefinite Hermitian.

The transfer function G(s) is called strictly postive real if  $G(s - \varepsilon)$  is positive real for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

**Lemma 2 (Positive Real Lemma [35])** Let  $G(s) = C(sI - A)^{-1}B$  be a  $M \times M$ strictly proper transfer function matrix where (A, B) is controllable and (A, C) is observable. Then G(s) is positive real if and only if there exit matrices  $P = P^T > 0$ , and  $Q = Q^T \ge 0$  such that

$$A^T P + P A = -Q, (1.16)$$

$$PB = C^T \,. \tag{1.17}$$

**Lemma 3 (Kalman-Yakubovich-Popov** [35]) Let  $G(s) = C(sI - A)^{-1}B$  be a  $M \times M$  strictly proper transfer function matrix where (A, B) is controllable and (A, C) is observable. Then G(s) is strictly positive real if and only if there exit matrices  $P = P^T > 0$ , and  $Q = Q^T \ge 0$  and a positive constant  $\epsilon$  such that

$$A^T P + P A = -Q - \epsilon P, \qquad (1.18)$$

$$PB = C^T. (1.19)$$

### 1.2 Problem Description - Multi-Input Multi-Output (MIMO) Case

Similarly to the approach of [21], we will consider simultaneously both continuoustime (CT) systems and discrete-time (DT) systems. To this end, the symbol Dis used, in the CT case, as the Laplace transform variable or the time differential operator  $D[x](t) = \dot{x}(t), t \in [0, \infty)$ , as the case may be or, in the DT case, as the z-transform or the time advance operator  $D[x](t) = x(t+1), t \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, ...\}$ , as the case may be. A polynomial in D is said to be stable if its roots have strictly negative real parts (Hurwitz polynomial), in the CT case, or are strictly inside the unit circle of the complex plane (Schur polynomial), in the DT case.

Consider an uncertain MIMO LTI plant with M inputs and M outputs described in state space form as

$$D[x_p] = A_p x_p + B_p u, \quad y = H_p x_p, \tag{1.20}$$

where  $x_p(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the state,  $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}^M$  is the plant output,  $u(t) \in \mathbb{R}^M$  is the plant input, with  $t \in [0, \infty)$  for the continuous-time (CT) case and  $t \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, ...\}$  for the discrete-time (DT) case, and  $A_p$ ,  $B_p$ ,  $H_p$  are constant uncertain matrices.

In input/output form one has

$$y(t) = G(D)[u](t).$$
 (1.21)

The objective of the model reference adaptive control (MRAC) can be stated as

follows. Given a reference model system of the form:

$$y_m(t) = W_m(D)[r](t),$$
 (1.22)

where  $W_m(D)$  is and  $M \times M$  rational transfer function matrix,  $y_m(t) \in \mathbb{R}^M$  is the reference output, and  $r(t) \in \mathbb{R}^M$  is an external input signal, find a feedback control signal u(t) for the plant (1.21) with unknown G(D) such that y(t) tracks  $y_m(t)$ as close as possible and the closed-loop system is globally stable in the sense that all signals in the system are bounded for any bounded initial conditions and input signals.

The following assumptions are made:

- (A1) G(D) has full rank and all its zeros are stable;
- (A2) The plant is controllable and observable;
- (A3) The observability index  $\nu$  of G(D), or an upper bound of  $\nu$ , is known;
- (A4) There exists a known diagonal polynomial matrix  $\xi_m(D)$ , defined as the modified left interactor (MLI) matrix of G(D) of the form  $\xi_m(D) = diag \{d_1(D), d_2(D), \ldots, d_M(D)\}$  where  $d_i(D)$  are monic stable polynomials of degrees  $l_i > 0$ , such that the high frequency gain matrix of G(D), defined as  $K_p = \lim_{D \to \infty} \xi_m(D)G(D)$ . is finite and nonsingular.

The MLI is defined as in Subsection 1.1.4, rewritten to encompass both CT and DT systems as in [21][Lemma 9.1]

$$\xi_m(D) = \begin{bmatrix} d_1(d) & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ h_{21}^m(D) & d_2(D) & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ h_{M1}(D) & h_{M2}(D) & \dots & h_{MM-1}(D) & d^M(D) \end{bmatrix},$$
(1.23)

Note that Assumption (A4) means that the vector relative degree of G(D) is known.

Let the reference signal  $y_m$  be generated by the following reference model:

$$y_m = W_m(D) r; \qquad r, y_m \in \mathbb{R}^M, \qquad (1.24)$$

The tracking error is then given by

$$e = y - y_m \tag{1.25}$$

The transfer function matrix  $W_m(D)$  has the same vector relative degree as G(D). Without loss of generality, it is possible to choose  $W_m(D) = \xi_m^{-1}(D)$ .

When the plant is known, a control law which achieves the matching between the closed-loop transfer function matrix and  $W_m(D)$  is given by

$$u^* = \theta^{*^T} \omega \tag{1.26}$$

where the parameter matrix is written as

$$\theta^* = \left[\theta_1^{*^T} \ \theta_2^{*^T} \ \theta_3^{*^T} \ \theta_4^{*^T}\right]^T, \tag{1.27}$$

with  $\theta_1^*, \theta_2^* \in \mathbb{R}^{M(\nu-1) \times M}, \theta_3^*, \theta_4^* \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times M}$  and the regressor vector

$$\omega = [\omega_u^T \ \omega_y^T \ y^T \ r^T]^T, \quad w_u, w_y \in \mathbb{R}^{M(\nu-1)}$$
(1.28)

is obtained from I/O state variable filters given by:

$$\omega_u = A(D)\Lambda^{-1}(D)u, \quad \omega_y = A(D)\Lambda^{-1}(D)y, \qquad (1.29)$$

where  $A(D) = [ID^{\nu-2} \quad ID^{\nu-3} \quad \cdots \quad ID \quad I]^T$ ,  $\Lambda(D) = \lambda(D)I$  with  $\lambda(D)$  being a monic stable polynomial of degree  $\nu - 1$ .

The plant transfer matrix can be expresses as a product  $G(D) = Z_0(D)P_0^{-1}(D)$ . With the matching control of Eq. (1.26), the parameter matrix (1.27) and the regressor (1.28), the matching equation

$$\theta_1^{*T} A(D) P_0(D) + \left( \theta_2^{*T} A(D) + \theta_3^{*T} \Lambda(D) \right) Z_0(D) = \Lambda(D) \left( P_0(D) - \theta_4^{*T} \xi_m(D) \right)$$
(1.30)

defines the matching parameters  $\theta_1^{*T}, \theta_2^{*T}\theta_3^{*T}$ , and  $\theta_4^{*T}$  [21]. Also, the matching conditions require that  $\theta_4^{*T} = K_p^{-1}$ .

However, since the plant is unknown, the desired parameters matrix  $\theta^*$  is also unknown. In this case, the following control law can be used

$$u(t) = \theta(t)\omega(t) \tag{1.31}$$

It is important to note that the in the MIMO case, solution of matching equation is possibly non-unique, such that Eq. (1.30) may admit a set of solutions to  $\theta^*$ . This is worthy of attention since in this case it is not possible to identify the plant even with a rich signal[42]. In this work we are interested in boundedness of the closed loop signals and tracking of the reference model. The problem of parameter convergence is discussed in detail in [43] and [42].

An error equation can be developed extending the usual approach for SISO



Figure 1.1: Block Diagram of MRAC structure

MRAC to the multivariable case [21].

Defining the state vector  $X = \begin{bmatrix} x_p^T, \ \omega_u^T, \ \omega_y^T \end{bmatrix}^T$  with the following dynamics

$$D[X] = A_0 X + B_0 u. (1.32)$$

Then, adding and subtracting  $B_0 u^*$  and

$$D[X] = A_0 X + B_0 u + B_0 \left( \theta^{*T} \omega_r + K_{\theta}^{*T} r \right) - B_0 u^*.$$
(1.33)

noting that there are matrices  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  such that  $\omega = \Omega_1 X + \Omega_2 r$ , it follows that

$$D[X] = A_c X + B_c K_p [u - u^*] + B_c r, \quad y = H_0 X$$
(1.34)

with  $A_c = A_0 + B_0 \theta^{*T} \Omega_1$ ,  $B_c = B_0 K_{\theta}^{*T} = B_0 K_p^{-1}$ . The reference model can be described by

$$D[X_m] = A_c X_m + B_c r \tag{1.35}$$

The error state  $x_e$  dynamics is given by

$$D[x_e] = A_c x_e + B_c K_p[u - \theta^{*^T} \omega], \qquad e = H_o x_e, \qquad (1.36)$$

 $\{A_c, B_c, H_o\}$  is a nonminimal realization of  $W_m(D)$ , so that the error equation can be written in input-output form as

$$e = W_m(D)K_p\left[u - \theta^{*^T}\omega\right].$$
(1.37)

### 1.3 Multivariable Model Reference Adaptive Control and its Symmetry Conditions

The conventional multivariable direct Model Reference Adaptive Control (MIMO MRAC) algorithm is designed under the stringent assumption that a multiplier  $S_p$  for the High Frequency Gain (HFG) matrix  $K_p$  is known, such that  $S_pK_p$  becomes symmetric positive definite (SPD) [2, 21]. This assumption is nongeneric, thus fragile, since symmetry is easily destroyed by an arbitrarily small parametric perturbation on  $K_p$ .

To illustrate this issue, we consider the case of direct adaptive visual tracking for planar manipulators using a fixed camera (plant) with optical axis orthogonal to the robot workspace. The camera orientation is uncertain with respect to the robot workspace coordinates [44, 45]. The objective is to control the robot so that the image of its end-effector tracks a desired trajectory in the image plane. This problem is discussed in detail in Subsection 2.3.2.

In this case, the HFG is essentially a rotation matrix where  $\phi$  is the angle between camera and manipulator frames.

$$K_p = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\phi) & -\sin(\phi) \\ \sin(\phi) & \cos(\phi) \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.38)

Except for trivial cases, this matrix is not SPD and has complex eigenvalues. Considering a nominal  $\phi_{nom} = 45^{\circ}$ ,  $K_p$  is:

$$K_{p_{nom}} = \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} 0.7071 & -0.7071 \\ 0.7071 & 0.7071 \end{array} \right]$$

A possible symmetrizig matrix would be

$$S_p = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} 2 & 1 \\ -2 & 1 \end{array} \right]$$

such that  $S_p K_p$  is SPD.

$$S_p K_{p_{nom}} = \begin{bmatrix} 2.1213 & -0.7071 \\ -0.7071 & 2.1213 \end{bmatrix}$$

However, if the actual value of  $\phi$  is slightly different of  $\phi_{nom}$ , say  $\phi = 45.01^{\circ}$ , the

product  $S_p K_p$  is no longer SPD.

$$S_p K_p = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} 2.1212 & -0.7075 \\ -0.7067 & 2.1214 \end{array} \right]$$

Recent progress in circumventing the symmetry assumption has brought renewed attention to the MIMO MRAC problem. By using matrix factorization methods, it is possible to design stable MIMO-MRAC for plants with uncertain and possibly non-symmetric HFG [21, 25, 46–50]. However, while such factorization approach represents a quite general solution, it leads to controller overparametrization.

Further details on the method based on SDU factorization is given in Subsection 1.4.2. The necessity of overparametrization not only increases the number of adapted parameters by a scale of M(M-1)/2 as it can lead to loss of robustness, since the matching parameters form a linear manifold (and therefore unbounded) [51, 52].

For plants with uniform relative degree one, using the Immersion and Invariance approach (I & I) [53], the symmetry condition was also circumvented. The I & I method requires the knowledge of a less restrictive multiplier  $\Gamma$  such that  $K_p\Gamma^T + \Gamma K_p^T > 0$  [54]. However, the adaptive law had to include additional filtering and auxiliary control signals. Another possibility for the case of relative degree one appeared more recently in [39] and [44] based on a generalized passivity condition named WSPR, instead of the usual SPR (Strictly Positive Real) condition. The concept of WASPR (W-almost SPR) was also introduced in [39] and consists in requiring the plant to become WSPR through some static output feedback. It was shown in [44] that a necessary and sufficient condition for minimum phase plants of relative degree one to be WASPR is that the HFG matrix has a positive diagonal Jordan form. We shall refer to this condition as the PDJ condition. The WSPR approach leads to a simpler adaptation law which is just the conventional (unnormalized) Lyapunov-based law without the augmented parametrization required in the factorization methods.

Recalling the visual servoing example, we note that  $K_p$  in Eq. 1.38 is not PDJ either since it has complex eigenvalues. However according to the results of Subsection 1.1.4, we know that it is possible to obtain a multiplier  $\bar{L}$  that guarantees that  $\bar{L}K_p$  does satisfy the PDJ condition. Considering the nominal value of  $\phi_{nom} = 45^{\circ}$ , it is possible to use the multipler  $\bar{L}$  as

$$\bar{L} = \begin{bmatrix} 35.3553 & 0\\ -0.7071 & 0.7071 \end{bmatrix}$$

such that  $\bar{L}K_p$  satisfies the PDJ condition in the interval  $-71^\circ < \phi < 73^\circ$ . Unlike

the symmetry condition, which can be easily destroyed by small parametric perturbation, PDJ condition is valid on a set. The visual servoing application is discussed in detail in Subsection. 2.3.2

In the next section we present a brief review of related MIMO MRAC designs to provide a better comparison with the new techniques to be proposed in the next chapters. These techniques require the PDJ condition on  $K_p$  and mitigate the need of symmetry conditions.

#### 1.4 Review of Previous Designs

Only CT systems will be considered in this section. The Lyapunov design develops the adaptation law from a Lyapunov function involving the error state and the parametric errors.

For simplicity, consider the case of uniform relative degree one. In the scalar case, it is well known that a simple way to form the Lyapunov function is by choosing an SPR reference model so that the positive real lemma can be applied to the error state equations. In the multivariable case, the transfer function  $W_m(D)K_p$ can only be SPR if  $K_p$  is symmetric. In order to relax this stringent condition, two recent methods can be used: (a) HFG factorizations with corresponding control reparametrization [25] and (b) a generalized passivity condition (WSPR) [39]. We briefly overview these methods in order to put into perspective our proposed methods.

#### 1.4.1 Lyapunov Design

Let us recall the main steps in the SISO design:

- 1.  $W_m(s)$  is a scalar transfer function chosen to be SPR.
- 2. The adaptive control law is

$$u = \theta^T \omega \,, \tag{1.39}$$

where  $\theta(t)$  is an estimate of  $\theta^*$ . With (1.39) the output error is a linear function of the parameter error  $\tilde{\theta} = \theta - \theta^*$ ,

$$e = W_m(s) K_p \left[ \tilde{\theta}^T \omega \right] . \tag{1.40}$$

3. Assuming that  $sign(K_p)$  is known, stability and convergence of e(t) are assured by the update law (SISO case)

$$\dot{\theta} = -\gamma \, sign(K_p)\omega e \,. \tag{1.41}$$

The MIMO generalizations of these steps, discussed in the textbooks [2, 21], can be briefly summarized as follows.

For Step 1, a diagonal reference model  $W_m(s)$  is selected as in (1.24). For Step 2, the matrix version of the control law (1.39) is employed, where  $\theta$  is a matrix, while  $\omega$  is an enlarged vector. The MIMO error equation retains the same form of the SISO error equation (1.40), except that  $W_m(s)$ ,  $K_p$  and  $\tilde{\theta}$  are matrices. For Step 3, different assumptions about  $K_p$  have been made. An early design for unknown  $K_p$ was considered in [2, 21, 24], under the additional assumption that a matrix  $S_p$  is known such that  $K_p S_p = (K_p S_p)^T > 0$ .

This assumption is quite restrictive when  $K_p$  is unknown. However, it is illustrative to show the corresponding Lyapunov function and adaptive law of this pioneering method [24]. To this end, consider a state realization of the error equation (1.40):

$$\dot{x}_e = A_c x_e + B_c K_p [\tilde{\theta}^T \omega], \qquad e = H_o x_e, \qquad (1.42)$$

where  $\{A_c, B_c, H_o\}$  is a realization of  $W_m(s)$ . As usual, assume that  $W_m(s)$  is SPR. Then, by the positive real lemma, for some symmetric positive definite (SPD) P and Q one has  $A_c^T P + P A_c^T = -Q$ ;  $PB = H_o^T$ . The Lyapunov function is given by

$$V = x_e^T P x_e + tr(\tilde{\theta}\Gamma_p \tilde{\theta}^T)$$
(1.43)

where  $\Gamma_p = K_p^T S_p^{-1} = (S_p^{-1})^T (K_p S_p)^T (S_p^{-1})$ ,  $P = P^T > 0$ . Differentiating with respect to t, one gets

$$\dot{V} = x_e^T (A_c^T P + P A_c) x_e + 2(\omega^T \tilde{\theta} K_p^T B_c^T P x_e + tr(\tilde{\theta} \Gamma_p \tilde{\theta}^T))$$
(1.44)

Then the following type of adaptive law was proposed in [24]:

$$\dot{\tilde{\theta}}^T = -S_p e \omega^T; \tag{1.45}$$

From (1.44) and (1.45) one gets

$$\dot{V} = -x_e^T Q x_e + 2(\omega^T \tilde{\theta} K_p^T B_c^T P x_e - tr(\tilde{\theta} \Gamma_p S_p e \omega^T))$$
(1.46)

or (Note: if  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  then  $tr(xy^T) = y^T x$ ),

$$\dot{V} = -x_e^T Q x_e + 2(\omega^T \tilde{\theta} K_p^T B_c^T P x_e - \omega^T \tilde{\theta} \Gamma_p S_p e)$$
(1.47)

For negative semi-definitness, we set  $\Gamma_p S_p = K_p^T$ . This means that  $S_p$  must be chosen such that  $K_P S_P = (K_P S_P)^T$  becomes SPD. Thus, a quite stringent prior knowledge (of one such  $S_p$ ) is required about  $K_p$ .

#### 1.4.2 Gain factorization

A new parametrization can be performed using a factorization of the high frequency gain  $K_p$ . For this, we need the following lemma (see [25])

**Lemma 4** Every  $m \times m$  real matrix  $K_p$  with nonzero leading principal minors  $\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \dots, \Delta_m$  can be factored as

$$K_p = SDU, \qquad (1.48)$$

where S is symmetric positive definite, D is diagonal, and U is unity upper triangular.

**Proof**. Since the leading principal minors of  $K_p$  are nonzero, there exists a unique factorization

$$K_p = L_1 D_p L_2^T \,, \tag{1.49}$$

where  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are unity lower triangular and

$$D_p = diag \left\{ \Delta_1, \ \frac{\Delta_2}{\Delta_1}, \ \cdots, \ \frac{\Delta_m}{\Delta_{m-1}} \right\} .$$
(1.50)

Factoring  $D_p$  as

$$D_p = D_+ D \,, \tag{1.51}$$

where  $D_+$  is a diagonal matrix with positive entries, we rewrite (1.49) as  $K_p = L_1 D_+ L_1^T L_1^{-T} D L_2^T$ , so that (1.48) is satisfied by

$$S = L_1 D_+ L_1^T, \qquad \qquad U = D^{-1} L_1^{-T} D L_2^T. \qquad (1.52)$$

**Remark.** The above factorization  $K_p = SDU$  is not unique because the positive diagonal matrix  $D_+$  is a free parameter.

The SDU factorization of  $K_p$  is then employed to derive a new form of the error equation. Substituting  $K_p = SDU$  in (1.37) we obtain

$$e = W_m(s)SD[Uu - U\theta_1^{*T}\omega_1 - U\theta_2^{*T}\omega_2 - U\theta_3^{*}y - U\theta_4^{*}r].$$
(1.53)

A further refinement of this expression will make sure that the control law is welldefined. With the decomposition

$$Uu = u - (I - U)u (1.54)$$

where (I - U) is strictly upper triangular, it is possible to define the control signal u as a function of (I - U)u. No static loops can appear, because  $u_1$  depends on

 $u_2, \dots, u_m$ , while  $u_2$  depends on  $u_3, \dots, u_m$ , and so on. The unknown entries of U are incorporated in the new parametrization by defining  $K_1 = U\theta_1^{*T}$ ,  $K_2 = U\theta_2^{*T}$ ,  $K_3 = U\theta_3^*$ , and  $K_4 = U\theta_4^*$ , and rewriting (1.53) as

$$e = W_m(s)SD[u - K_1\omega_1 - K_2\omega_2 - K_3y - K_4r - (I - U)u].$$
(1.55)

Next, new parameter vectors  $\Theta_i^*$  are introduced via the identity

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Theta_1^{*T} \Omega_1 & \Theta_2^{*T} \Omega_2 & \cdots & \Theta_m^{*T} \Omega_m \end{bmatrix}^T \equiv K_1 \omega_1 + K_2 \omega_2 + K_3 y + K_4 r + (I - U) u \,. \tag{1.56}$$

In addition to the concatenated  $i^{th}$  rows of the matrices  $K_1$ ,  $K_2$ ,  $K_3$ ,  $K_4$ , each row vector  $\Theta_i^{*T}$  includes the unknown entries of the  $i^{th}$  row of (I-U). The corresponding regressor vectors are

$$\Omega_1^T = \begin{bmatrix} \omega^T & u_2 & u_3 & \cdots & u_m \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\Omega_2^T = \begin{bmatrix} \omega^T & u_3 & \cdots & u_m \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\Omega_m^T = \begin{bmatrix} \omega^T \end{bmatrix}.$$
(1.57)

The error equation (1.55) has thus been brought to the new form

$$e = (W_m(s)S)D\left(u - \left[\Theta_1^{*T}\Omega_1 \ \Theta_2^{*T}\Omega_2 \ \cdots \ \Theta_m^{*T}\Omega_m\right]^T\right).$$
(1.58)

In this new parametrization the adaptive control law is

$$u = \begin{bmatrix} \Theta_1^T \Omega_1 & \Theta_2^T \Omega_2 & \cdots & \Theta_m^T \Omega_m \end{bmatrix}^T , \qquad (1.59)$$

where  $\Theta_i$  are the estimates of  $\Theta_i^*$ . Compared with the control law (1.31), this control makes use of a larger number of parameters.

The key feature of the error equation (1.58) is that the diagonal matrix D appears in the place of the  $K_p$ , and an assumption can be made about the signs of its entries  $d_1, \dots, d_m$ . The following lemma holds (see [25]).

**Lemma 5** For any  $A = diag\{-a_i\}$ ,  $a_i > 0$ ,  $(i = 1, \dots, m)$ , and any  $m \times m$  unity lower triangular matrix  $L_1$ , there exists  $D_+ = diag\{d_i^+\}$ ,  $d_i^+ > 0$ , such that

$$W_m(s)S = (sI - A)^{-1}L_1D_+L_1^T$$
(1.60)

is SPR.

Combining the state  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  of the plant (1.21) with the filter states  $\omega_1$ , and  $\omega_2$ in CT (D = s), it is defined  $X = \begin{bmatrix} x^T & \omega_1^T & \omega_2^T \end{bmatrix}^T \in \mathbb{R}^{n+2m(\nu-1)}$ . Where  $X_M$  denotes the state of the corresponding nonminimal realization  $C_m(sI - A_m)^{-1}B_m$  of  $W_m(s)S$ where  $C_m B_m = S$ . Then, the state error  $z = X - X_m$  and the output error e in (1.58) satisfy

$$\dot{z} = A_m z + B_m D \left( u - \left[ \Theta_1^{*T} \Omega_1 \cdots \Theta_m^{*T} \Omega_m \right]^T \right),$$
  
$$e = C_m z. \qquad (1.61)$$

Because  $W_m(s)S$  is SPR, there exist matrices  $P_m = P_m^T > 0$  and  $Q_m = Q_m^T > 0$ satisfying

$$A_m^T P_m + P_m A_m = -2Q_m , \qquad (1.62)$$
$$P_m B_m = C_m^T .$$

An update law for the control parameters vectors  $\Theta_i$  is design in the adaptive control (1.59) in a complete analogy with SISO adaptive case. The following Lyapunov function is used

$$V = \frac{1}{2} \left( z^T P_m z + \sum_{i=1}^M \gamma_i^{-1} |d_i| \tilde{\Theta}_i^T \tilde{\Theta}_i \right) , \qquad (1.63)$$

where  $\tilde{\Theta}_i = \Theta_i - \Theta_i^*$  are the parameter errors,  $d_i$  are the entries of D, and  $\gamma_i > 0$  are adaptation gains. The time derivative of (1.63) along the trajectories of the error system (1.61) yields

$$\dot{V} = -z^T Q_m z + z^T P_m B_m D \left[ \tilde{\Theta}_1^T \Omega_1 \quad \cdots \quad \tilde{\Theta}_M^T \Omega_M \right]^T + \sum_{i=1}^M \gamma_i^{-1} |d_i| \tilde{\Theta}_i^T \dot{\tilde{\Theta}}_i$$
$$= -z^T Q_m z + \sum_{i=1}^M \gamma_i^{-1} |d_i| \tilde{\Theta}_i^T \left[ \gamma_i \operatorname{sign}(d_i) e_i \Omega_i + \dot{\tilde{\Theta}}_i \right].$$

An update law which renders  $\dot{V}$  nonpositive,  $\dot{V} = -z^T Q_m z$ , is

$$\dot{\Theta}_i = \tilde{\Theta}_i = -\gamma_i \, sign(d_i) e_i \Omega_i \,, \quad (i = 1, \cdots, M) \,. \tag{1.64}$$

Thus, the adaptive control (1.59) and the update law (1.64) guarantee  $\tilde{\Theta}_i, \Theta_i \in L^{\infty}$ and  $z \in L^{\infty} \cap L^2$ .

Because  $z = X - X_M$  and  $X_M$  are bounded, X is also bounded and, consequently, y,  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  are bounded. Since r(t) is uniformly bounded by assumption,  $\omega$  is bounded. To prove that  $\Omega_1, \dots, \Omega_m$  are bounded and, hence, u is also bounded,
we return to (1.57). The advantage of the structure of (1.57), resulting from the control parametrization, is that  $\Omega_m = \omega$  being bounded, implies that  $u_m = \Theta_m^T \Omega_m$  is bounded. Therefore  $\Omega_{m-1}^T = [\omega^T \ u_m]$  is bounded. Repeating this argument it is possible to show that  $u_{m-1}, \dots, u_2, u_1$  are all bounded. Therefore, all the signals in the closed-loop system are bounded. This also implies that  $\dot{z}, \dot{e}, \dot{\Theta}_i$  and consequently  $\ddot{V}$  are all uniformly bounded. Finally, the usual argument invoking Barbalat's Lemma proves that  $z(t), e(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

Thus, the result is a controller that assures that all the closed loop signals are uniformly bounded and the tracking error e(t) converges to zero.

#### 1.4.3 Generalized Passivity (WSPR)

The factorization approach leads to a more involved adaptive law as a result of the augmented parametrization. Moreover, it is dependent of the input-output pairing since this affects the signs of the leading principal minors of  $K_p$  and also the assumptions that they be nonzero.

In order to circumvent such limitations, possibly at the expense of a more restrictive assumption about the unknown HFG, a new method was developed based on a generalized passivity condition described by a modified positive real lemma which characterizes the so called WSPR systems. The advantage of the resulting adaptation algorithm is its simplicity. It does not involve augmented parametrization, is independent of the input/output pairing and leads to adaptive laws which are very close to the traditional ones.

From the Positive Real Lemma (1.17), one has that  $B^T P B = B^T C^T = CB$ . Thus, a LTI system (1.1) can only be SPR if  $(K_p = CB)$  is symmetric and positive definite (SPD). This condition is usually not satisfied by real systems. A more relaxed condition is the following. A solution to overcome this difficulty was recently proposed in [39, 44], exploiting the more general concept of passivity associated with the WSPR condition defined hereafter together with the condition of WASPR ("W Almost SPR") and some basic results related with such conditions , where the last can be obtained by multiplying the output error vector by a triangular matrix.

**Definition 14 (WSPR [39, 44])** A linear time-invariant system with state realization  $\{A_K, B, C\}$ , where  $A_K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ , and  $C \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  is said to be W-Strictly-Passive (WSP) and its transfer function  $C(sI - A_K)^{-1}B$  is said W-Strictly Positive Real (WSPR), if there exist symmetric and positive definite matrices P, Q, and W such that

$$A_K^T P + P A_K = -Q, \qquad (1.65)$$

$$PB = C^T W. (1.66)$$

It was noted in [44] that, unlike the SPR condition, the equations (1.65)-(1.66) no longer require the symmetry condition of CB but instead of W(CB), according to Lemma 1 As in [56],[30], if  $K_p$  does not satisfy the PDJ condition, we choose an adequate matrix multiplier L such that  $LK_p$  does satisfy such condition in a robust way using the above result.

**Definition 15 (WASPR [39, 40])** A linear time-invariant system with state realization  $\{A, B, C\}$ , is said to be WASPR if it can be made WSPR through a static output feedback, i.e., if there exists  $K \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$  such that  $C(sI - A_K)^{-1}B$  results WSPR, with  $A_K = A - BKC$ .

**Theorem 1 (WASPR Theorem [40])** Every strictly proper and minimum phase system  $\{A, B, C\}$ , with  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}, B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}, C \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  and  $m \times m$  transfer function  $C(sI - A)^{-1}B$ , can be made WSPR via (sufficiently large) output feedback, if and only if  $K_p$  has positive real eigenvalues and its Jordan form is diagonal.

The passifying multiplier L is chosen so that the modified system  $\{A_K, B_c K_P, LH_0\}$ satisfies the WASPR condition of Theorem 1. This allows us to deal with plants with non-symmetric HFG, requiring it only to satisfy the PDJ condition, which is robust and non fragile in opposition to symmetry requirements of conventional MRAC designs. One possible way to determine a passifying multiplier L is using the LDU factorization, as shown in [30]. To make this work more self-contained, this is discussed in Subsection 2.2.5.

#### 1.4.4 WSPR based MIMO MRAC

Consider the control given by (1.39) and the error equations (1.40) and (1.36) in CT. Assume that  $W_m(s)K_p$  is WSPR. Then, by definition, one has

$$A_c^T P + P A_c = -Q, (1.67)$$

$$PBK_p = H_o^T W. (1.68)$$

for some SPD matrix W. Now, as in [39], using the factorization  $W = S^T S$ ,  $S \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times M}$  non singular, it can be shown that the Lyapunov function (compare with the function utilized for the conventional adaptive law (1.43))

$$V = x_e^T P x_e + tr \left[ S \tilde{\theta}^T \Gamma^{-1} \tilde{\theta} S^T \right], \qquad (1.69)$$

where  $\Gamma$  is SPD. Let the adaptive law be chosen as

$$\dot{\theta}^T = -e\omega^T \Gamma \,. \tag{1.70}$$

Then, the derivative of V is given by

$$\dot{V} = -e^T Q e + 2e^T W \tilde{\theta}^T \omega - 2tr \left[ S e \omega^T \tilde{\theta} S^T \right], \qquad (1.71)$$

$$\dot{V} = -e^T Q e + 2e^T W \tilde{\theta}^T \omega - 2\omega^T \tilde{\theta} W e , \qquad (1.72)$$

and, since the last two terms cancel, we have

$$\dot{V} = -e^T Q e \,, \tag{1.73}$$

implying that the adaptation is globally stable and the tracking error e tends to zero asymptotically. It is important to notice that the matrix W is not used in the adaptive law. It is only used to prove the stability.

## 1.5 L1 Adaptive Control

A recently proposed control architecture has attracted notable attention in the past few years. The so-called L1 Adaptive Control (L1-AC), firstly published in [33]-[57] and later in the book [58], according to the authors, provides fast adaptation with guaranteed transient properties using high adaptation gain. The controller basically consists of a modified Model Reference Adaptive Control (MRAC) using an input filtered control, a state prediction loop and high-gain adaptation law with parameter projection.

The L1-AC has been applied to aerospace systems. In [59], flight tests in an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) showed robustness of the L1-AC. Robustness of the L1-AC was illustrate using the Rohrs counterexample as benchmark, where the conventional MRAC failed to maintain stability in the presence of unmodeled dynamics. Control of sattelites using the L1-AC is presented in [60], motivated by the use of high gain fast adaptation with quantifiable transient bounds. The interest in uniformly bounded transient lead to the the use a modified parametrization of L1-AC in [61], where the application is control of unmanned quadrotor aircrafts.

An overview of the application of L1-AC to aerospace systems, as well as a more extensive list of applications, is seen on [62]. Fundamental control characteristics of flying applications and discussion regarding what makes L1-AC suitable in this case is found in [63].

Other recent work can also be found on the literature reporting successful applications of the L1-AC. In [64] L1-AC is used to compensate hysteresis in piezoelectric actuators. Experimental results are presented showing good performance. In [65], the ability to provide guaranteed transient behavior motivated the extension of L1-AC to infinite-dimensional systems, where it is then applied to the design of adaptive observers and controllers.

The basic formulation of L1-AC is presented in this section. We revisit this technique in Chapter 4, where its drawbacks are discussed and a comparison with a newly presented controller is established.

#### **1.5.1 L1-AC Problem Formulation**

This subsection is based on [58].

Consider the class of systems

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + b(u(t) + \theta^T x(t)), \quad x(0) = x_0$$
(1.74)

$$y(t) = c^T x(t);$$
 (1.75)

where  $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the system state vector (measured); u(t) is the control signal;  $b, c \in \mathbb{R}^n$  are known constant vectors;  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a known  $n \times n$  matrix with (A, b) controllable;  $\theta$  is the unknown parameter, which belongs to a compact set and  $y(t) \in \mathbb{R}$  is the regulated output.

The authors in [58] present an adaptive control solution such that y(t) follows a given bounded and picewise-continuous reference signal r(t) with quantifable transient and steady-state performance bounds.

To that end, the following control structure is used

$$u(t) = u_m(t) + u_{ad}(t), \quad u_m(t) = -k_m^T x(t)$$
 (1.76)

where  $k_m$  renders  $A_m \triangleq A - bk_m^T$  Hurwitz, while  $u_{ad}(t)$  is an adaptive component soon to be defined. The partially closed-loop system is given by:

$$\dot{x}(t) = A_m x(t) + b(\theta^T x(t) + u_{ad}(t)), \quad x(0) = x_0$$
(1.77)

$$y = c^T x(t) \tag{1.78}$$

The following state-predictor is used

$$\dot{\hat{x}}(t) = A_m \hat{x}(t) + b(\hat{\theta}^T x(t) + u_{ad}(t)) \quad \hat{x}(0) = \hat{x}_0;$$
(1.79)

$$\hat{y} = c^T \hat{x}(t) \tag{1.80}$$

where  $\hat{x}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the state of the predictor and  $\hat{\theta}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the estimate of the parameter  $\theta$ , obtained by a projection based adaptive law

$$\dot{\hat{\theta}} = \gamma Proj(\hat{\theta}(t), -\tilde{x}^T(t)Pbx(t)), \quad \hat{\theta}(0) = \hat{\theta}_0 \in \Theta;$$
(1.81)

the prediction error is defined as  $\tilde{x}(t) \triangleq \hat{x}(t) - x(t), \gamma \in \mathbb{R}^+$  is the adaptation gain,  $P = P^T$  is the solution of Lyapunov equation  $A_m^T P + P A_m = -Q$  for arbitrary symmetric  $Q = Q^T > 0$ . The projection is confined to the set  $\Theta$ . The adaptive control signal in the frequency domain is

$$u_{ad}(s) = -C(s)(\hat{\eta}(s) - k_g r(s))$$
(1.82)

where r(s) and  $\hat{\eta}(s)$  are the Laplace transforms of r(t) and  $\hat{\eta}(t) = \hat{\theta}^T(t)x(t)$ , respectively. The input gain  $k_g \triangleq -1/(c^T A_m^{-1} b)$  is assumed known and C(s) is a stable filter. The L1-AC architecture is presented in the block diagram of Fig. 1.2.



Figure 1.2: L1-AC architecture

The L1-AC is defined by Eq. (1.76),(1.79)-(1.82). A  $\mathcal{L}_1$  condition on  $k_m$  and C(s) is required as follows:

$$\lambda \triangleq \|G(s)\|_1 L < 1 \tag{1.83}$$

with

$$G(s) \triangleq H(s)(1 - C(s)), \quad H(s) \triangleq (sI - A_m)^{-1}b, \quad L \triangleq \max_{\theta \in \Theta} \|\theta\|_1$$
(1.84)

The L1-AC considers a reference system defined by the nonadaptive version of the

adaptive control system in Eq. (1.75), (1.76), (1.82) as follows

$$\dot{x}_{ref}(t) = Ax_{ref}(t) + b(\theta^T x_{ref}(t) + u_{ref}(t)), \quad x_{ref}(0) = x_0,$$
(1.85)

$$u_{ref}(s) = -C(s)(\theta^T x_{ref}(s) - k_g r(s)) - k_m^T x_{ref}(s), \qquad (1.86)$$

$$y_{ref}(s) = c^T x_{ref}(s) \tag{1.87}$$

Note that the controller (1.86) attempts to compensate only for uncertainties within the bandwidth of C(s).

**Lemma 6** If  $||G(s)||_1 L < 1$ , then the system (1.86) is bounded-input-bounded-state (BIBS) stable with respect to r(t) and  $x_0$ 

(Proof: see [58])

The following expression to the prediction error dynamics is obtained from Eqs. (1.77) and (1.79)

$$\dot{\tilde{x}}(t) = A_m \tilde{x}(t) + b\tilde{\theta}^T(t)x(t), \quad \tilde{x}(0) = 0$$
(1.88)

with it is defined  $\tilde{\theta}(t) = \hat{\theta}(t) - \theta$ . Two lemmas are stated in [58] for the prediction error.

**Lemma 7** The prediction error in (1.88) is uniformly bounded:

$$\|\tilde{x}\|_{\infty} \le \sqrt{\frac{\theta_{max}}{\lambda_{min}(P)\Gamma}}, \quad \theta_{max} \triangleq 4 \max_{\theta \in \Theta} \|\theta\|^2$$
 (1.89)

where  $\lambda_{\min}(P)$  is the minimum eigenvalue of P

**Lemma 8** If  $u_{ad}(t)$  is defined according to (1.82) and the condition (1.83) holds, then we have the following asymptotic result:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \tilde{x}(t) = 0$$

These two lemmas ensure convergence and guaranteed transient properties on the prediction error. We note, however, that at this point no guarantees are yet given to the tracking error.

The following theorem L1-AC is stated as found in [58] and defines the system state properties related to the reference system of Eq. (1.86).

**Theorem 2 (L1-AC Theorem)** For the system in (1.75) and the controller defined via (1.76) and (1.79)-(1.82) subject to the  $\mathcal{L}_1$ -norm condition in (1.83), we

have

$$\|x_{ref} - x\|_{\infty} \le \frac{\gamma_1}{\sqrt{\Gamma}}, \qquad \|u_{ref} - u\|_{\infty} \le \frac{\gamma_2}{\sqrt{\Gamma}}$$
(1.90)

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|x_{ref} - x\| = 0, \qquad \lim_{t \to \infty} \|u_{ref} - u\| = 0, \qquad (1.91)$$

where

$$\gamma_1 \triangleq \frac{\|C(s)\|_1}{1 - \|G(s)\|_1 L} \sqrt{\frac{\theta_{max}}{\lambda_{min}(P)}},\tag{1.92}$$

$$\gamma_2 \triangleq \|H_1(s)\|_1 \sqrt{\frac{\theta_{max}}{\lambda_{min}(P)}} + \|C(s)\theta^T + k_m^T\|_1 \gamma_1$$
(1.93)

(Proof: see [58])

Theorem 2 implies that x(t) and u(t) can be made arbitrarily close to  $x_{ref}(t)$ and  $u_{ref}(t)$  by increasing the adaptive gain  $\Gamma$ . The control objective is then reduced to selecting  $k_m$  and C(s) to obtain a desired response in the reference system.

For stabilization purposes, the following remark of [58] should be highlighted

**Remark 1** Since C(0) = 1, application of Final Value Theorem to the closed-loop reference system in (1.86) in the case of constant  $r(t) \equiv r$  leads to

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} y_{ref}(t) = c^T H(0) C(0) k_g r = r$$

Which along Theorem 2 indicates that a guaranteed performance can be obtained for constant reference signals.

It should be also noted that the L1-AC algorithm we presented here deals with SISO systems with known input gain and state feedback. Different variations of the L1-AC are found in the literature, so as it is possible to deal with unknown input gain, output feedback, nonlinear systems, MIMO systems, among other classes of plants. Nevertheless, it is interesting to note that these different applications often require significant changes in the controller architecture. For a more complete reference on L1-AC, see [58].

Despite reports of successful applications, some recent work question the efficiency of the L1-AC such as [66] and [67]. Criticisms include the use of excessively high adaptation gains and the inability to track a time-varying reference. The drawbacks of L1-AC are further discussed in Chapter 4.

## **1.6** Objective and Contribution of the Work

The objective of this Thesis is to propose new MRAC designs that does not require stringent symmetry assumptions on the HFG and to obtain robust controllers with guaranteed transient properties.

We seek to relax the stringent gain symmetry conditions on the plant HFG without the need of overparametrization and for plants of arbitrary relative degree. We thus propose techniques that require the PDJ condition on the HFG, which is a less restrictive condition.

In Chapter 2, we propose a new MRAC algorithm based on the bilinear error formulation, which is similar to conventional techniques. Circumvention of the symmetry assumption is achieved by means of a new adaptation law, such that the new controller is simple. Also, it can be applied to plants with arbitrary relative degree.

Since pure gradient adaptive control suffers from lack of robustness and may present poor adaptation transient, this has motivated the proposal of an extension to the BMRAC (Binary Model Reference Adaptive Control) [32]. The BMRAC consists basically of the conventional MRAC modified by parameter projection combined with high adaptation gain. and its MIMO extension was recently proposed in [30]. The BMRAC tends to behave as a sliding mode controller as the adaptation gain is increased. However, such gain can be tuned up to a sufficient value while avoiding chattering. Even though this solution also requires only that  $K_p$  is PDJ, thus relaxing the symmetry condition, it was restricted to plants of uniform relative degree one.

In Chapter 3, we propose a further extension to MIMO BMRAC to encompass non-uniform arbitrary relative degree plants that achieves global exact tracking. The relative degree obstacle is circumvented by using a hybrid estimation scheme recently generalized to a multivariable framework [68]. Such estimator, named, Global Robust Exact Differentiator (GRED), switches between a standard MIMO lead filter and a nonlinear one which utilizes Robust Exact Differentiators (RED) [69] based on higher order sliding modes. The use of MIMO GRED renders the error system uniformly globally exponentially practically stable with respect to a small residual set with ultimate convergence to zero.

The reason why we only dealt with a more elementary architecture of L1-AC in the previous section is because we are interested on its main features: the high gain adaptation with projection, the use of a prediction loop and the control input filtering. These ingredients are present in other previously proposed techniques as the Binary MRAC (BMRAC) [70] and the Smooth Sliding Control (SSC) [71]. These controllers present robustness and good transient behavior,

The Smooth Sliding Control (SSC), proposed by Hsu in [71] as a solution to avoid chattering in sliding mode control (SMC) systems, also relies on input filtered control together with an output error prediction loop, similarly to the L1-AC. The high-gain naturally appears since the control signal is generated by an amplitude modulated relay function. The discontinuous control is filtered prior to being injected into the plant, providing a smooth control signal. Despite the similarity, however, an essential difference is apparent since the SSC explicitly employs a reference model - which L1-AC does not. It is then possible to track a time-varying reference with a small residual error with the SSC while such property is not guaranteed with the L1-AC.

The use of high gain projection adaptation laws was proposed by [70], under the designation of Binary-MRAC (BMRAC), as a method to improve adaptation transient and to achieve the good performance and robustness properties of a sliding mode controller (SMC), while avoiding chattering. it can be shown that the BMRAC tends to a sliding mode controller as the adaptation gain was increased. Therefore, it can be expected that the SMC can be replaced by a BMRAC loop.

In Chapter 4, we propose a new controller obtained by a combination of BMRAC and SSC that shares the main features of L1-AC. The new controller is shown to present desirable robustness and guaranteed transient characteristics and is able to overcome certain limitations found in the L1-AC.

Also, it is interesting to compare the eBMRAC performance to the regular BM-RAC. It is expected the eBMRAC to inherit robustness properties from the SSC architecture, such that it would be an advantage in comparison to the BMRAC. This controller is presented in its SISO version with preliminar results to MIMO extension.

## Chapter 2

# Bilinear Error Multivariable MRAC

## 2.1 Introduction

Inspired by recent results related to the WSPR concept, we revisit the "conventional" MIMO direct MRAC design [2, 21] and propose a new design. The significant advantage is that, while keeping similar structure and complexity as in the conventional design, the stability can be established without requiring the aforementioned symmetry conditions.

This chapter proposes a new multivariable MRAC design for plants with arbitrary (vector) relative degree, based on the PDJ condition. Both Continuous-Time and Discrete-Time cases are considered.

In order to extend the MIMO MRAC to plants which do not satisfy the PDJ condition, we proceed as explained in [44]. We choose an adequate matrix multiplier L such that  $LK_p$  does satisfy such condition in a robust way, i.e., the condition holds for an open set in the  $K_p$  space. Furthermore, we propose a modified adaptation law using right gain multipliers so that global stability and error convergence to zero can be proved for the MIMO MRAC. We show that, under certain circumstances, the symmetry requirements can be relaxed in the conventional design.

To this end, we first establish a fundamental lemma about the boundedness of the normalized estimation error, the estimated parameters, and their derivatives or variations. Such lemma leads to the complete stability and convergence proof of the closed-loop adaptive system, following a well established stability analysis [21, pp.405].

## 2.2 Bilinear MIMO MRAC Design using a stabilizing multiplier

Our new controller inherits the design approach based on a bilinear error formulation as in the conventional MIMO MRAC and its basic structure. Since the control signal is obtained through different update laws, we present the problem formulation as in the conventional case and thus propose a new update law. We use "conventional" to refer to MIMO MRAC techniques found in textbooks such as [2] and [21]. In this way, a direct comparison between both approaches is easily established, showing that the new controller is similar to the conventional one. However, with a important difference in the choice of new adaptation laws.

#### 2.2.1 Error Equations

The output error and input signal are given by (1.25) and (1.31) and repeated here for convenience

$$e = y - y_m; \quad u = \theta^T \omega \tag{2.1}$$

The control objective is to find a feedback control u(t) such that the output error tends asymptotically to zero for arbitrary initial conditions and uniformly bounded picewise continuous reference signals r(t).

For both the continuous and discrete-time cases, the error is thus obtained from (1.31), (1.25) and (1.37).

$$(y - y_m) = W_m(D)K_p\left[(\theta - \theta^*)^T\omega\right]$$
(2.2)

Without loss of generality, choose  $W_m(D) = \xi_m(D)^{-1}$  from Eq. (1.23):

$$\xi_m(D)(y - y_m) = K_p \left[ (\theta - \theta^*)^T \omega \right]$$
(2.3)

Let  $\delta_m$  denote the maximum degree of  $\xi_m(D)$ . Then, filtering both sides by  $h(D) = \frac{1}{f(D)}$  where f(D) is any stable polynomial (Hurwitz, in CT, or Schur, in DT) of degree  $\delta_m$ , we get

$$\xi_m(D)h(D)(y - y_m) = K_p \left[ h(D)[u] - {\theta^*}^T h(D)[\omega] \right]$$
(2.4)

And then define the normalized error, with  $\psi$  being the estimate of  $\psi^* = K_p$ 

$$\epsilon = \frac{\xi_m(D)h(D)[y-y_m] + \psi\xi}{1 + \beta(\zeta^T\zeta + \xi^T\xi)}$$
(2.5)

with the signals  $\xi(t)$  and  $\zeta(t)$  defined as

$$\xi(t) = \theta^T(t)\zeta(t) - h(D)[\theta^T\omega](t)$$
(2.6)

$$\zeta(t) = h(D)[\omega](t) \tag{2.7}$$

From (2.4), (2.5) and (2.6), defining  $\tilde{\psi} = \psi - \psi^*$  and  $\tilde{\theta} = \theta - \theta^*$  and noting that  $u = \theta^T \omega$ 

$$\epsilon = \frac{K_p \left[ h(D)[u](t) + \tilde{\theta}^T h(D)[\omega](t) - \theta^T h(D)[\omega](t) \right]}{1 + \beta(\zeta^T \zeta + \xi^T \xi)} + \frac{\psi(t)\theta^T(t)\zeta(t) - \psi(t)h(D)[u](t)}{1 + \beta(\zeta^T \zeta + \xi^T \xi)}$$
(2.8)

Finally, since  $\psi^* = K_p$  and from (2.6) and (2.7), we find the bilinear parametric error model [2].

$$\epsilon = \frac{\tilde{\psi}\xi + K_p\tilde{\theta}^T\zeta}{m^2} \tag{2.9}$$

where  $m^2$  is a normalizing signal defined as follows with  $\beta > 0$ .

$$m^{2} = 1 + \beta(\zeta^{T}\zeta + \xi^{T}\xi)$$
(2.10)

It is easy to conclude that such normalization implies that the estimation error  $\epsilon$  is bounded if the parameters are bounded, irrespectively of the signals  $\xi$  and  $\zeta$  provided they are  $L_e^{\infty}$ .

#### 2.2.2 Conventional Design

Using the previous error model, the conventional design [21] requires the knowledge of an  $M \times M$  matrix  $S_p$  such that  $K_p S_P = (K_p S_p)^T > 0$ , for the CT case, or  $2I > K_p S_P = (K_p S_p)^T > 0$ , in the DT case. Then, the CT parameter update laws are given by

$$\dot{\theta}^T(t) = -S_p \epsilon(t) \zeta^T(t) \tag{2.11}$$

$$\dot{\psi}(t) = -\Gamma\epsilon(t)\xi^T(t) \tag{2.12}$$

For the DT case we have:

$$\theta^T(t+1) = \theta^T(t) - S_p \epsilon(t) \zeta^T(t)$$
(2.13)

$$\psi(t+1) = \psi(t) - \Gamma \epsilon(t) \xi^T(t)$$
(2.14)

where  $\Gamma$  is an  $M \times M$  constant adaptation gain matrix such that  $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$  $(2\beta I > \Gamma$  for the DT case).

It is particularly important to note here that, in this scheme, the matrix  $S_p$  has to be known and is used in the adaption law. This is a specially restrictive condition if  $K_p$  is uncertain since symmetry is a nongeneric property and could be destroyed with an arbitrarily small modification of  $K_p$ , within the uncertainty domain.

Stability can be proven using the error model of Eq. (2.9) and the following Lyapunov-like function:

$$V(\tilde{\theta}(t),\tilde{\psi}(t)) = \frac{1}{2} tr[\tilde{\theta}(t)\Gamma_p^{-1}\tilde{\theta}^T(t)] + \frac{1}{2} tr[\tilde{\psi}^T(t)\Gamma^{-1}\tilde{\psi}(t)]$$
(2.15)

with  $\Gamma_p = S_p K_p^{-T}$ , and  $t \in [0, \infty)$  for the CT case and  $t \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, ...\}$  for the DT case.

#### 2.2.3 New Design

The new solution uses the following adaptation laws for the CT case. The multiplier  $\bar{L}$  is such that  $\bar{L}K_p$  is PDJ and is used to ensure stability properties for the closed loop system.

$$\dot{\theta}^T(t) = -\bar{L}\epsilon(t)\zeta^T(t)\Gamma_1 \tag{2.16}$$

$$\dot{\psi}(t) = -\epsilon(t)\xi^T(t)\Gamma_2 \tag{2.17}$$

and, for the DT case

$$\theta^T(t+1) = \theta^T(t) - \bar{L}\epsilon(t)\zeta^T(t)\Gamma_1$$
(2.18)

$$\psi(t+1) = \psi(t) - \epsilon(t)\xi^T(t)\Gamma_2$$
(2.19)

where  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  are arbitrary symmetric positive definite matrices. Note here that the gain matrices  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2$  are right multipliers (they weight the elements of the regressors vectors  $\zeta, \xi$ ), while in the conventional laws, are left multipliers (they weight the elements of the error vector  $\epsilon$ ). Moreover, note that in the new design, the gains  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2$  are arbitrary, while in the conventional case the gain  $S_p$  explicitly involves the symmetrization of  $S_p K_p$ .

#### 2.2.4 Stability Analysis

We wish to establish the following fundamental lemma.

**Lemma 9** Supposing that a matrix  $\overline{L}$  is known such that  $\overline{L}K_p$  is PDJ, the following stability properties can be established:

(i) The adaptive law (2.16), (2.17) ensures that  $\theta(t)$ ,  $\psi(t)$ ,  $\epsilon(t) \in L^{\infty}$ ,  $\dot{\theta}(t)$ ,  $\dot{\psi}(t)$ ,  $\epsilon(t)m(t) \in L^{\infty}$ , and

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} x^2(t) dt \le a_c \tag{2.20}$$

for some constant  $a_c > 0$ , any  $t_1, t_2 \ge 0$ ,  $x(t) = \|\dot{\theta}(t)\| + \|\epsilon(t)\|m(t)$ 

(ii) The adaptive law (2.18), (2.19) ensures that  $\theta(t)$ ,  $\psi(t)$ ,  $\epsilon(t)$ ,  $e(t)m(t) \in L^{\infty}$ , and

$$\sum_{t=t_1}^{t_2-1} x^2(t) \le a_d \tag{2.21}$$

for some constant  $a_d > 0$ , any  $t_1, t_2 \ge 0$ ,  $x(t) = \|\theta(t+1) - \theta(t)\| + \|\epsilon(t)\|m(t)$ .

If this lemma holds, the closed loop stability and tracking error asymptotic convergence can be proved following a well established analysis as found in the textbook by Tao [21, pp. 405].

#### Continuous-time

The proof of Lemma 9 for the CT case follows.

*Proof:* As in [39], we consider the following factorizations to propose a Lyapunov-like function candidate,  $W_1 = S_1^T S_1, S_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times M}$  nonsingular,  $W_2 = S_2^T S_2, S_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times M}$  nonsingular.

$$V(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\psi}) = \frac{1}{2} tr[S_1 \tilde{\theta}^T \Gamma_1^{-1} \tilde{\theta} S_1^T] + \frac{1}{2} tr[S_2 \bar{L} \tilde{\psi} \Gamma_2^{-1} \tilde{\psi}^T \bar{L}^T S_2^T]$$
(2.22)

whose time derivative is:

$$\dot{V} = tr[S_1\dot{\tilde{\theta}}^T\Gamma_1^{-1}\tilde{\theta}S_1^T] + tr[S_2\bar{L}\dot{\tilde{\psi}}\Gamma_2^{-1}\tilde{\psi}^T\bar{L}^TS_2^T]$$
(2.23)

Substituting (2.16) and (2.17) in (2.23), we have

$$\dot{V} = tr[-S_1\bar{L}\epsilon\zeta^T\tilde{\theta}S_1^T] + tr[-S_2\bar{L}\epsilon\xi^T\tilde{\psi}^T\bar{L}^TS_2^T]$$
(2.24)

Since  $tr(xy^T) = y^T x$ , it is possible to rewrite (2.24) as  $\dot{V} = -(\zeta^T \tilde{\theta} W_1 \bar{L} \epsilon + \xi^T \tilde{\psi}^T \bar{L}^T W_2 \bar{L} \epsilon)$  with  $W_1 = S_1^T S_1$  and  $W_2 = S_2^T S_2$  being SPD matrices. This can be rewritten as

$$\dot{V} = -(\zeta^T \tilde{\theta} W_1 + \xi^T \tilde{\psi}^T \bar{L}^T W_2) \bar{L}\epsilon = -\epsilon^T \bar{L}^T (W_1 \tilde{\theta}^T \zeta + W_2 \bar{L} \tilde{\psi} \xi)$$
(2.25)

Defining  $W_1 = W_2 \bar{L} K_p$  such that  $W_2^{-1} W_1 = \bar{L} K_p$ , one has  $\dot{V} = -\epsilon^T \bar{L}^T W_2 \bar{L} (K_p \tilde{\theta}^T \zeta + \delta_p V_2 \bar{L} (K_p \tilde{\theta}^T \zeta + \delta_p V_2 \bar{L} (K_p \tilde{\theta}^T \zeta + \delta_p V_2 \bar{L} V_2 \bar{L}$ 

 $\psi \xi$ ). Thus, it leads to

$$\dot{V} = -m^2 [\epsilon^T \bar{L}^T] W_2 \bar{L} \epsilon = -m^2 [\epsilon^T \bar{L}^T W_2 \bar{L} \epsilon] \le 0$$
(2.26)

Note that  $\bar{L}K_p$  must be anti-Hurwitz, since  $W_1 = W_2\bar{L}K_p$ , can be written as  $K_p^T\bar{L}^TW_2 + W_2\bar{L}K_p = 2W_1$  since  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are symmetric. We should emphasize that, even though symmetry is required for  $W_1$  and  $W_2$ , these matrices are just for the stability analysis and do not need to be known i.e. only their existence must be guaranteed. This holds if  $\bar{L}K_p$  is PDJ.

It is interesting to observe that de PDJ condition appears as a technicality in the stability proof and it is not associated to any property of the system. In the generalized passivity framework, where this condition was originally established, the PDJ condition is associated to a passivity property.

This result guarantees that  $\theta(t), \psi(t) \in L^{\infty}$ . Then, from 2.9, one concludes that  $\epsilon(t) \in L^{\infty}$ . Indeed, note that in (2.9) and (2.10) the denominator contains the squared norms  $\zeta$  and  $\xi$  while these signals appear linearly in the numerator. From the update laws (2.16) and (2.17), it follows that  $\dot{\theta}(t), \dot{\psi}(t), \epsilon(t)m(t) \in L^{\infty}$  due to the normalization ( $\zeta$  and  $\xi$  appear quadratically in the numerator and also in the denominator). Integrating both sides of (2.26) and from the uniform boundedness of V(t), one concludes that  $\|\epsilon m\| \in L^2$ . Noting that (2.16) can be rewritten as  $\dot{\tilde{\theta}}^T = -m\epsilon(\zeta^T/m)\Gamma_1$  and since  $\zeta^T/m \in L^{\infty}$  then  $\|\tilde{\tilde{\theta}}\| \in L^2$ .

The necessary condition for the existence of a SPD  $W_2$  such that  $W_1 = W_2 \bar{L} K_p$  is also SPD is that  $\bar{L} K_p$  must have real positive eigenvalues and diagonal Jordan form (PDJ) [44, Lemma 3]. This is indeed less restrictive than the symmetry requirement and, moreover, it is a non fragile and generic condition.

#### **Discrete-time**

*Proof:* We use the same Lyapunov-like candidate considered in the previous case

$$V(\tilde{\theta}(t), \tilde{\psi}(t)) = \frac{1}{2} tr[S_1 \tilde{\theta}^T \Gamma_1^{-1} \tilde{\theta} S_1^T] + \frac{1}{2} tr[S_2 \bar{L} \tilde{\psi} \Gamma_2^{-1} \tilde{\psi}^T \bar{L}^T S_2^T]$$
(2.27)

From (2.18) and (2.19), it follows that

$$\Delta V = V(\tilde{\theta}(t+1), \tilde{\psi}(t+1)) - V(\tilde{\theta}(t), \tilde{\psi}(t)) =$$

$$= -tr[S_1 \bar{L}\epsilon(t)\zeta^T(t)\tilde{\theta}(t)S_1^T] - tr[S_2 \bar{L}\epsilon(t)\xi^T(t)\tilde{\psi}^T(t)\bar{L}^T S_2^T] +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}tr[S_1 \bar{L}\epsilon(t)\zeta^T(t)\Gamma_1\zeta(t)\epsilon^T(t)\bar{L}^T S_1^T] +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}tr[S_2 \bar{L}\epsilon(t)\xi^T(t)\Gamma_2\xi(t)\epsilon^T(t)\bar{L}^T S_2^T]$$

$$(2.28)$$

Using the property  $tr(xy^T) = y^T x$ , it follows that

$$\Delta V = -\zeta^T \tilde{\theta} W_1 \bar{L}\epsilon + \frac{1}{2} (\zeta^T \Gamma_1 \zeta (\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_1 \bar{L}\epsilon) +$$

$$- (\xi^T \tilde{\psi}^T \bar{L}^T W_2) \bar{L}\epsilon + \frac{1}{2} ((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon\xi^T \Gamma_2\xi)$$

$$(2.29)$$

where, as in the previous case,  $W_1 = S_1^T S_1$  and  $W_2 = S_2^T S_2$  are SPD matrices. Defining  $W_1 = W_2 \bar{L} K_p$  and noting that  $W_1 = W_2 \bar{L} K_p = K_p^T \bar{L}^T W_2 = W_1^T$ , and from (2.9), one has that

$$\Delta V = -(\zeta^T \tilde{\theta} K_p^T \bar{L}^T - \xi^T \tilde{\psi}^T \bar{L}^T) W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} ((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_1 \bar{L}\epsilon) (\zeta^T \Gamma_1 \zeta) + \frac{1}{2} ((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon) (\xi^T \Gamma_2 \xi)$$
(2.30)

Note that  $\zeta^T \tilde{\theta} K_p^T - \xi^T \tilde{\psi}^T = \epsilon^T m^2$ , and since  $m^2 = 1 + \beta (\zeta^T \zeta + \xi^T \xi)$ , this leads to

$$\Delta V = -[1 + \beta(\zeta^T \zeta + \xi^T \xi)]((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon) +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_1 \bar{L}\epsilon)(\zeta^T \Gamma_1 \zeta) + \frac{1}{2}((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon)(\xi^T \Gamma_2 \xi)$$
(2.31)

Thus, the following inequality can be derived

$$\Delta V \leq -(\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon - \beta(\zeta^T \zeta)((\bar{L}\epsilon) W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon) - \beta(\xi^T \xi)((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon) + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1)\zeta^T \zeta((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_1 \bar{L}\epsilon) + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_2)\xi^T \xi((\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon)$$

which can be further developed to

$$\Delta V \leq -(\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon - \zeta^T \zeta \left[ \epsilon^T \bar{L}^T \left( \beta W_2 - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1) W_2 \bar{L}K_p \right) \bar{L}\epsilon \right] + \\ -\xi^T \xi \left[ \beta - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{max}(\Gamma_2) \right] \left[ (\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon \right]$$
(2.32)

Thus, to ensure that  $\Delta V \leq 0, \beta$  is chosen to satisfy the inequalities

$$\beta \ge \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_2) \tag{2.33}$$

$$\beta W_2 - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1)W_2\bar{L}K_p \ge 0 \tag{2.34}$$

It is important to note that  $W_2$  is only used for analysis purposes, which makes it desirable to obtain a condition on  $\beta$  that does not depend on  $W_2$ . A simpler expression is derived as follows.

Since  $W_2 \in W_2 \overline{L}K_p$  are symmetric, then  $(\beta W_2 - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1)W_2\overline{L}K_p)$  is also sym-

metric. Hence,

$$W_2\left(\beta I - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1)\bar{L}K_p\right) = \left(\beta I - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1)K_p^T\bar{L}^T\right)W_2 \qquad (2.35)$$

Thus, it follows that

$$W_{2}(\beta I - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_{1})\bar{L}K_{p}) = \frac{W_{2}}{2}(\beta I - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_{1})\bar{L}K_{p}) + (\beta I - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_{1})K_{p}^{T}\bar{L}^{T})\frac{W_{2}}{2}$$
(2.36)

The above equation has the form  $A^T W_2 + W_2 A = Q$  (with  $A = \beta I - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1) \overline{L} K_p$ ). Thus, if  $\lambda_i(A) > 0$ , then  $Q = Q^T > 0$ . Therefore, (2.34) holds if

$$\beta > \frac{\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1)\lambda_{max}(\bar{L}K_p)}{2} \tag{2.37}$$

Consequently, if the explicit inequality

$$\beta > \max\left(\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_2), \frac{\lambda_{max}(\Gamma_1)\lambda_{max}(\bar{L}K_p)}{2}\right)$$
(2.38)

is satisfied then  $\Delta V \leq -(\bar{L}\epsilon)^T W_2 \bar{L}\epsilon$ , as desired for stability. Finally, using similar arguments as for the CT case, the DT part of Lemma 9 also holds.

Table 2.1:	2.1: Comparison between conventional and new design	
Plant model	y(t) = G(D)[u](t)	
Reference Model	$y_m = W_m(D)$	
Error model	$\epsilon = \frac{\tilde{\psi}\xi + K_p \tilde{\theta}^T \zeta}{m^2}$	
Regressor Matrix	$\omega = [\omega_u^T \ \omega_y^T \ y^T \ r^T]^T$	
Filters	$\omega_u = A(D)\Lambda^{-1}(D)u$	
	$\omega_y = A(D)\Lambda^{-1}(D)y$	
Normalizing Signals	$\xi(t) = \theta^T(t)\zeta(t) - h(D)[\theta^T\omega](t)$	
	$\zeta(t) = h(D)[\omega](t)$	
	$m^2 = 1 + \beta(\zeta^T \zeta + \xi^T \xi)$	
	$\beta$ is arbitrary positive in CT and has to satisfy (2.38) in DT	
Control Law	$u = \theta^T \omega$	
	Conventional Design	New Design
Adaptation Law	$CT: \begin{cases} \dot{\theta}^{T}(t) = -S_{p}\epsilon(t)\zeta^{T}(t) \\ \dot{\psi}(t) = -\Gamma\epsilon(t)\xi^{T}(t) \\ \theta^{T}(t+1) = \theta^{T}(t) + \\ -S_{p}\epsilon(t)\zeta^{T}(t) \\ \psi(t+1) = \psi(t) + \end{cases}$	$CT: \begin{cases} \dot{\theta}^{T}(t) = -\bar{L}\epsilon(t)\zeta^{T}(t)\Gamma_{1} \\ \dot{\psi} = -\epsilon(t)\xi^{T}(t)\Gamma_{2} \end{cases}$ $DT: \begin{cases} \theta^{T}(t+1) = \theta^{T}(t) + \\ -\bar{L}\epsilon(t)\zeta(t)^{T}\Gamma_{1} \\ \psi(t+1) = \psi(t) + \\ -\epsilon(t)\xi(t)^{T}\Gamma_{2} \end{cases}$ $V(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\psi}) = \frac{1}{2}tr[S_{1}\tilde{\theta}^{T}\Gamma_{1}^{-1}\tilde{\theta}S_{1}^{T}] + 1$
Lyapunov Function	$\frac{\left(-\Gamma\epsilon(t)\xi^{T}(t)\right)}{V = tr[\tilde{\theta}\Gamma_{p}^{-1}\tilde{\theta}^{T}] + tr[\tilde{\psi}^{T}\Gamma^{-1}\tilde{\psi}]}$	$\begin{array}{c} \underbrace{-\epsilon(t)\xi(t)^{T}\Gamma_{2}} \\ V(\tilde{\theta},\tilde{\psi}) = \frac{1}{2}tr[S_{1}\tilde{\theta}^{T}\Gamma_{1}^{-1}\tilde{\theta}S_{1}^{T}] + \\ + \frac{1}{2}tr[S_{2}\bar{L}\tilde{\psi}\Gamma_{2}^{-1}\tilde{\psi}^{T}\bar{L}^{T}S_{2}^{T}] \end{array}$

Table 2.1: Comparison between conventional and new design

Remark 2 (Extension to the conventional design) The result of Lemma 1

can be applied to the conventional design assuming that  $\Gamma = \gamma I$  and  $S_p$  is such that  $S_p K_p$  is PDJ. In this case,  $S_p$  plays the role of the stabilizing multiplier  $\overline{L}$ .

#### 2.2.5 Determining the stabilizing multiplier L

Assuming that a nominal value of  $K_p$  is known and that all leading minors are nonzero, then the following factorization always exists

$$K_p = L_p D_p U_p \tag{2.39}$$

where  $L_p$  is unit lower triangular,  $D_p$  is diagonal and  $U_p$  is unit upper triangular. Choosing a diagonal matrix  $D_0$  with positive and distinct diagonal elements and with the matrices  $L_p$  and  $D_p$  of the *LDU* factorization of the nominal value of  $K_p$ , a lower triangular multiplier matrix  $\bar{L}$  can be obtained

$$\bar{L} = D_0 (L_p D_p)^{-1} \tag{2.40}$$

such that the matrix

$$\bar{K}_p = LK_p = D_0(L_pD_p)^{-1}(L_pD_p)U_p = D_0U_p$$
 (2.41)

is upper triangular with diagonal elements and eigenvalues positive real and distinct. Thus, from [44, Lemma 3] there exists a matrix W such that  $WLK_p$  is SPD.

## 2.3 Simulation Results

In this section, we present some simulation results to illustrate the theoretical developments.

## 2.3.1 Process control plant with nonuniform relative degree satisfying the PDJ condition

The first case we address is inspired on a stable chemical process model presented in [72, pp.701], which is made unstable in order to address a more challenging control problem. We consider an uncertain MIMO LTI plant with nonuniform vector relative degree ( $\rho_1 = 2, \rho_2 = 1$ ).

$$G(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{4}{s^2 + 4s + 3} & \frac{-2}{s^2 + 4s + 3} \\ \frac{-1}{s - 1} & \frac{1}{s - 1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.42)



Figure 2.1: Process control plant tracking performance: plant output y (—); and model output  $y_m$  (- -)

Note that  $K_p = \lim_{s \to \infty} \xi(s) G(s)$  is PDJ but not symmetric

$$K_p = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & -2 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.43)

We use the reference model:

$$W_m(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{s^2 + 2s + 1} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{s+2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.44)

with reference signals  $r_1 = 8\sin(t)$  and  $r_2 = 8\sin(1.2t)$ . We choose  $\beta = 0.1$ ; the matrix gains are  $\Gamma_1 = 0.25 \ diag\{0.5, 1, 5, 1, 0.5, 1, 1, 1\}, \ \Gamma_2 = 0.25 I_{2\times2}$ ; I/O state filters (1.29):  $\Lambda(s) = \frac{1}{s+10}$ ; (observability index)  $\nu = 2$ ;  $h(s) = \frac{1}{(s+2)^2}$ . The controller is designed assuming that there is no prior knowledge on the plant parameters, so that the estimated parameters initial conditions are set to zero. The remaining system initial conditions are also set to zero.

The tracking performance of the proposed controller can be seen in Fig. 2.1, and, as expected, the tracking errors converge to zero as shown in Fig. 2.2. As can be observed in Fig. 2.3, the control signal u(t) converges to  $u^*$ .

#### 2.3.2 Visual Servoing Application

Consider the problem of direct adaptive visual tracking for planar manipulators using a fixed camera (plant) with optical axis orthogonal to the robot workspace.



Figure 2.2: Process control plant: tracking errors



Figure 2.3: Process control plant: control signal u (—); and model matching signal  $u^{\ast}$  (- -)

The camera orientation is uncertain with respect to the robot workspace coordinates [44, 45]. The objective is to control the robot so that the image of its end-effector tracks a desired trajectory in the image plane. The objective is to control the robot



Figure 2.4: Camera-robot system representation

such that the image of the efectuator tracks the desired trajectory in the image plane.

The motivation to choose this example is that the HFG is essentially a rotation matrix which, except for the trivial cases, is neither non-symmetric nor PDJ since its eigenvalues are complex.

The associated cartesian control problem of the camera coordinate frame is described by:

$$\dot{x}_c = K_p u; \quad K_p = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\phi) & -\sin(\phi) \\ \sin(\phi) & \cos(\phi) \end{bmatrix}$$
 (2.45)

Where  $x_c \in \mathbb{R}^2$  represents the coordinates of the effectuator in the image plane,  $u \in \mathbb{R}^2$  is the cartesian control law. The HFG is the rotation matrix that represents the relationship between the image space and the robot workspace. Trajectory in the image plane is generated by the following reference model:

$$W_m(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{s+1} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{s+1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.46)

Considering the LDU decomposition of the nominal value of  $K_p$ 

$$K_p = \begin{bmatrix} c & -s \\ s & c \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ s/c & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & 1/c \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -s/c \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.47)$$

the stabilizing multiplier  $\overline{L}$  can be obtained as previously discussed, leading to

$$\bar{L} = D_0 \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ s/c & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & 1/c \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \kappa_1/c & 0 \\ -\kappa_1 s & \kappa_2 c \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.48)



Figure 2.5: Visual servoing plant tracking performance: plant output y (—); and model output  $y_m$  (- -) with stabilizing multiplier

where  $c = \cos(\phi)$  and  $s = \sin(\phi)$ . Defining  $D_0 = diag\{\kappa_1, \kappa_2\}$  and replacing in  $\overline{L} = D_0(L_p D_p)^{-1}$ , we can evaluate  $\overline{L}$  for some nominal value of  $\phi$  fixing  $\kappa_2 = 1$  and letting  $\kappa_1$  be a free parameter. For a given nominal value of  $\phi$ , denoted  $\phi_{nom}$ , and a given  $\kappa_1$ , the range of camera orientation that allows the PDJ condition to hold for  $LK_p$  can be determined numerically as presented in [44]. The reference signals are chosen as  $r_1 = r_2 = 20 sqw(0.2t)$ , where sqw(t) denotes the unit amplitude square wave. The matrix gains are  $\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_2 = 10I_{2\times 2}$  and we choose  $\beta = 1$ . Other design parameters are: I/O state filters (1.29):  $\Lambda(s) = \frac{10}{s+3}$  and (observability index)  $\nu = 1$ ;  $h(s) = \frac{1}{(s+1)}$ . The plant initial conditions are zero. The controller is designed assuming the nominal  $\phi_{nom} = 45^{\circ}$ . The multiplier  $\overline{L}$  is calculated according to Eq. (2.48) using  $\kappa_1 = 50$  and  $\kappa_2 = 1$ . The real angle is set to  $\phi = 75^{\circ}$ . The remaining system initial conditions are also set to zero.

The system tracking performance is significantly improved when the multiplier is used (see Fig. 2.7–2.6). With the stabilizing multiplier, the tracking errors converge to zero around t = 50s as can be seen in Fig. 2.5 and Fig. 2.6 whilst in the other case convergence is not observed even for longer simulations (t=5000s).

#### 2.3.3 Discrete-Time Plant

We consider a generic discrete-time second order plant with nonuniform relative degree. For the sake of simplicity, we firstly consider a plant with the same  $K_p$  as the process control plant, which is nonsymmetric and PDJ. Note that this plant is



Figure 2.6: Visual servoing plant with the stabilizing multiplier: tracking errors



Figure 2.7: Visual servoing plant without the stabilizing multiplier: tracking errors



Figure 2.8: Tracking errors for discrete-time plant with  $\beta < \beta_{min}$ 

unstable.

$$G(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{4}{(z+0.4)(z-0.2)} & \frac{-2}{(z+0.4)(z-0.2)} \\ \frac{-1}{z+1.2} & \frac{1}{z+1.2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.49)

The reference model is chosen as

$$W_m(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{(z+0.2)^2} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{z+0.4} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.50)

with reference signals  $r_1 = \sin(kT)$  and  $r_2 = \sin(3kT)$ . The matrix gains are set to  $\Gamma_1 = 2I_{8\times8}$ ,  $\Gamma_2 = 2I_{2\times2}$ ; I/O state filters (1.29):  $\Lambda(s) = \frac{1}{z+0.2}$ ; (observability index)  $\nu = 2$ ;  $h(s) = \frac{1}{(z+0.4)^2}$ . The plant initial conditions are  $x = [5 \ 5 \ 5]$ . The controller is designed assuming that there is no prior knowledge on the plant parameters, so that the estimated parameters initial conditions are set to zero. The remaining system initial conditions are also set to zero.

Unlike the CT case, the parameter  $\beta$  now plays an essential role and has to be consciously chosen. We refer to (2.38) to obtain a lower bound on  $\beta$ :

$$\beta > 4.733$$

The result obtained using  $\beta = 4$  is seen in Fig. 2.8, where it is possible to note an unstable behavior. It is interesting to note, however, that this estimate is a lower bound that guarantees stability, such that convergence is possibly achieved with values of  $\beta$  slightly below  $\beta_{min}$ .



Figure 2.9: Tracking errors for discrete-time plant with  $\beta=4.75$ 

With  $\beta = 4.75$ , convergence is obtained after a large transient oscillation, as shown in Fig. 2.9, indicating that  $\beta$  should be tuned up the minimum value.

The transient is fairly improved with  $\beta = 15$ , as shown in Fig. 2.10. Tracking performance is shown in Fig. 2.11, where it is possible to note a reasonable output tracking result.



Figure 2.10: Tracking errors for discrete-time plant with  $\beta=15$ 



Figure 2.11: Tracking performance for discrete-time plant with  $\beta = 15$ 

## Chapter 3

# Multivariable Binary-MRAC using Global Exact Differentiators (GRED-BMRAC)

### 3.1 Introduction

In this chapter we propose a robust controller with guaranteed transient performance for plants with arbitrary relative degree that does not require symmetry assumptions on the HFG.

This is achieved by means of a further extension to MIMO BMRAC to encompass non-uniform arbitrary relative degree plants that achieves global exact tracking by using a hybrid estimation scheme recently generalized to a multivariable framework [68]. Such estimator, named Global Robust Exact Differentiator (GRED), switches between a standard MIMO lead filter and a nonlinear one which utilizes Robust Exact Differentiators (RED) [69] based on higher order sliding modes. The use of MIMO GRED renders the error system uniformly globally exponentially practically stable with respect to a small residual set with ultimate convergence to zero.

The BMRAC (Binary Model Reference Adaptive Control) [32] is based on adaptation laws with projection. This allows the adaptive system to be tuned by increasing the adaptation gain, which makes BMRAC tend to behave as a sliding mode controller. However, such gain can be tuned up to a sufficiently large value while avoiding chattering. This allows us to obtain a better transient behavior and robustness in comparison to adaptive controllers based on gradient adaptation. This technique is also based on the PDJ condition on  $K_p$  instead of symmetry conditions. If  $K_p$  is not PDJ, we use a multiplier  $\overline{L}$  such that  $\overline{L}K_p$  is PDJ. Only Continuous-Time systems are considered in this case.

The formulation is the same as presented in Section 1.2 and we only deal with

CT systems. An important modification is the choice of the reference model, which is of the form

$$y_m = W_m(s) r; \qquad r, y_m \in \mathbb{R}^M$$
(3.1)

$$W_m(s) = diag\left\{(s+a)^{-1}, ..., (s+a)^{-1}\right\} L^{-1}(s)$$
(3.2)

where a > 0 and the poles are repeated. Also, L(s) is given by

$$L(s) = diag \{L_1(s), L_2(s), ..., L_M(s)\},$$
(3.3)

where  $L_i(s), i = 1, ..., M$  are Hurwitz polynomials given by

$$L_i(s) = s^{(\rho_i - 1)} + l_{\rho_i - 2}^{[i]} s^{(\rho_i - 2)} + \dots + l_1^{[i]} s + l_0^{[i]}$$
(3.4)

where  $\rho_i$  is the relative degree of output *i* and  $l_i > 0$ .

The choice of the reference model follows the idea of reducing an arbitrary relative degree problem to one with uniform relative degree one, which is achieved through differentiation of output signals.

The transfer matrix  $W_m(s)$  has the same vector relative degree as G(s) and its HFG is the identity matrix. If  $K_p$  is PDJ, it is also possible to conclude that the error system of Eq. (1.37) is WSPR since the model is a multiple of the identity matrix  $L(s)W_m(s) = \frac{1}{s+a}I$ . To consider more general reference models one could use the WASPR concept [39, 40], as in [30]<sup>1</sup>. However, if the PDJ condition is not satisfied on  $K_p$ , it is possible to use a stabilizing multiplier  $\overline{L}$  such that  $\overline{L}K_p$  is PDJ.

The modified tracking error is, in this case

$$e_L(t) = \bar{L}(y(t) - y_m(t))$$
 (3.5)

and can be described by the following model

$$\dot{x}_e = A_c x_e + B_c K_p \left[ u - u^* \right], \quad e_L = \bar{L} H_0 x_e$$
(3.6)

which can also be rewritten in input-output form as

$$e_L = W_m(s)\bar{L}K_p\left[u - u^*\right] \tag{3.7}$$

The BMRAC extension to MIMO systems is used as proposed in [30]. We adopt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The tracking of more general reference models could be obtained by simply preshaping the reference signal r through a precompensator at the input of the above model.

the following parametrization

$$\vartheta = vec(\theta) = \begin{bmatrix} \theta^{[1]} \\ \theta^{[2]} \\ \vdots \\ \theta^{[n]} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Omega = I_M \otimes \omega = \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ & \ddots \\ & & \omega \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.8)

with  $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}^{NM \times M}$ ,  $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}^{NM}$ , where N is the number of elements of the regressor vector  $\omega$ ,  $\theta^{[i]}$  is the i-th column of the parameter matrix  $\theta$  and  $\otimes$  is the Kronecker product. The BMRAC MIMO adaptation law is given by

$$\dot{\vartheta} = -\vartheta\sigma - \gamma\Omega e_L \tag{3.9}$$

with  $\sigma$  given by a projection

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| < M_{\vartheta} & \text{or } \sigma_{eq} < 0\\ \sigma_{eq}, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| \ge M_{\vartheta} & \text{and } \sigma_{eq} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

$$\sigma_{eq} = \frac{-\gamma \vartheta^T \Omega e_L}{\left\|\vartheta\right\|^2} \tag{3.11}$$

where  $M_{\vartheta} > \|\vartheta^*\|$ . The control law can be rewritten as

$$u(t) = \theta^T(t)\omega(t) = \Omega^T(t)\vartheta(t)$$
(3.12)

This approach is already established for plants with uniform relative degree [30]. An extension for arbitrary relative degree can be obtained using the derivatives of y such that a system with relative degree one is rendered.

To provide some insight in this idea, we consider the following plant

$$y = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{(s+1)(s+2)} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{s+3} \end{bmatrix} u$$

which has a nonuniform relative degree ( $\rho_1 = 2, \rho_2 = 1$ ). The underlying idea of the GRED-BMRAC is to generate a system with uniform relative degree one through output derivatives, such that a following modified output is obtained. In this illustrative example, we would have

$$\xi_y = \begin{bmatrix} s+1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{(s+1)(s+2)} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{s+3} \end{bmatrix} u$$
(3.13)

Which is equivalent to

$$\xi_y = L(s)y = \dot{y} + y$$

Instead of using the tracking error  $e = y - y_m$ , we use a modified error of relative degree one

$$\bar{e} = \xi_y - \xi_m \tag{3.14}$$

Thus, to overcome the relative degree restriction, we employ the operator defined in Eq. (3.4) such that  $L(s)\overline{G}(s)$  and  $L(s)W_m(s)$  have uniform vector relative degree one. Note that since  $W_m(s)$  is chosen by design,  $\xi_m$  is easily generated without the need of calculating derivatives.

However, we still have to address the problem of obtaining  $\xi_y$  since it is not directly available as the operator of Eq. (3.13) is not implementable. To solve this problem, we use a global robust exact differentiator (GRED) that switches between a lead filter and a nonlinear estimator. The GRED provides exact derivatives, such that a modified system of relative degree one is then rendered and BMRAC can be applied.

## 3.2 BMRAC using a MIMO lead filter

The BMRAC proposed in [30] achieves global exact tracking if the considered plant has uniform relative degree one.

To overcome the relative degree restriction, we employ the operator defined in Eq. (3.4) such that L(s)G(s) and  $L(s)W_m(s)$  have uniform vector relative degree one. To this end we define the following modified output

$$\xi_{y} = L(s)y = \begin{bmatrix} y_{1}^{(\rho_{1}-1)} + \dots + l_{1}^{[1]}\dot{y}_{1} + l_{0}^{[1]} y_{1} \\ \vdots \\ y_{M}^{(\rho_{M}-1)} + \dots + l_{1}^{[M]}\dot{y}_{M} + l_{0}^{[M]}y_{M} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{j=0}^{\rho_{1}-1} l_{j}^{[1]}h_{1}^{T}A_{c}^{(j)}X \\ \vdots \\ \sum_{j=0}^{\rho_{M}-1} l_{j}^{[M]}h_{M}^{T}A_{c}^{(j)}X \end{bmatrix} = \bar{H}X$$
(3.15)

where  $h_i^T \in \mathbb{R}^{n+2M(\nu-1)}$  is the *i*-th ' of matrix  $H_o$  and the second equality is derived from Assumption (A4) and (3.6). We create a modified WSPR error of relative degree one:

$$\bar{e}_L = \bar{L}(\xi_y - \xi_m); \quad \xi_m = L(s)y_m;$$
 (3.16)

$$\dot{x}_e = A_c x_e + B_c K_p \left[ u - u^* \right], \quad \bar{e}_L = \bar{L} H_0 x_e$$
(3.17)

which can also be rewritten in input-output form as follows, since  $W_m(s)$  commutes with  $\bar{L}$ 

$$\bar{e}_L = W_m(s)\bar{L}K_p\left[u - u^*\right] \tag{3.18}$$

Note that  $\xi_m$  is directly available for implementation while the signal  $\xi_y$  needed to overcome the relative degree obstacle is not A possible way to solve this problem is to estimate  $\xi_y$  by means of a lead filter.

$$\hat{\xi}_l = L_a(s)\xi_y, \ L_a(s) = L(s)F^{-1}(\tau s)$$
(3.19)

where  $F(\tau s) = \text{diag}\{(\tau s+1)^{\rho_1-1}, \ldots, (\tau s+1)^{\rho_m-1}\}$ . One can note that as  $\tau > 0$  tends to zero,  $\hat{\xi}_l$  approximates  $\xi_y$ . The error signal that will drive adaptation is an estimate of  $\bar{e}_L(t)$ :

$$\hat{\bar{e}}_L = \bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_l - \xi_m) \tag{3.20}$$

Defining the lead filter estimation error as the difference between the estimate of  $\xi_y$  obtained by the lead filter and its actual value

$$\varepsilon_l = \hat{\xi}_l - \xi_y \tag{3.21}$$

its dynamics can be described by:

$$\dot{x}_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\tau} A_{\varepsilon} x_{\varepsilon} + B_{\varepsilon} \dot{\xi}_{y}, \quad \varepsilon_{l} = H_{\varepsilon} x_{\varepsilon} , \qquad (3.22)$$

where  $\dot{\xi}_y = \bar{H}A_cX + \bar{H}B_cK_p\tilde{\vartheta}^T\Omega + \bar{H}B_cr$  (see (1.34) and (3.15)),  $A_{\varepsilon} = \text{block diag} \{A_{\varepsilon}^{[1]}, \dots, A_{\varepsilon}^{[M]}\}, B_{\varepsilon} = \text{block diag} \{B_{\varepsilon}^{[1]}, \dots, B_{\varepsilon}^{[M]}\}, H_{\varepsilon} = \text{block diag} \{H_{\varepsilon}^{[1]}, \dots, H_{\varepsilon}^{[M]}\}, \text{ with} A_{\varepsilon}^{[i]} \in \mathbb{R}^{\rho_i - 1 \times \rho_i - 1}, B_{\varepsilon}^{[i]} \in \mathbb{R}^{\rho_i - 1 \times 1}, H_{\varepsilon}^{[i]} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times \rho_i - 1},$ 

$$\begin{split} A_{\varepsilon}^{[i]} &= \begin{bmatrix} -a_{\rho_i-2}^{[i]} & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -a_{\rho_i-3}^{[i]} & 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -a_1^{[i]} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -a_0^{[i]} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, B_{\varepsilon}^{[i]} = \begin{bmatrix} -b_{\rho_i-2}^{[i]} \\ -b_{\rho_i-3}^{[i]} \\ \vdots \\ -b_1^{[i]} \\ -b_0^{[i]} \end{bmatrix}, \\ H_{\varepsilon}^{[i]} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ H_{\varepsilon}^{[i]} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ a_j^{[i]} &= C_{\rho_i-1-j}^{\rho_i-1}, \quad b_j^{[i]} = C_{j+1}^{\rho_i-1} \ C_l^n = n! / (k!(n-k)!) \end{split}$$

In the stability analysis of the closed-loop error system, with state  $z^T = [x_e^T x_{\varepsilon}^T]$ , we will consider the presence of a uniformly bounded output disturbance  $\beta_{\alpha}(t)$  of order  $\tau$ . Taking into account the presence of  $\beta_{\alpha}(t)$ , the lead estimation error can be represented as the :

$$\varepsilon_l = \hat{\xi}_l - \xi_y + \beta_\alpha(t) \tag{3.23}$$

where by design  $\beta_{\alpha}(t) \leq \varepsilon_M$  with  $\varepsilon_M = \tau K_R$ 

Using the MIMO lead filter the adaptation law is given by

$$\dot{\vartheta} = -\vartheta\sigma - \gamma\Omega(\hat{\bar{e}}_L + \beta_\alpha) \tag{3.24}$$

with  $\sigma$  given by a projection

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| < M_{\vartheta} & \text{or } \sigma_{eq} < 0\\ \sigma_{eq}, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| \ge M_{\vartheta} & \text{and } \sigma_{eq} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.25)

$$\sigma_{eq} = \frac{-\gamma \vartheta^T \Omega(\hat{\bar{e}}_L + \beta_\alpha)}{\|\vartheta\|^2}$$
(3.26)

where  $M_{\vartheta} > \|\vartheta^*\|$ . At this point, the following Theorem can be stated.

**Theorem 3** Consider the plant (1.21) and the reference model (3.1)–(3.3) with control signal (3.12) and adaptation law (3.24)–(3.26). Suppose that assumptions (A1) to (A5) hold. If the disturbance  $\beta_{\alpha}(t)$  is uniformly bounded by  $\|\beta_{\alpha}(t)\| \leq \tau K_R$ , where  $K_R > 0$  is a constant, then for sufficiently small  $\tau > 0$  and sufficiently large  $\gamma > 0$ , the closed-loop error system (3.6), (3.12), (3.15), (3.22), (3.24)–(3.26) with state  $z^T = [x_e^T x_{\varepsilon}^T]$ , is uniformly globally exponentially practically stable (GEpS) with respect to a residual set, i.e., there exist constants  $c_z, a > 0$  such that  $\|z(t)\| \leq c_z e^{-a(t-t_0)} \|z(t_0)\| + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\tau}) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{1/\gamma})$  holds  $\forall z(t_0), \forall t \geq t_0 > 0$ . (Proof: see Appendix B.1)

**Corollary 1** For all R > 0, there exists  $\tau > 0$  sufficiently small and  $\gamma$  sufficiently large such that for some finite time T, the error state z(t) is steered to an invariant compact set  $D_R := \{z : ||z|| \le R\}$ .

**Corollary 2** Signals  $y_j^{(i)}(t), i = 0, ..., \rho_j, j = 1, ..., M$  are uniformly bounded, i.e.,  $\exists K_i^{[j]} > 0$  such that  $|y_j^{(i)}(t)| \leq K_i^{[j]}, \forall t \geq t_0 \geq 0, i = 0, ..., \rho_j, j = 1, ..., M$ . Moreover, if  $||x_e(t)|| \leq R, \forall t > T$ , then,  $\exists C_{\rho_j}^{[j]} > 0$  such that  $||y_{j_{[T,t]}}^{(\rho_j)}||_{\infty} \leq C_{\rho_j}^{[j]}, j = 1, ..., M$ . (Proof: see Appendix B.2)

### **3.3 MIMO Robust Exact Differentiators**

A possible extension of the RED to MIMO systems could be obtained using an RED of appropriate order in each output. The order of differentiators in each output is chosen so as to to obtain outputs or relative degree one.

The idea is to use a RED of order  $p_j = \rho_j - 1$  for each output  $y_j \in \mathbb{R}, j = 1, \ldots, M$ .

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\zeta}_{0}^{[j]} = v_{0}^{[j]}, \ v_{0}^{[j]} = -\lambda_{0}^{[j]} \left| \zeta_{0}^{[j]} - y_{j}(t) \right|^{\frac{p_{j}}{p_{j}+1}} \operatorname{sgn}(\zeta_{0}^{j} - y_{j}(t)) + \zeta_{1}^{[j]} \\ \dot{\zeta}_{1}^{[j]} = v_{1}^{[j]}, \\ v_{1}^{[j]} = -\lambda_{1} \left| \zeta_{1}^{[j]} - v_{0}^{[j]} \right|^{(n-1)/n} \operatorname{sign}(\zeta_{1}^{[j]} - v_{0}^{[j]}) + \zeta_{2}^{[j]} \\ \vdots \\ \dot{\zeta}_{i}^{[j]} = v_{i}^{[j]}, \\ v_{i}^{[j]} = -\lambda_{i}^{[j]} C_{\rho_{j}}^{[j]\frac{1}{p_{j}-i+1}} \left| \zeta_{i}^{[j]} - v_{i-1}^{[j]} \right|^{\frac{p_{j}-i}{p_{j}-i+1}} = \operatorname{sgn}(\zeta_{i}^{[j]} - v_{i-1}^{[j]}) + \zeta_{i+1}^{[j]}, \\ \vdots \\ \dot{\zeta}_{p_{j}}^{[j]} = -\lambda_{p_{j}}^{[j]} C_{\rho_{j}}^{[j]} \operatorname{sgn}(\zeta_{p_{j}}^{[j]} - v_{p_{j}}^{[j]}), \end{cases}$$

$$(3.27)$$

where  $i = 0, \ldots, p_j - 1, v_{-1}^{[j]} = y_j(t), C_{\rho_j}^{[j]}$  is a known constant such that  $|y_j^{(\rho_j)}(t)| \leq C_{\rho_j}^{[j]}, \forall t$ . If the parameters  $\lambda_i^{[j]}$  are properly recursively chosen then the equalities

$$\zeta_0^{[j]} = y_j(t); \ \zeta_i^{[j]} = y_j^{(i)}(t), \quad j = 1, \dots, M; \quad i = 1, \dots, p_j$$

are established in finite time [69].

Under the foregoing conditions, the above differentiator can provide the exact  $y_j(t)$  derivatives. According to [69], the RED's performance is asymptotically optimal in the presence of small Lebesgue-measurable input noise. Moreover, it is important to stress that the variables of each individual RED (3.27) cannot escape in finite time. This result is formalized in the following Lemma.

**Lemma 10** Consider system (3.27), with state  $\zeta^{[j]} = [\zeta_0^{[j]} \dots \zeta_{p_j}^{[j]}]^T$ . If  $|y_j^{(i)}(t)| \leq K_i^{[j]}$ ,  $i = 0, \dots, \rho_j$ ,  $\forall t$  (finite), for some positive constants  $K_i^{[j]}$ ,  $i = 0, \dots, \rho_j$ , then  $\zeta^{[j]}(t)$  cannot diverge in finite time. (Proof: see [68])

Thus, using a MIMO RED, composed by M REDs of order  $\rho_j - 1$  for each output  $y_j$ , the following estimate for  $\xi_y$  can be obtained:

$$\hat{\xi}_{r} = \begin{bmatrix} \zeta_{\rho_{1}-1}^{[1]} + \dots + l_{1}^{[1]}\zeta_{1}^{[1]} + l_{0}^{[1]}\zeta_{0}^{[1]} \\ \vdots \\ \zeta_{\rho_{M}-1}^{[M]} + \dots + l_{1}^{[M]}\zeta_{1}^{[M]} + l_{0}^{[M]}\zeta_{0}^{[M]} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.28)

Then, the derivatives of y could be used as in  $\xi_y = L(s)y$ . However, only local convergence of the error state to zero could be guaranteed, since the signals  $y_j^{(\rho_j)}(t)$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, M$  should be uniformly bounded.

Using the MIMO RED the adaptation law is given by

$$\dot{\vartheta} = -\vartheta\sigma - \gamma\Omega\bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_r - \xi_m) \tag{3.29}$$

with  $\sigma$  given by a projection

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| < M_{\vartheta} & \text{or } \sigma_{eq} < 0\\ \sigma_{eq}, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| \ge M_{\vartheta} & \text{and } \sigma_{eq} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.30)

$$\sigma_{eq} = \frac{-\gamma \vartheta^T \Omega \bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_r - \xi_m)}{\|\vartheta\|^2}$$
(3.31)

where  $M_{\vartheta} > \|\vartheta^*\|$ .

It is important to note that the control input (3.12) with adaptation law (3.29)–(3.31) guarantees only local/semi-global stability properties, since the RED requires that  $y^{(\rho_i)}$  should be uniformly bounded to provide exact derivatives.

## **3.4** Global RED based BMRAC

The Global RED is a hybrid compensator which consists of a (time-varying) convex combination of a lead filter estimate (3.19) and a RED estimate (3.28) according to:

$$\hat{\xi}_g = \alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl}) \ \hat{\xi}_l + [1 - \alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl})] \ \hat{\xi}_r , \qquad (3.32)$$

where  $\tilde{\nu}_{rl} = \hat{\xi}_r - \hat{\xi}_l$  is the difference between both estimates. The switching function  $\alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl})$  is a continuous, state dependent modulation which assumes values in the interval [0, 1] and allows the controller to smoothly change from one estimator to the other.

Specifically,  $\alpha(\cdot)$  is designed such that  $\left\|\hat{\xi}_g - \hat{\xi}_l\right\| \leq \tau K_R$ :

$$\alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl}) \begin{cases} 0, & \|\tilde{\nu}_{rl}\| < \varepsilon_M - \Delta \\ (\|\tilde{\nu}_{rl}\| - \varepsilon_M + \Delta) / \Delta, & \varepsilon_M - \Delta \le \|\tilde{\nu}_{rl}\| < \varepsilon_M \\ 1, & \|\tilde{\nu}_{rl}\| \ge \varepsilon_M \end{cases}$$
(3.33)

where  $0 < \Delta < \varepsilon_M$  is a boundary layer used to smoothen the switching function, and  $\varepsilon_M := \tau K_R$  with  $K_R$  being an appropriate positive design parameter, that is selected such that  $\varepsilon_M - \Delta > \overline{\varepsilon}_l$ . This implies that after some finite time only the MIMO RED is active ( $\alpha = 0$ ), providing exact estimation of the output derivatives  $\xi_y$ , as desired. Some insight on how to tune MIMO GRED parameters is given below (for further refereence, see [68]).

**Remark 3** The parameter  $\varepsilon_M$  should be small enough in order to guarantee that

the MIMO RED is used only when it provides a satisfactory derivative estimate, otherwise a poor transient tracking performance could result. On the other hand if  $\varepsilon_M$  is not large enough, then the switching scheme could not ultimately select the MIMO RED, thus degrading the steady state tracking performance. The parameter  $\Delta$  is only used to smoothly switch between the MIMO RED and the MIMO lead filter. As well as the boundary layer method, it may be advantageous in practice in order to reduce noise sensitivity.

In order to guarantee global exponential stability with respect to a small residual set and to achieve global convergence of the error state to zero, we show that the BMRAC using a MIMO lead filter presented in Section 3.2 can be combined with the MIMO RED (Section 3.3).

It should be noted that global stability to an invariant compact set  $D_R$  is guaranteed independently of switching between both estimators since it is possible to show that the resulting system is equivalent to a BMRAC using a MIMO lead filter with a uniformly bounded output disturbance of order  $\tau$ . Thus, global practical stability and convergence to the compact set  $D_R$  are guaranteed, according to Theorem 3. The switching function is properly chosen to ensure that after some finite time only the estimate provided by the MIMO RED is used.

Using the GRED to estimate  $\xi_y$  the adaptive law is

$$\dot{\vartheta} = -\vartheta\sigma - \gamma\Omega\bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_g - \xi_m) \tag{3.34}$$

with  $\sigma$  given by a projection

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| < M_{\vartheta} & \text{or } \sigma_{eq} < 0\\ \sigma_{eq}, & \text{if } \|\vartheta\| \ge M_{\vartheta} & \text{and } \sigma_{eq} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.35)

$$\sigma_{eq} = \frac{-\gamma \vartheta^T \Omega \bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_g - \xi_m)}{\|\vartheta\|^2}$$
(3.36)

where  $M_{\vartheta} > \|\vartheta^*\|$ . The stability and convergence results of the proposed control scheme are stated in the following theorem. A block diagram of such scheme is shown in Fig. 3.1.

**Theorem 4** Consider the plant (1.21) and the reference model (3.1)–(3.3) with control law given by (3.12) and adaptation law (3.34)–(3.36). The switching function  $\alpha(\cdot)$  is defined in (3.33). Suppose that assumptions (A1) to (A5) hold. with  $\vartheta(0) \leq =$  $M_{\vartheta}$  and for sufficiently small  $\tau > 0$  and sufficiently large  $\gamma > 0$ , the closed-loop error system described by (3.12), (3.6), (3.15), (3.22), (3.34)–(3.36) is uniformly globally exponentially practically stable (GEpS) with respect to a residual set and the MIMO



Figure 3.1: Block diagram of GRED-BMRAC

RED estimation and all closed-loop signals are uniformly bounded. Moreover, for  $\lambda_i^{[j]}$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, M$ ,  $i = 0, \ldots, \rho_j - 1$ , and  $K_R$  properly chosen, the estimation of the output derivatives  $\xi_y$  becomes exact, being made exclusively by the RED ( $\alpha(\cdot) = 0$ ) after some finite time. Then, the closed-loop error state  $z^T = [x_e^T \ x_e^T]$ , and hence the output tracking error e, converge exponentially to zero. (Proof: see Appendix B.3)

## 3.5 Simulation Results

Consider a MIMO LTI actuator/process similar to the example used in [51] described by

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}; B = \begin{bmatrix} 10 & 20 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & -0.5 & 0 & -0.5 \\ 0 & 0 & 16 & 80 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$H = I$$

which has transfer matrix  $G_0(s)$ . The plant is composed by this actuator/process and a sensor with transfer matrix given by  $G_s(s) = diag\{1/(s+1), 1/(s+1), 1, 1\}$ . The resulting transfer matrix  $G(s) = G_s(s)G_0(s)$  from u to y has the following vector relative degree  $(\rho_1 = 2, \rho_2 = 2, \rho_3 = 1, \rho_4 = 1)$ . The model is chosen as  $W_m(s) = diag\{1/(s+1), 1/(s+1), 1/(s+1), 1/(s+1)\}$ . For simplicity, we have chosen  $K_p = B$  to be PDJ. Then, with  $L(s) = diag\{(s+1), (s+1), 1, 1\}$ , the corresponding transfer matrix  $L(s)W_m(s)K_P$  can be shown to be WSPR. When this is not the case, a passivating multiplier can be used based on some nominal  $K_p$  [40]. According


Figure 3.2: Tracking errors obtained with BMRAC using only the RED to compensate relative degree

to the proof of the WASPR Theorem of [39], it is easy to conclude that a WSPR system will remain WSPR with any output feedback with static gain -k, where k is a positive scalar. It was verified that one could improve the convergence speed of the tracking error by tuning up the scalar k.

The reference input signal  $r(t) \in \mathbb{R}^4$  was chosen as biased square waves f(t/T) = sqw(2t/T) + 1 with different periods  $T, r^T = 0.5[f(t/6); 2f(t/2); 3f(t/4); 3f(t/0.3)]$ . The only prior knowledge needed for the control design is  $M_{\vartheta} = 15$  (see (3.36)) and observability index  $\nu = 2$ . The adaptation gain is  $\gamma = 10$ . Other design parameters are: Lead filter (3.19):  $\tau = 0.01s$ ; MIMO RED (3.27)-(3.28):  $\lambda_0^{[1]} = 1.5C_2^{[1]^{1/2}}, \lambda_1^{[1]} = 1.1C_2^{[1]}$  and  $C_2^{[1]} = 10$ ; switching function (3.33):  $\varepsilon_M = 0.5$  and  $\Delta = 0.2$ . The plant initial conditions are  $y(0) = [1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1]$ . The remaining system initial conditions are set to zero.

Using only the RED, the system shows unstable behavior, as seen in Fig. 3.2. When only the lead filter is used, large error persists as shown in Fig. 3.3. When the hybrid differentiator is employed, zero tracking errors are achieved within numerical integration errors, as seen in Fig. 3.4. Tracking performance is shown in Fig. 3.5. Control chattering was also avoided as shown in Fig. 3.6. Finally, in Fig. 3.7 one can note that the differentiation is firstly done by the lead filters and it switches permanently to the MIMO RED in finite time. It should be noted that under the same conditions, the system is unstable if only the MIMO RED is used.

## 3.5.1 Comparison with Bilinear MRAC

Revisiting the example of the process control plant in Subsection 2.3.1, it is possible to illustrate the advantages of the Binary-MRAC.

In this example, the references are square waves  $r(t) = [5sqw(t/3) \quad 5sqw(t)]$ . The performance obtained with the Blinear MRAC in Chapter 2 is shown on Fig. 3.8–3.9 where it is possible to note a slow convergence of the tracking error.



Figure 3.3: Tracking errors obtained with BMRAC using only the lead filter to compensate relative degree



Figure 3.4: Tracking errors obtained with the hybrid scheme (GRED-BMRAC)



Figure 3.5: Tracking performance obtained with the hybrid scheme (GRED-BMRAC)



Figure 3.6: Control signal of the hybrid scheme (GRED-BMRAC)



Figure 3.7: Switching function of the hybrid scheme (GRED-BMRAC)



Figure 3.8: Bilinear MRAC tracking performance: plant output y (—); and model output  $y_m$  (- -)

Due to the guaranteed transient property of BMRAC, this performance is fairly improved when using GRED-BMRAC. The result is seen in Fig. 3.10–3.11.



Figure 3.9: Window of Fig. 3.8. Bilinear MRAC tracking performance: plant output y (—); and model output  $y_m$  (- -)



Figure 3.10: GRED-BMRAC tracking performance: plant output y (—); and model output  $y_m$  (- -)



Figure 3.11: GRED-BMRAC tracking performance: plant output y (—); and model output  $y_m$  (- -)

# Chapter 4

# **Extended Binary-MRAC**

## 4.1 Introduction

The use of high gain adaptation laws with projection, as discussed in the previous chapter, improves robustness of adaptive controllers by ensuring parameter boundedness. We showed that the Binary-MRAC also has the desirable property of guaranteed transient, that is, tracking errors converge exponentially to a residual set with ultimate convergence to zero. The BMRAC tends to a variable structure controller as the gain tends to infinity, but the control signal is still smooth and free of chattering in the absence of unmodeled dynamics that would destroy the relaive degree one assumption.

Since we are interested in robust controllers, a technique worth of attention is the Smooth Sliding Control, proposed in [71]. It consists of a Variable Structure control with MRAC parametrization with input filtered control and the use of a prediction loop. The result is a controller that is robust to unmodeled dynamics and time-delays and shows good transient performance. Also, due to the filtering and prediction loop features, it generates a control signal that is also free of chattering.

The BMRAC and the SSC present interesting characteristics, which can be combined to generate a new controller. In this Chapter we combine the use of high gain adaptation with projection with input filtering and prediction loop. This leads to a new controller that has interesting robustness and transient properties. We call this new architecture the Extended BMRAC (eBMRAC).

The main features of the resulting combination can be also found in the recently proposed L1 Adaptive Control (L1-AC) [58]. Since this controller was widely discussed in the past few years, we dedicate a section to compare both techniques. The L1-AC is known to present some limitations in tracking time varying references, despite its robustness and performance for stabilization purposes.

We discuss this new technique mainly in the SISO framework. Preliminary results

to a Multivariable extension are discussed at the end of the Chapter. We deal only with CT systems.

The control objective is to find a feedback control signal u(t) for the plant (1.21) with unknown G(s) and M = 1 such that y(t) tracks  $y_m(t)$  as close as possible and the closed-loop system is globally stable in the sense that all signals in the system are bounded for any bounded initial conditions and input signals.

The control input that achieves matching between model and plant is given by (1.26) with parameters defined in Eq. (1.27) and the regressor of Eq. (1.28). Tracking error is given by

$$e = y - y_m$$

whose states are

$$\dot{x}_e = A_c x_e + k^* b_c [u - u^*]; \quad e = h_c^T x_e$$
(4.1)

or in input/output form as

$$e = k^* W_m(s)[u - u^*]; \quad k^* = k_p/k_m$$
(4.2)

Since the parameter vector is not known, the control input is designed using an estimate  $\theta$  of the ideal parameter  $\theta^*$ . The implementable control law is given by:

$$u(t) = \theta^T(t)\omega(t) \tag{4.3}$$

# 4.2 Binary Model Reference Adaptive Control (BMRAC)

The Binary-MRAC for arbitrary relative degree plants was proposed in [70] and consists of a high gain projection adaptation based MRAC. The resulting system presents better transient performance and robustness to unmodeled dynamics than conventional adaptive controllers.

For the case  $\rho = 1$ ,  $\theta$  is obtained by a projection-type adaptation law

$$\dot{\theta}(t) = -\sigma(t)\theta(t) - \gamma e(t)\omega(t) \tag{4.4}$$

with high gain  $\gamma$  and the projection factor defined as

,

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \|\theta\| < M_{\theta} \text{ or } \sigma_{eq} < 0\\ \sigma_{eq}, & \text{if } \|\theta\| \ge M_{\theta} \text{ and } \sigma_{eq} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

with a constant  $M_{\theta} \geq \|\theta^*\|$  and

$$\sigma_{eq} = \frac{-\gamma e \theta^T \omega}{\|\theta\|^2} \tag{4.6}$$

The BMRAC scheme is depicted in Fig. 4.1.



Figure 4.1: BMRAC block diagram

## 4.3 Smooth Sliding Control (SSC)

The Smooth-Sliding Control technique was proposed in [71] as a solution to avoid chattering in variable structure model reference control systems. The architecture of L1-AC resembles the SSC closely, but with a few key differences: i) the absence of an explicit reference model; ii) the use of projection based adaptation instead of relay switched control; iii) the need to structurally redesign the algorithm to deal with output feedback and unknown input gain; and iv) the inability to track a timevarying reference with acceptable error as will be seen in Section. 4.4. Here, we focus on the case  $\rho = 1$  for the sake of simplicity, since only straightforward modifications are needed to deal with arbitrary relative degree [71].

## 4.3.1 Plants with relative degree one

The SSC is also based on the MRAC framework where the error equations are given by (4.1)-(4.2). The SSC employs a filtered input and a prediction loop, which is also used in the L1-AC. The smooth control law is obtained using an averaging filter with sufficiently small time constant  $\tau$  such that the control u is replaced by  $u_0^{av}$ , an approximation of the equivalent control  $(u_0)_{eq}$ . The control law is

$$u = u^{nom} - u_0^{av}; \quad u_0^{av} = (1/F_{av}(\tau s))u_0$$
(4.7)

$$u_0 = f(t)sign(\varepsilon_0) \tag{4.8}$$

where  $\varepsilon_0$  is an output prediction error associated with the prediction loop

$$\varepsilon = e - \hat{e}; \quad \hat{e} = k^{nom} W_m(s) [u_0 - u_0^{av}]; \tag{4.9}$$

And the usual output feedback error is used as follows.

$$e = k^* W_m(s)[u - u^*]; \quad k^* = k_p / k_m$$
(4.10)

where  $W_m(s)$  is a reference model chosen SPR. since  $\hat{e}$  can be interpreted as a predicted output error by considering  $k^{nom}$  and  $u_0$  as estimates of  $k^*$  and  $u^{nom} - u^*$ , respectively. With correct estimates the prediction would be exact, as seen in eq. (4.8), (4.9) and (4.2). The modulation function f(t) is chosen such that  $f(t) \geq |u^*(t) - u^{nom}(t)|; \forall t$ . The SSC scheme is presented in Fig 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Smooth sliding control block diagram

## 4.4 Combining SSC and B-MRAC

The core idea of this chapter is to propose a controller that combines the SSC and BMRAC by using the SSC architecture with the BMRAC adaptation. The resulting scheme is named Extendend BMRAC (eBMRAC) To that end, the relay of the SSC is replaced by an output feedback projection adaptation law with standard MRAC parametrization. The scheme is seen in Fig. 4.3.

Consider the MRAC error equations (4.1)-(4.2). As well as the SSC, the eBM-RAC uses an input filtered control signal

$$u(t) = C(s)[u_0(t)]; \quad u_0(t) = \theta(t)^T \omega(t)$$
(4.11)

where  $\theta$  is an adaptive parameter. For the sake of simplicity, the plant high frequency gain  $k_p$  is assumed known. Nevertheless, the case where only  $sign(k_p)$  is known can be addressed using a similar development as in [71].

Consider the auxiliary errors

$$\hat{e} = k^* W_m(s)[u - u_0], \quad \varepsilon = e - \hat{e}$$
(4.12)

The adaptation law with parameter projection is

$$\dot{\theta}(t) = -\sigma\theta - \gamma\varepsilon\omega \tag{4.13}$$

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \|\theta\| < M_{\theta} \text{ or } \sigma_{eq} < 0\\ \sigma_{eq}, & \text{if } \|\theta\| \ge M_{\theta} \text{ and } \sigma_{eq} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

$$\sigma_{eq} = \frac{-\gamma \varepsilon \theta^T \omega}{\left\|\theta\right\|^2} \tag{4.15}$$

The eBMRAC equations are  $e = y - y_m$ , Eq. (4.2), (4.11)–(4.15) with  $\omega$  as defined in Section 2. The block diagram is shown in Fig. 4.3. The predicted error  $\hat{e}$  state dynamics can be written as

$$\dot{\hat{x}}_e = A_c \ \hat{x}_e + k^* b_c \ [u - u_0], \qquad \hat{e} = h_c^T \ \hat{x}_e,$$
(4.16)

with  $k^* = k_p/k_m$ . This allows us to obtain the state dynamics for the prediction error

$$\dot{x}_{\varepsilon} = A_c \ x_{\varepsilon} + k^* b_c \ [u_0 - u^*], \qquad \varepsilon = h_c^T \ x_{\varepsilon}, \tag{4.17}$$

$$\varepsilon = k^* W_m(s) [u_0 - u^*]; \qquad (4.18)$$

Note that the prediction error does not depend on the filtered input.

The following properties are guaranteed by the projection based adaptation law:

**Theorem 5** Consider the error system described by (4.1)-(4.2) and the auxiliary errors (4.12), (4.17). The control signal is given by (4.11) with adaptation law (4.13)-(4.15). Assume that assumptions (A1)-(A4) hold,  $\|\theta(0)\| \leq M_{\theta}$  and  $k_p$  is known. If



Figure 4.3: Extended BMRAC (eBMRAC) block diagram

- $\tau$  is sufficiently small, then
- i)  $\|\theta\| \leq M_{\theta}, \forall t \geq 0;$
- ii)  $||x_{\varepsilon}(t)||^2 \leq c_1 e^{-\lambda_1 t} ||x_{\varepsilon}(0)||^2 + \mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-1}), \forall t \geq 0 \text{ for some positive constants } c_1 \text{ and } \lambda_1;$
- iii) The prediction error  $\varepsilon$  tends asymptotically to zero;
- iv) e tends exponentially to some small residual interval of order  $\tau$ .

Proof: see Appendix C

In the presence of unmodeled dynamics, it is expected that the prediction error tends to zero as gamma increases, since as  $\gamma$  tends to infinity, the resulting controller tends to the SSC. In this case, the eBMRAC should inherit the SSC properties of a free of chattering control signal and robustness to unmodeled dynamics.

The more general case, when only  $sign(k_p)$  is known and unmodeled dynamics (including delays) are present, could also be considered following the same developments presented by [71]. It is worth of notice, however, that even though these results are not yet theoretically established, they are expected to be obtained without redesign of the controller. Simulations results show the behavior for aforementioned cases.

## 4.4.1 Adaptation Law with Projection with Smooth Saturation function for disturbance rejection

In [73], a Binary Adaptive Controller (referred to as *dual mode* therein) is employed with a smooth saturation term to provide robustness to disturbances. This idea is also useful for the eBMRAC, since unmodeled dynamics can be treated as disturbances.

The modified adaptive law with smooth saturation is

$$\hat{u} = \theta^T \omega - \bar{d} \frac{\varepsilon}{\|\varepsilon\| + \delta} \tag{4.19}$$

where  $\bar{d}$  and  $\delta$  are positive gains.

The smooth saturation is continuous with respect to its argument and is illustrated in Fig. 4.4 To obtain a similar result to [73], we introduce the following



Figure 4.4: Smooth saturation function

function

$$f(\|\varepsilon\|) = \|\varepsilon\| d_{max} - \bar{d} \frac{\|\varepsilon\|^2}{\|\varepsilon\| + \delta}$$

$$(4.20)$$

such that  $f(\|\varepsilon\|) \ge 0$  if  $\overline{d} \le d_{max}$ . The maximum value of  $f(\|\epsilon\|)$  is

$$f(\|\varepsilon\|_{max}) = \varepsilon d_{max}c(\bar{d}) \tag{4.21}$$

with

$$c(\bar{d}) = (-1+d_s) - \frac{\bar{d}(-1+d_s)^2}{d_{max}d_s}$$
(4.22)

and

$$d_s = \sqrt{\frac{\bar{d}}{\bar{d} - d_{max}}} \tag{4.23}$$

Using this new law along with the previous results it is possible to state the following theorem.

**Theorem 6** Consider the plant (1.21) with M = 1 and reference model (1.22) with uniformly bounded disturbances  $||d(t)|| \leq d_{max}$  and the error system described by (4.1)-(4.2) and the auxiliary errors (4.12),(4.17). The control signal is given by (4.19) with adaptation law (4.13)-(4.15). Assume that assumptions (A1)-(A4) hold,  $||\theta(0)|| \leq M_{\theta}$  and  $k_p$  is known and an upper bound  $\bar{d} \geq d_0 > d_{max}$  is known. If  $\tau$  is sufficiently small, then the prediction error converges exponentially to a residual set of

$$\|\varepsilon\| \le \mathcal{O}(1/\sqrt{\gamma}) + \mathcal{O}(\delta c(d_0)/\lambda_{\min}(Q))$$

where Q is the solution to the Lyapunov equation  $A_c^T P + PA_c = -Q$  with  $Pb_c = h_c^T$ . Without disturbances, the prediction error exponentially converges to a residual set

$$\|\varepsilon\| \leq \mathcal{O}(1/\sqrt{\gamma})$$

and ultimately tends asymptotically to zero.

Proof: see Appendix C

**Corollary 3** If  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  are  $\mathcal{O}(1/\sqrt{\gamma})$ , then  $\|\epsilon\| \to 0$  as  $\gamma \to \infty$ .

This theorem shows that it is possible to reject uniformly bounded disturbances by adding a smooth saturation term in the control law, resulting in a more robust controller.

## 4.5 Simulation Results

#### 4.5.1 Robustness properties of the eBMRAC

It is expected that the eBMRAC to inherit some of the SSC properties, since the BMRAC tends to a sliding mode controller as the gain is increased. This makes the proposed controller more interesting, since in this case it would present certain advantages in comparison to both the BMRAC and the SSC alone. This section shows a few properties through numerical simulations.

We consider a first order unstable plant

$$G(s) = \frac{1}{s-2}$$
(4.24)



Figure 4.5: Tracking error with BMRAC

and the following reference model

$$W_m(s) = \frac{3}{s+3}$$
(4.25)

In this case, the ideal parameter vector and  $k^*$  are

$$\theta^* = [-5 \ 3]; \qquad k^* = \frac{k_p}{k_m} = \frac{1}{3}$$
(4.26)

unless stated otherwise, we use  $M_{\theta} = 6.5$ .

#### Performance in the presence of unmodeled time-delays

It is shown in [71] that the SSC presents robustness to unmodeled time-delays in comparison to conventional VS-MRAC. This is a desirable property that is not verified for the BMRAC alone.

The results obtained for the previously presented plant with adaptation gain chosen as  $\gamma = 10$  and reference signal r(t) = sin(0.8t) + 0.5sin(t) are seen in Figs. 4.5-4.6. No time-delay is considered and it is possible to note the error convergence to zero. We now consider the same plant with time-delay, that is

$$G_{pd}(s) = \frac{1}{s-2}e^{-\mu s}$$
(4.27)

With  $\mu = 0.1s$ , simulation results obtained with the same choice of parameters as the previous case show that tracking performance is poor, as seen in Fig. 4.7-4.8.

Performance is fairly improved when the averaging filter and the prediction loop



Figure 4.6: Tracking performance with BMRAC



Figure 4.7: Tracking error with BMRAC in the presence of unmodeled time-delay



Figure 4.8: Tracking performance with BMRAC in the presence of unmodeled timedelay

are inserted. Even though convergence is not expected in the tracking error, as seen in Fig. 4.9, it can be made small with an appropriate choice of the averaging filter. In this case we use  $\tau = 0.01s$  and set  $k_{nom} = 1$ .

Prediction error, on the other hand, converges to zero, as shown in Fig. 4.10. Tracking performance is seen in Fig. 4.11.

#### 4.5.2 Performance in the presence of unmodeled dynamics

It is also interesting to verify the performance of eBMRAC for plants with unmodeled dynamics. Similarly to the case of systems with unmodeled time-delays, it can be shown that robustness properties are improved in comparison to BMRAC. We consider the following plant

$$G_{pd} = \frac{1}{s-2} \frac{1}{(\mu s+1)^2} \tag{4.28}$$

Reference signal is r(t) = sin(0.8t) + 0.5sin(t). With  $\mu = 0.05s$  and  $\gamma = 100$ , tracking is not achieved with BMRAC, as shown in Fig. 4.12.

Using the averaging filter it is possible to improve the performance. With  $\tau = 0.03s$  and  $k_{nom} = 1.5$ , convergence is obtained for the prediction error, as seen in Fig. 4.13. Since  $\tau$  has to be tuned with a relatively high value, tracking performance is downgraded, as it is possible to note in Figs. 4.14-4.15. It is important to note, however, that decreasing  $\tau$  does not improve tracking error properties in the presence



Figure 4.9: Tracking error with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled time-delay



Figure 4.10: Prediction error with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled time-delay



Figure 4.11: Tracking performance with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled time-delay



Figure 4.12: Tracking with BMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics



Figure 4.13: Prediction error with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics

of unmodeled dynamics. This can be understood intuitively, since as  $\tau$  is decreased, also is the effect of the averaging filter, such that the controller approaches the regular BMRAC. Fig. 4.16 shows that the control is free of chattering.

#### Disturbance rejection using an augmented regressor

It is possible to reject constant perturbations through a simple modification of the regressor vector:

$$\omega_{aug} = \begin{bmatrix} y_p(t) & r(t) & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

The following results are obtained for the first order plant of Eq. (4.27) with unmodeled time-delay of  $\mu = 0.1s$  and an output disturbance of d = 1.

Fig. 4.17 shows the tracking error with a disturbance with the regular regressor. Performance is fairly improved with the augmented regressor as shown in Fig. 4.18. Similarly, prediction error does not converge with the regular regressor, as seen in Fig. 4.19. Convergence is obtained with the modification, see Fig. 4.20

## 4.5.3 Effect of $k_{nom}$

For the SSC in [71], the case where  $k_p$  is unknown can be dealt if an upper bound is known, such that  $k_{nom}$  is chosen to overestimate  $k^*$ . To the eBMRAC, this is still an open topic of research. However, simulations show that it is possible to obtain a stable behavior with  $k_p$  unknown without modifying the controller. The results with unmodeled dynamics is shown for different values of  $k_{nom}$ .



Figure 4.14: Tracking error with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics



Figure 4.15: Tracking performance with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics



Figure 4.16: Control signal with eBMRAC in the presence of unmodeled dynamics



Figure 4.17: Tracking error with the regular regressor



Figure 4.18: Tracking error with the augmented regressor



Figure 4.19: Prediction error with the regular regressor



Figure 4.20: Prediction error with the augmented regressor

We consider the plant (4.28) with  $\mu = 0.05s$  with  $\tau = 0.03s$  and  $\gamma = 10$ , with the input r(t) = sin(0.8t) + 0.5sin(t). Convergence is not obtained setting  $k_{nom} = k^*$  as seen in Fig. 4.21.

If  $k_{nom} = 2k^*$ , convergence is obtained, as seen in Fig. 4.22–4.24. This can be explained by the predominance of a SPR loop formed by the plant and prediction error. This forces the prediction error to zero even in the presence of unmodeled dynamics if  $k_{nom}$  is sufficiently large. However, too large values may lead to larger tracking errors.

## 4.5.4 Transient and steady-state behavior properties

According to Theorem 5, the prediction error  $\varepsilon$  tends asymptotically to zero, but exponential convergence is only guaranteed to a residual set of order  $\mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-1})$ . Also, the tracking error tends exponentially to a residual set of order  $\mathcal{O}(\tau)$ . Simulations are used to illustrate these properties in the next subsections.

#### Effect of increasing gain in tracking and prediction errors

Comparison of transient and steady-state behavior of the eBMRAC for different values of adaptive gains is seen in Figs. 4.25–4.28, for  $\gamma = 1$ , 5, 10. In this example, the plant has the unmodeled delay given by Eq.(4.27) with  $\mu = 0.05s$  and  $\tau = 0.02s$ . Initial plant output is set to y = 4. The reference signal is r(t) = sin(0.8t) + 1/2sin(t).



Figure 4.21: Tracking performance with unmodeled dynamics with  $k_{nom} = k^*$ 



Figure 4.22: Tracking performance with unmodeled dynamics with  $k_{nom} = 2k^*$ 



Figure 4.23: Tracking error with unmodeled dynamics with  $k_{nom} = 2k^*$ 



Figure 4.24: Prediction error with unmodeled dynamics with  $k_{nom} = 2k^*$ 



Figure 4.25: Prediction error for different values of  $\gamma$ 

It is possible to note in Fig. 4.25 that the prediction error tends to zero asymptotically, as expected, irrespective of the value of the adaptation gain. Note, however, that convergence takes longer for lower values. It is also expected the exponential convergence to a residual set of order  $\gamma$ , which can be seen in Fig. 4.26.

Exponential convergence of the tracking error is also observed in Fig. 4.27 while Fig. 4.28 shows that it converges to a residual value that depends on  $\tau$  irrespective of the adaptation gain.

It is also interesting to note that the control input is free of chattering, as seen in Fig 4.29

#### Effect of decreasing time constant of the averaging filter

The effect of the averaging filter can be further illustrated by Fig. 4.30. The averaging filter is switched among  $\tau = 0.002s$ , 0.02s, 0.2s with  $\gamma = 10$ . Note that the tracking error decreases with  $\tau$ . The figure indicates errors of amplitude or order 0.001, 0.01 and 0.1, respectively.

## 4.5.5 Second order unstable plant with time delay

Finally, a second order plant is used to illustrate the controller behavior. The following example is an unstable plant with relative degree one and time delay  $\mu = 0.02s$ .

$$G(s) = \frac{s+1}{(s+2)(s-2)}e^{-\mu s}$$
(4.29)



Figure 4.26: Detail of Fig. 4.25



Figure 4.27: Tracking error for different values of  $\gamma$ 



Figure 4.28: Steady state tracking error for different values of  $\gamma$ 



Figure 4.29: Control input with different values of  $\gamma$ 



Figure 4.30: Tracking errors obtained for different values of  $\tau$  showing residual convergence

The controller is designed with  $\gamma = 10$ ,  $\tau = 0.01s$ ,  $\Lambda(s) = 1/(s+1)$  and  $k_{nom} = 0.5$ . Reference input is r(t) = sin(0.8)t.

Convergence of prediction error is seen in Fig. 4.32, while tracking error converges to a residual set in Fig. 4.31. Tracking performance is seen in Fig. 4.33 and the control signal is free of chattering according to Fig. 4.34.

## 4.6 Limitations with L1-AC

Since the L1-AC presented in Section 1.5 shares common features with our proposed eBMRAC, we devote this section to a comparison of both architectures. The L1-AC achieves good regulation properties with guaranteed transient and robustness, but fails to track time varying references. Also, its architecture has to be modified to fit different applications. With our newly proposed technique, robustness and guaranteed transient behavior is also obtained and it is possible to overcome some of the L1-AC limitations. It is also interesting to note that in the L1-AC formulation, error states are uniformly bounded but initial conditions are assumed as zero. In the eBMRAC, tracking error is exponentially driven to a small residual set. Moreover, if the initial conditions are sufficiently small, trajectories would also stay in this set for all times.

Despite reports of successful applications as mentioned in Section 1.5, some recent work question the efficiency of the L1-AC such as [66] and [67]. Criticisms include the use of excessively high adaptation gains, the inability to track a time-varying reference and the coincidence of L1-AC control signal with a full state PI controller,



Figure 4.31: Tracking error for second order unstable plant



Figure 4.32: Prediction error for second order unstable plant



Figure 4.33: Tracking performance for second order unstable plant



Figure 4.34: Control signal for second order unstable plant

which shows that adaptation is unnecessary in such scheme [74], [75]. It should also be noted that the L1-AC scheme is different according to the application. For instance, if the plant input gain is unknown, the algorithm has to be modified to a more complex architecture [58] (pp.35). This difficulty is similar for output feedback.

This can be illustrated using a first order stable LTI filter in L1-AC scheme, although it is also true for general filters according to [74]. Note that the filtered input can be rewritten as

$$\dot{u} = -k(u - \hat{\theta}^T x) \tag{4.30}$$

the control signal generated by (4.30) coincides with the output of a perturbed LTI PI controller

$$\dot{v} = kb^{\dagger}A_m x - \mu k\tilde{\theta}^T x; \quad u = v - kb^{\dagger}x \tag{4.31}$$

where  $b^{\dagger}$  is the pseudo-inverse of b, given by  $b^{\dagger} = (b^T b)^{-1} b^T$ . This means that if the parameter error converges to zero, the obtained controller converges to an LTI controller that could be obtained without adaptation.

It is also important to note that L1-AC analysis does not guarantee zero tracking error for time-varying reference signals, as shown in [58]. The same applies to parameter error, such that only the prediction error is assured to be uniformly bounded.

Note that this controller requires knowledge of input gain. Even though the L1-AC theory is able to extend the idea shown above to contour this limitation, it is important to note that this is achieved by changing the control architecture.

The proposed controller is able to overcome these difficulties, since it does not require knowledge of input gain and is able to track a time-varying reference with residual error using output feedback without the need to modify the control scheme.

## 4.6.1 First Order Plant

In order to show the efficiency of the proposed controller in comparison with L1-AC, we use a simple first order example. Consider the following plant, state predictor and filter:

$$\dot{x} = 3x + u + \theta x; \quad \dot{\hat{x}} = -2\hat{x} + u; \quad C(s) = \frac{c}{s+c}$$
 (4.32)

It is desired to track a sinusoidal reference signal, given by  $r(t) = 10 \sin(0.5t)$ . Highgain is used as suggested by [58]. In this case,  $\Gamma = 10^4$  and c = 160. The unknown parameter is assumed to be in the set  $\theta = [-10, 10]$ . For  $\theta = -5$  the result is seen in Fig. 4.35, note that the system output does not track the reference input. The same plant, reference model and filter is used for the eBMRAC, that is

$$G(s) = \frac{1}{s - 3 - \theta}; \quad W_m(s) = \frac{1}{s + 1}; \quad F_{av} = \frac{1}{\tau s + 1}$$
(4.33)



Figure 4.35: L1-AC performance for Example 1

Design parameters are chosen as  $\gamma = 10$ ;  $M_{\theta} = 10$  and  $\tau = 0.02s$ . The result is shown in Fig. 4.36, where it is possible to note a good tracking performance.

#### 4.6.2 Second Order Plant

#### L1-AC:

To further compare the two schemes, the simulation results in this section consider the second order plant used in [33, 57], already including the unknown parameter  $\theta$ of (1.75), that is:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -1.4 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} u; \quad y = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.34)

The reference signal is  $r(t) = 100\cos(0.2t)$  and the filter is designed as C(s) = 160/(s + 160). Adaptation gain is  $\Gamma = 10^4$  and  $\theta$  is assumed to be in the set  $\theta_i = [-10, 10], i = 1, 2$ .

The plant transfer function has relative degree  $\rho = 2$ . However, when dealing with state feedback, one can obtain an output of relative degree  $\rho = 1$ . The results of Figs. 4.37 reproduce the results shown in [57] and it is possible to note a poor tracking performance as well as oscillatory parameter values.

The limitations of L1-AC can be more clearly shown in two different scenarios: i) if the frequency is increased, which severely impairs the performance as seen in Fig. 4.38 when reference signal is  $r(t) = 100\cos(t)$ ; and ii) if the input gain is not known. In this case, the whole L1-AC scheme has to be redesigned, which is a



Figure 4.36: eBMRAC performance for for first order plant

restrictive constraint. Fig. 4.38 shows that it is not even possible to track a unit step input

#### eBMRAC:

The same plant of Eq. (4.34) is used assuming there is prior knowledge on the system states such that it is possible to obtain an output of relative degree  $\rho = 1$ . Considering both states are measurable, an output of relative degree one is obtained by combining the states such that the output is  $\bar{y}_p = Pb_p x_p$ .

It is important to note that this is done for the sole purpose of providing a fair comparison, since the L1-AC is designed as state feedback. A more general version of the eBMRAC that would able to deal with systems of higher relative degree could be derived following the same steps as in [71]. For the sake of simplicity and for a more intuitive illustration of this comparison, we choose to deal with output feedback of a system with relative degree  $\rho = 1$  in this example.

The averaging filter is designed with  $\tau = 0.02s$ , and I/O state variable filters are  $\Lambda(s) = 1/(s+1)$ . Projection adaptation parameters are  $\gamma = 10$  and  $M_{\theta} = 10$ . Results show good tracking performance with residual error, as seen in Figs. 4.40, and a similar result when the frequency is increased, showing in Fig. 4.41. Zero tracking error is still obtained if  $k_p$  is unknown. The result when  $k^{nom} = 1.2$  is shown in Fig. 4.42 Note that an excessively large gain is not needed and that the error can be made smaller choosing a smaller  $\tau$ . It is important to stress that the eBMRAC inherits the robustness of the SSC to unmodeled dynamics such as delays



Figure 4.37: L1-AC: Second order plant with r(t) = 100cos(0.2t)



Figure 4.38: L1-AC: Second order plant with r(t) = 100cos(t)


Figure 4.39: L1-AC step response for unknown input gain in Second order plant



Figure 4.40: eBMRAC: Second order plant with r(t) = 100cos(0.2t)



Figure 4.41: eBMRAC: Second order plant with r(t) = 100cos(t)



Figure 4.42: eBMRAC step response for unknown  $k_p$  for second order plant

and nonminimum phase dynamics.

#### 4.7 Preliminary Results on the MIMO eBMRAC

The similarity with the BMRAC provides a bottom line to a MIMO version of the eBMRAC. We consider the same problem description as used for the BMRAC in Section 1.2 and use the idea to provide the MIMO counterpart to auxiliary errors. The error equation in input-output form is repeated below for convenience.

$$e = W_m(s)k_p [u - u^*]$$
(4.35)

The MIMO version of the predicted error can be chosen as

$$\hat{e} = W_m(s) K^{nom}[u - u_0] \tag{4.36}$$

where  $K_{nom}$  is an estimate of  $K_p$ .

If  $K_p$  is assumed known, as in the SISO case, the prediction error is similar and the result can be extended using similar steps.

$$\varepsilon = W_m(s)K_p[u_0 - u^*] \tag{4.37}$$

If we use  $\overline{K}$  to account for uncertainties in  $K_{nom}$ , such as

$$K^{nom} = K_p \bar{K} \tag{4.38}$$

we obtain the following prediction error

$$\varepsilon = W_m(s)K_p\left[u_0 - \bar{u}\right] \tag{4.39}$$

where

$$\bar{u} = (I - \bar{K})u + \bar{K}u^* \tag{4.40}$$

It is conjectured that prediction error converges to zero if  $K_p$  os overestimated, however, tracking error increases with the estimative. This is an open problem in the present moment.

#### 4.7.1 Simulation Results for the MIMO eBMRAC

We consider an unstable plant of uniform relative degree one

$$G_p(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{s-2} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{(s+1)} \end{bmatrix} K_p; \qquad K_p = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 1\\ 1 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.41)



Figure 4.43: Tracking errors obtained for the MIMO example

Note that  $K_p$  is PDJ. We use the following reference model

$$W_m(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{3}{s+3} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{3}{s+3} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.42)

And averaging filter

$$F_{av}(\tau s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\tau s+1} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{\tau s+1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.43)

Tracking errors converge to a residual set, as seen in Fig. 4.43. Tracking performance is shown in Fig. 4.45 and Fig. 4.44 shows that prediction errors converge to zero, as expected. The control signal is free of chattering, according to Fig. 4.46.



Figure 4.44: Prediction errors obtained for the MIMO example



Figure 4.45: Tracking performance for the MIMO example



Figure 4.46: Control signals obtained for the MIMO example

### Chapter 5

### **Conclusions and Future Work**

This work proposed new solutions to Multivariable Model Reference Adaptive Control (MIMO MRAC) for plants of nonuniform arbitrary vector relative degree. Neither of these techniques are impaired by stringent assumption of symmetry or symmetrization of the plant high frequency gain (HFG). The proposed controllers are based on a PDJ condition related to the unknown HFG, which is a generic and less restrictive condition, particularly for uncertain systems. The augmented control parametrization of matrix factorization approaches is not necessary, making the new controller simpler.

A new technique based on the Bilinear error formulation was proposed considering both continuous-time and discrete-time cases. In contrast to conventional solutions, the new adaptive controller is simpler and we have also shown that, under certain circumstances, the symmetry condition can be relaxed even for the conventional design.

We also proposed the non-uniform arbitrary relative degree extension to the Multivariable Binary Model Reference Adaptive Control (BMRAC). Global exact output tracking for uncertain linear plants is obtained without requiring stringent symmetry assumptions on the High Frequency Gain and transient performance that outperforms standard MRAC techniques. To overcome the relative degree obstacle, we employed the multivariable version of the Global Robust Exact Differentiator (GRED) scheme, which achieves uniform global practical stability and exact tracking by switching a linear lead filter with a nonlinear one based on robust exact differentiators. The control signal is continuous and free of chattering.

A further extention to the BMRAC is proposed, namely the Extended BMRAC, obtained by a combination of the Smooth Sliding Control (SSC) and the BMRAC. It presents robustness and guaranteed transient behavior in the presence of unmodeled dynamics and time-delays, which is an advantage in comparison to standard BM-RAC. It is based on high gain adaptation with projection, input filtering and the use of a prediction loop, which are features also used by the L1-AC controller. We show

that the eBMRAC is able to overcome fundamental limitations of the L1-AC, such as poor tracking performance to time varying reference and the use of excessively large gain. Our new controller is simpler and its architecture does not need to be structurally redesigned in order to be applied to problems of different complexity.

Numerical simulations are presented to verify the analysis and show the effectiveness of the proposed techniques.

#### 5.1 Future Work

#### 5.1.1 Bilinear MRAC

The robustness issue is not yet addressed for this technnique, as well as its adaptation transient. The new algorithm is similar to conventional MRAC, so it is expected that robustness can be addressed using the same tools applied to the conventional case, such as projection adaptation laws or  $\sigma$ -modification.

#### 5.1.2 GRED-BMRAC

Different architectures could be used to employ the GRED estimator in the BMRAC framework, such as estimating the error derivatives instead of the plant outputs. This is currently subject of ongoing work. The use of alternative differentiator topologies are worth of interest, such as the non-homogeneous version of the RED. The use of High Gain Observers is also a possible topic of future reserach

#### 5.1.3 eBMRAC

The results obtained for the SISO case were only proved to relative degree one and known high frequency gain, such that these extensions are natural sequels to the present work. Also, a MIMO extension to this analysis is still an open research topic. Practical implementation of this algorithm is also an interesting issue.

#### 5.1.4 General issues on MRAC

During the development of these techniques, it was possible to note how easily the number of parameters can grow in the conventional MRAC framework. For instance, a  $4 \times 4$  with observability index  $\nu = 2$  would need 64 parameters. This seems to be a complicating obstacle to quick convergence. To develop alternatives to the standard MRAC parametrization that would decrease the need of parameters is currently a challenging and interesting research topic.

# Bibliography

- SASTRY, S., BODSON, M. Adaptive Control Stability, Convergence and Robustness. Prentice Hall, 1989.
- [2] IOANNOU, P., SUN, K. Robust Adaptive Control. Prentice Hall PTR, 1996.
- [3] WHITAKER, H. P., YAMRON, J., KEZER, A. Design of model reference adaptive control systems for aircraft. Report R-164, Instrumentation Laboratory, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, 1958.
- [4] OSBOURNE, P. V., WHITAKER, H. P., KEZER, A. "New developments in the design of model reference adaptive control systems", *Institute of aeronautical services*, v. Paper 61-39, 1961.
- [5] KOKOTOVIĆ, P. "Method of sensitivity points in the investigation and optimization of linear control systems", Automation and Remote Control, v. 25, pp. 1512–1518, 1964.
- [6] J. B. CRUZ, J. System sensitivity analysis. Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania, Dowden, Hutchinson & Ross Inc., 1973.
- [7] KALMAN, R. E. "Design of a self-optimizing control system", Transactions ASME 80, pp. 468–478, 1958.
- [8] JR, L. W. T., ADKINS, E. J. "Adaptive Control and the X-15". In: Princeton University Conference on Aircraft Flying Qualities, 1965.
- [9] PARKS, P. C. "Lyapunov redesign of model reference adaptive control systems", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, v. 11, pp. 362–367, 1966.
- [10] GOODWIN, G., RAMADGE, P., CAINES, P. "Discrete-time multivariable adaptive control", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, v. 25, n. 3, pp. 449 – 456, jun 1980. ISSN: 0018-9286. doi: 10.1109/TAC.1980. 1102363.
- [11] EGARDT, B. "Stability of Adaptive Controllers", Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences, 1979.

- [12] C. E. ROHRS, L. VALAVANI, M. A., STEIN, G. "Robustness of continuoustime adaptive control algorithms in the presence of unmodeled dynamics", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, v. 30, pp. 881–889, 1985.
- [13] IOANNOU, P. A., KOKOTOVIC, P. "Instability analysis and improvement of robustness of adaptive control", *Automatica*, v. 20, pp. 583–594, 1984.
- [14] LANDAU, I., COURTIOUL, B. "Design of multivariable adaptive model following control systems", Automatica, v. 10, n. 5, pp. 483–494, June 1974.
- [15] MONOPOLI, R., HSING, C. C. "Parameter adaptive control of multivariable systems", *International Journal of Control*, v. 22, n. 3, pp. 313–327, 1975.
- [16] GOODWIN, G., LONG, R. "Generalization of results on multivariable adaptive control", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, v. 25, n. 6, pp. 1241 – 1245, December 1980. ISSN: 0018-9286. doi: 10.1109/TAC.1980.1102523.
- [17] WOLOVICH, W. A., ANTSAKLIS, P. J. "Output feedback compensation in multivariable systems". In: Decision and Control including the 13th Symposium on Adaptive Processes, 1974 IEEE Conference on, v. 13, p. 272, nov. 1974. doi: 10.1109/CDC.1974.270446.
- [18] TAO, G. "Model reference adaptive control of multivariable plants with unknown interactor matrix". In: Proceedings of the 29th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, pp. 2730 –2735 vol.5, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, December 1990. doi: 10.1109/CDC.1990.203274.
- [19] WOLOVICH, W., FALB, P. L. "Invariants and canonical forms under dynamic compensation", SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, v. 14, pp. 996–1008, 1976.
- [20] NARENDRA, K. S., ANNASWAMY, A. M. Stable Adaptive Systems. Prentice Hall International, Inc., 1989.
- [21] TAO, G. Adaptive Control Design and Analysis. John Wiley & Sons Inc., 2003.
- [22] ASTROM, K. J., WITTENMARK, B. Adaptive Control. Publishing Company, Boston, USA, 1995.
- [23] TAO, G. "Multivariable Adaptive Control: A Survey", Automatica, v. 50, pp. 2737–2764, 2014.
- [24] TAO, G., IOANNOU, P. A. "Robust Model Reference Adaptive Control for Multivariable Plants", Int. J. Adaptive Contr. Signal Process., v. 2, n. 3, pp. 217–248, 1988.

- [25] COSTA, R. R., HSU, L., IMAI, A. K., et al. "Lyapunov-based adaptive control of MIMO systems", Automatica, v. 39, n. 7, pp. 1251–1257, 2003.
- [26] EDWARDS, C., SPURGEON, S. K. "Robust output tracking using a slidingmode controller/observer scheme", *International Journal of Control*, v. 64, pp. 967–983, 1996.
- [27] CHIEN, C.-J., SUN, K.-C., WU, A.-C., et al. "A Robust MRAC Using Variable Structure Design for Multivariable Plants", *Automatica*, v. 32, pp. 833– 848, 1996.
- [28] HSU, L., COSTA, R. R., CUNHA, J. P. V. S. "Model-reference output-feedback sliding mode controller for a class of multivariable nonlinear systems", *Asian Journal of Control*, v. 5, pp. 543–556, 4 2003.
- [29] PEIXOTO, A. J., CUNHA, J. P. V. S., HSU, L., et al. "Unit vector control of uncertain multivariable nonlinear systems". In: *Proceedings of the 16th IFAC World Congress*, Prague, 2005.
- [30] YANQUE, I., NUNES, E. V. L., COSTA, R., et al. "Binary MIMO MRAC using a Passifying Multiplier". In: 2012 American Control Conference, pp. 1925–1930, Montreal, June 2012.
- [31] YANQUE, I., NUNES, E. V. L., COSTA, R. R., et al. "Binary MIMO MRAC using a Passifying Multiplier - A smooth transition to Sliding Mode Control". In: *Proceedings of the 2012 American Control Conference*, Montréal, Canada, June 27-29 2012.
- [32] HSU, L., COSTA, R. R. "B-MRAC: Global exponential stability with a new model reference adaptive controller based on binary control theory", C-TAT - Control-Theory and Advance Technology, v. 10, n. 04, pp. 649–668, December 1994. Special Issue on Sliding Mode Control.
- [33] CAO, C., HOVAKIMYAN, N. "Design and Analysis of a Novel L1 Adaptive Controller, Part I: Control Signal and Asymptotic Stability". In: 2006 American Control Conference, pp. 3403–3408, Minneapolis, June 2006.
- [34] CHEN, C.-T. Linear System Theory and Design. New York, NY, Oxford University Press, 1999.
- [35] KHALIL, H. K. Nonlinear Systems, 3rd Edition. Prentice Hall, Inc., 2002.
- [36] NUNES, E. V. L., LIZARRALDE, F., HSU, L. "Global Exact Tracking for Uncertain Systems using Output-Feedback Sliding Mode Control", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, v. 54, n. 5, pp. 1141–1147, 2009.

- [37] JIANG, Z., MAREELS, M. Y. "A small-gain control method for nonlinear cascade systems with dynamic uncertainties", *IEEE Trans. Aut. Contr.*, v. 42, n. 3, pp. 386–393, 1997.
- [38] WOLOVICH, W. A., FALB, P. L. "Invariants and canonical forms under dynamic compensation", SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, v. 14, n. 6, pp. 996–1008, 1976.
- [39] BARKANA, I., TEIXEIRA, M. C. M., HSU, L. "Mitigation of symmetry condition in positive realness for adaptive control", *Automatica*, v. 39, n. 9, pp. 1611–1616, 2006.
- [40] HSU, L., TEIXEIRA, M. C. M., COSTA, R. R., et al. "Necessary and sufficient condition for generalized passivity, passification and application to multivariable adaptive systems". In: *Proc. of the 18th IFAC World Congress*, pp. 3433–3438, Milan, 2011.
- [41] STRANG, G. Linear Algebra and Its Applications. 2 ed. New York, Academic Press, Inc., 1980.
- [42] DE MATHELIN, M., BODSON, M. "Multivariable Adaptive Control: Identifiable Parameterizations and Parameter Convergence", *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, v. 39, n. 8, pp. 1612–1617, 1994.
- [43] WILLNER, Y., HEYMANN, M., BODSON, M. "Parameter Convergence and Uniqueness in Nonminimal Parameterizations for Multivariable Adaptive Control", SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, v. 30, n. 4, pp. 800– 815, 1992.
- [44] HSU, L., TEIXEIRA, M. C. M., COSTA, R. R., et al. "Necessary and sufficient condition for generalized passivity, passification and application to multivariable adaptive systems". In: Proc. World Congress of the International Federation of Automatic Control (IFAC), 2011.
- [45] HSU, L., LIZARRALDE, F. "Robust adaptive visual tracking control: analysis and experiments". In: Proceedings of the Conference on Control and Applications, pp. 1–6, Anchorage, 2000.
- [46] IMAI, A. K., COSTA, R. R., HSU, L., et al. "Multivariable Adaptive Control Using High-Frequency Gain Matrix Factorization", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, v. 49, n. 7, pp. 1152–1157, July 2004.

- [47] XIE, X.-J., ZHANG, Z.-Q. "Robust direct model reference adaptive control using Kp = LDU factorization for multivariable plants", International Journal of Control, v. 78, n. 10, pp. 762–772, July 2005.
- [48] XIE, X.-J., LI, J.-L. "A robustness analysis of discrete-time direct model reference adaptive control", *International Journal of Control*, v. 79, n. 10, pp. 1196–1204, October 2006.
- [49] BOULKROUNE, A., M'SAAD, M., CHEKIREB, H. "Design of a fuzzy adaptive controller for MIMO nonlinear time-delay systems with unknown actuator nonlinearities and unknown control direction", *Information Sciences*, v. 180, n. 24, pp. 5041–5059, December 2010.
- [50] CHARANDAB, B. A., SALMASI, F. R., SEDIGH, A. K. "Improved Dead Zone Modification for Robust Adaptive Control of Uncertain Linear Systems Described by Input-Output Models With Actuator Fault", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, v. 56, n. 4, pp. 863–867, April 2011.
- [51] HSU, L., TEIXEIRA, M. C. M., COSTA, R. R., et al. "Lyapunov Design of Multivariable MRAC Via Generalized Passivity and Passivation", Asian Journal of Control, 2014. doi: 10.1002/asjc.1029.
- [52] TAO, G., IOANNOU, P. "Persistency of Excitation and Overparametrization in Model Reference Adaptive Control", *IEEE Trans. on Automatic Control*, v. 35, n. 2, pp. 254–256, 1990.
- [53] ORTEGA, R., ASTOLFI, A. "Immersion and Invariance: A New Tool for Stabilization and Adaptive Control of Nonlinear Systems", *IEEE Trans.* on Automatic Control, v. 48, n. 4, pp. 590–606, 2003.
- [54] ORTEGA, R., HSU, L., ASTOLFI, A. "Immersion and Invariance adaptive control of linear mutivariable systems", System & Control Letters, v. 49, pp. 37–47, 2003.
- [55] HSU, L., COSTA, R. R., IMAI, A. K., et al. "Lyapunov Based adaptive control of MIMO systems". In: Proc. American Contr. Conf., pp. 4808–4813, Arlington, July 2001.
- [56] HSU, L., BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L. "Multivariable MRAC Design Without Gain Symmetry Conditions Using a Stabilizing Multiplier", *IEEE Trans. Aut. Contr.*, v. 59, n. 4, pp. 1041–1047, 2014.

- [57] CAO, C., HOVAKIMYAN, N. "Design and Analysis of a Novel L1 Adaptive Controller, Part II: Guaranteed Transient Performance". In: 2006 American Control Conference, pp. 3403–3408, Minneapolis, June 2006.
- [58] HOVAKIMYAN, N., CAO, C. L1 Adaptive Control Theory: Guaranteed Robustness with Fast Adaptation. siam, 2010.
- [59] DOBROKHODOV, V., KAMINER, I., KITSIOS, I., et al. "Experimental Validation of L<sub>1</sub> Adaptive Control: The Rohrs Counterexample in Flight", *Journal of Guidance, Control and Dynamics*, v. 34, n. 5, pp. 1311–1328, 2011.
- [60] LEE, K. W., SINGH, S. N. "L1 Adaptive attitude control of satellites in elliptic orbits using solar radiation pressure", *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, v. 228, n. 4, pp. 611–626, 2014. doi: 10.1177/0954410013478510.
- [61] ZUO, Z., RU, P. "Augmente L1 Adaptive Tracking Control of Quad-Rotor Unmanned Aircrats", *IEEE Trans. on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, v. 50, n. 4, pp. 3090–3101, 2014.
- [62] HOVAKIMYAN, N., CAO, C., KHARISOV, E., et al. "L1 adaptive control for safety-critical systems", *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, v. 31, n. 5, pp. 54–104, 2011.
- [63] PETTERSSON, A., ASTROM, K. J., ROBERTSSON, A., et al. "Analysis of Linear L1 Adaptive Control Architectures for Aerospace Applications". In: Proc. of the 51st Conference on Decision and Control, Maui, Hawaii, USA, 2012.
- [64] ZHANG, J., YANG, Q., ZHOU, C. "L<sub>1</sub>-Adaptive Control Design for Hysteresis Compensation within Piezoelectric Actuators". In: 2014 IFAC World Congress, pp. 2691–2696, Cape Town, August 2014.
- [65] NATARAJAN, V., BENTSMAN, J. "Adaptive Projection-Based Observers and L1-Adaptive Controllers for Intinite-Dimensional Systems With Full-State Measurement", System and Control Letters, v. 59, n. 3, pp. 585–598, 2014.
- [66] BOSKOVIC, J., MEHRA, R. K. "Performance analysis of a simple L1-adaptive controller". In: 2013 American Control Conference, 2013.
- [67] IOANNOU, P. A., ANNASWAMY, A. M., NARENDRA, K. S., et al. "L1-Adaptive Control: Stability, Robustness and Interpretations", *IEEE Con*trol Systems Magazine, v. 59, n. 11, pp. 3075–1080, 2014.

- [68] NUNES, E. V. L., PEIXOTO, A. J., OLIVEIRA, T. R., et al. "GLobal exact tracking for uncertain MIMO linear systems by output feedback sliding mode control", *Journal of the Franklin Institute*, 2013.
- [69] LEVANT, A. "Higher-order sliding modes, differentiation and output-feedback control", Int. J. Contr., v. 76, n. 09, pp. 924–941, 2003.
- [70] HSU, L., COSTA, R. R. "B-MRAC: Global exponential stability with a new model reference adaptive controller based on binary control theory", C-TAT - Control-Theory and Advance Technology, v. 10, n. 04, pp. 649–668, December 1994. Special Issue on Sliding Mode Control (invited paper).
- [71] HSU, L. "Smooth Sliding Control of uncertain systems based on a prediction error", International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control, v. 7, pp. 353–372, 1997.
- [72] MARLIN, T. Process Control. McGraw-Hill Education, 2000.
- [73] PAZOS, F., HSU, L. "Controle de Robôs Manipuladores em Modo Dual Adaptativo Robusto", *Revista Controle & Automação*, v. 14, n. 1, pp. 30–39, 2003.
- [74] ORTEGA, R., PANTELEY, E. V. "L<sub>1</sub>-"Adaptive" Control Is a Linear PI Control". In: 2014 IFAC World Congress, Cape Town, August 2014.
- [75] ORTEGA, R. "On the Effect of Input Filtering and Fast Adaptation in Model Reference Adaptive Control". In: 2013 American Control Conference, pp. 3350–3355, Washington, DC, June 2013.
- [76] LEVANT, A. "Robust Exact Differentiation via sliding mode technique", Automatica, v. 34, pp. 379–384, 1998.
- [77] FRIDMAN, L., LEVANT, A. "Higher order sliding modes", Perruquetti & B.J.P., eds, 'Sliding mode Control in Engineering', pp. 53–101, 2002.
- [78] HSU, L., BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L. "Direct Multivariable MRAC Design Without Gain Symmetry Conditions". In: Proc. of the American Contro Conference, pp. 4939–4944, Washington D.C., 2013.
- [79] HSU, L., BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L. "Controle Adaptativo de Sistemas Multivariáveis com Grau Relativo Arbitrário Sem Exigência de Simetria no Ganho de Alta Frequência". In: Congresso Brasileiro de Automática, Campina Grande, 2012.

- [80] BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L., HSU, L. "Multivariable BMRAC Extension to Arbitrary Relative Degree Using Global Robust Exact Differentiators". In: 13th Workshop on Variable Structure Systems, Nantes, 2014.
- [81] BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L., HSU, L. "Extensão de Grau Relativo Arbitrário para o BMRAC Multivariável Utilizando Diferenciador Robusto Global e Exatos". In: Congresso Brasileiro de Automática, Belo Horizonte, 2014.
- [82] HSU, L., BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L. "Extended Binary Model Reference Adaptive Control overcomes limitations of L1 Adaptive Control". In: Proceedings of the Conference on Control and Applications, pp. 6920– 6925, Cape Town, 2011.
- [83] HSU, L., BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L. "Contornando Limitações Fundamentais do Controle Adaptativo L1 Através do Controlador Adaptativo Binário por Modelo de Referência Estendido". In: Congresso Brasileiro de Automática, Belo Horizonte, 2014.
- [84] VIDAL, P. V. N. M., BATTISTEL, A., NUNES, E. V. L. "Rastreamento Global e Exato de Sistemas Incertos Utilizando um Diferenciador Exato Não-Homogêneo".
- [85] VIDAL, P. V. N. M., BATTISTEL, A., HSU, L., et al. "Rastreamento global e exato de sistemas mimo incertos usando diferenciadores exatos nãohomogêneos". In: *Congresso Brasileiro de Automática*, Belo Horizonte, 2014.

# Appendix A

# Robust Exact Differentiators (RED)

In the previous section, a BMRAC using a MIMO lead filter to estimate  $\xi_y$  was analyzed. From Theorem 3 the convergence of the error state is only guaranteed to a residual set.

Real-time differentiation of signals is an old and well-studied problem [69]. The output of an ideal differentiator is the exact derivative of any input signal, which is a considerably difficult task in practice since signals are corrupted by noise. High frequency components will result in high amplitude derivatives, corrupting the derivative of the signal of interest.

Even though robust estimates of derivatives can be obtained by a lead filter even in the presence of high frequency noise, for instance, these estimates are not exact. We are interested in a class of differentiators that are not only exact, but also able to reject small high frequency noise.

In [69],[76], a class of differentiators is proposed based on High Order Sliding Modes (HOSM). Considering an input signal f(t), a function defined in  $[0, \infty)$  consisted of an unknown base signal  $f_0(t)$  whose nth-order derivative has a Lipschitz constant  $C_{n+1}$ , exact derivatives are obtained in finite time in the absence of noise. If the signal is corrupted by a bounded Lebesgue-measurable noise with unknown features, it is shown that asymptotically optimal performance is obtained.

In [76] it is shown that the best possible accuracy obtained by a differentiator to a i-th order derivative is proportional to

$$C_{n+1}^{i/(n+1)} \epsilon^{(n-i+1)/(n+1)}, \quad i = 0, \dots, n$$

where  $C_{n+1}$  is the Lipschitz constant of the n-th order derivative and  $\epsilon$  is the maximum noise magnitude.

The RED therefore solves the problem of obtaining robust derivatives in the

presence of noise, and exact in the absence of noise. This is a useful tool to circumvent relative degree obstacles, such as done in [36]. In this work, we use the RED as a part of a scheme to obtain an arbitrary relative degree extension to the Binary-MRAC of [30].

#### A.1 First Order Differentiator

Consider the following auxiliary system

$$\dot{z} = v \tag{A.1}$$

and define the error variable  $e = z - f_0$ . The objective is to keep e = 0 in a second order sliding mode such that  $e = \dot{e} = 0$ . This implies that  $z = f_0$  and  $v = \dot{f}_0$ . It is then possible to write

$$\dot{e} = -\dot{f}_0(t) + v, \quad \left|\ddot{f}_0(t)\right| \le C_2 \forall t$$
 (A.2)

The following Super-Twisting controller is then employed [76, 77]

$$\begin{cases} v = -\lambda_0 |e|^{1/2} sgn(e) + z_1 \\ \dot{z}_1 = -\lambda_1 sgn(e) \end{cases}$$
(A.3)

where  $\lambda_0$  and  $\lambda_1$  are positive constants. The first order differentiator presented in [76] is written in the following form:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{z} = v, \quad v = -\lambda_0 |z - f(t)|^{1/2} sgn(z - f(t)) + z_1 \\ \dot{z}_1 = -\lambda_1 sgn(z - f(t)) \end{cases}$$
(A.4)

where v and  $z_1$  may be used as the output of the differentiator with f(t) being the input signal. If the parameters  $\lambda_0$  and  $\lambda_1$  are properly chosen, the following equalities are established in finite time in the absence of noise:

$$z = f_0, \quad z_1 = v = f_0$$
 (A.5)

#### A.2 Arbitrary Order Differentiators

The first order differentiator proposed in [76] was generalized to arbitrary order in [69] as follows

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\zeta}_{0} = v_{0}, \\ v_{0} = -\lambda_{0} |\zeta_{0} - f(t)|^{n/(n+1)} sgn(\zeta_{0} - f(t)) + \zeta_{1} \\ \dot{\zeta}_{1} = v_{1}, \\ v_{1} = -\lambda_{1} |\zeta_{1} - v_{0}|^{(n-1)/n} sgn(\zeta_{1} - v_{0}) + \zeta_{2} \\ \vdots \\ \dot{\zeta}_{i} = v_{i}, \\ v_{i} = -\lambda_{i} |\zeta_{i} - v_{i-1}|^{(n-i)/(n-i+1)} sgn(\zeta_{i} - v_{i-1}) + \zeta_{i+1} \\ \vdots \\ \dot{\zeta}_{n-1} = v_{n-1}, \\ v_{n-1} = -\lambda_{n-1} |\zeta_{n-1} - v_{n-2}|^{1/2} sgn(\zeta_{n-1} - v_{n-2}) + \zeta_{n} \\ \dot{\zeta}_{n} = -\lambda_{n} sgn(\zeta_{n} - v_{n-1}) \end{cases}$$
(A.6)

where  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$  are positive constants and f(t) is the input signal. It is possible to write the differentiator in a non-recursive form as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\zeta}_{0} = -\kappa_{0}|\zeta_{0} - f(t)|^{n/(n+1)}sgn(\zeta_{0} - f(t)) + \zeta_{1} \\ \dot{\zeta}_{1} = -\kappa_{1}|\zeta_{0} - f(t)|^{(n-1)/(n+1)}sgn(\zeta_{0} - f(t)) + \zeta_{2} \\ \vdots \\ \dot{\zeta}_{i} = -\kappa_{i}|\zeta_{0} - f(t)|^{(n-i)/(n+1)}sgn(\zeta_{0} - f(t)) + \zeta_{i+1} \\ \vdots \dot{\zeta}_{i} = -\kappa_{n}sgn(\zeta_{0} - f(t)) \end{cases}$$
(A.7)

where the constants  $\kappa_i$ , i = 0, ..., n are calculated from  $\lambda_0, ..., \lambda_n$ .

The following theorem, presented in [69], characterizes the convergence properties the RED.

**Theorem 7 ([69])** Consider system (3.27). Let the input signal  $f_0(t)$  be a function defined on  $[0, \infty)$  with the nth derivative having a known Lipschitz constant  $C_{n+1} > 0$ . If the parameters  $\lambda_i$ , i = 0, ..., n are properly chosen, then in the absence of input noise the following equalities are true after a finite time transient process:

$$\zeta_0 = f_0(t);$$
  $\zeta_i = v_{i-1} = f_0^{(i)}(t), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$ 

Proof: see [69]

The following result is also of great importance

**Lemma 11** Consider the system (A.6) and assume that the signals  $f(t), \dot{f}(t), \ldots, f^{(n)}(t)$  are bounded. If  $|f^{(n+1)}(t)| \leq K_{n+1} \forall t$  for some positive constant  $K_{n+1}$ , then the system state does not escape em finite time.

Proof: see [68].

#### Examples of RED tunning

In [69], guidelines to choose parameters  $\lambda_i$  are given. For a first order RED, considering  $|\ddot{f}(t)| \leq C_2$ , one has

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\zeta}_0 = v, \quad v = -1.5C_2^{1/2}|\zeta_0 - f_0(t)|^{1/2}sgn(\zeta_0 - f_0(t)) + \zeta_1\\ \dot{\zeta}_1 = -1.1C_2sgn(\zeta_1 - v_0) \end{cases}$$
(A.8)

Which is easily extended to a second order differentiator as follows, considering  $|f^{(3)}(t)| \leq C_3$ 

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\zeta}_{0} = v, \quad v = -3C_{3}^{1/3}|\zeta_{0} - f_{0}(t)|^{2/3}sgn(\zeta_{0} - f_{0}(t)) + \zeta_{1} \\ \dot{\zeta}_{2} = v, \quad v = -1.5C_{3}^{1/2}|\zeta_{1} - v_{0}|^{1/2}sgn(\zeta_{1} - v_{0}) + \zeta_{2} \\ \dot{\zeta}_{2} = -1.1C_{3}sgn(\zeta_{1} - v_{0}) \end{cases}$$
(A.9)

# Appendix B GRED-BMRAC proofs

In what follows, all  $k_i$  and  $\kappa_i$  are positive constants.

#### B.1 Proof of Theorem 3:

Firstly we show that  $\|\vartheta(t)\| \leq M_{\vartheta}$  if  $\|\vartheta(0)\| \leq M_{\vartheta}$  is bounded, such that  $M_{\vartheta} > \|\vartheta^*\|$ . Consider the following Lyapunov function

$$2V_{\vartheta} = \vartheta^T \vartheta = \|\vartheta\|^2 \tag{B.1}$$

The derivative is

$$2\dot{V}_{\vartheta} = \dot{\vartheta}^T \vartheta + \vartheta^T \dot{\vartheta} \tag{B.2}$$

Recalling Eq. (3.34)

$$2\dot{V}_{\vartheta} = \left(-\vartheta\sigma - \gamma\Omega\bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_g - \xi_m)\right)^T\vartheta + \vartheta^T\left(-\vartheta\sigma - \gamma\Omega\bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_g - \xi_m)\right)$$
(B.3)

Which leads to

$$2\dot{V}_{\vartheta} = -2\sigma\vartheta^{T}\vartheta - \gamma\left(\Omega\bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_{g} - \xi_{m})\right)^{T}\vartheta - \gamma\vartheta^{T}\left(\Omega\bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_{g} - \xi_{m})\right)$$
(B.4)

Noting that  $\left(\Omega \bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_g - \xi_m)\right)$  is scalar and recalling Eq. (3.36)

$$2\dot{V}_{\vartheta} = -2\sigma \left\|\vartheta\right\|^2 + 2\sigma_{eq}\vartheta^2 \tag{B.5}$$

$$\dot{V}_{\vartheta} = (\sigma_{eq} - \sigma) \left\|\vartheta\right\|^2 \tag{B.6}$$

and  $(\sigma_{eq} - \sigma) \leq 0$  for  $\|\vartheta\| \geq M_{\vartheta}$ . Thus, the set  $\|\vartheta\| \leq M_{\vartheta}$  is positively invariant and thus  $\tilde{\vartheta}^T \tilde{\vartheta}$  is uniformely bounded by a constant.

Consider the following Lyapunov candidate, where  $P_1, P_2$  and  $W_N$  are SPD,

 $W_N = W \otimes I_N$  and  $\tilde{\vartheta} = \vartheta - \vartheta^*$ .

$$V = x_e^T P_1 x_e + \frac{1}{\gamma} \tilde{\vartheta}^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta} + x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 x_{\varepsilon}$$
(B.7)

the derivative is

$$V = x_e^T P_1 (A_c x_e + B_c K_p \Omega^T \vartheta) + (A_c x_e + B_c K_p \Omega^T \vartheta)^T P_1 x_e + + \frac{1}{\gamma} \left[ (-\vartheta \sigma - \gamma \Omega (\hat{e}_L + \beta_\alpha))^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta} + \tilde{\vartheta}^T W_N (-\vartheta \sigma - \gamma \Omega (\hat{e}_L + \beta_\alpha)) \right] + + x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 \left( \frac{1}{\tau} A_{\varepsilon} x_{\varepsilon} + B_{\varepsilon} \dot{\xi}_y \right) + \left( \frac{1}{\tau} A_{\varepsilon} x_{\varepsilon} + B_{\varepsilon} \dot{\xi}_y \right)^T P_2 x_{\varepsilon}$$

Since  $A_c$  and  $A_{\varepsilon}$  are Hurwitz and noting that  $P_1 B_c K_p = (\bar{L}H_0)^T W$  and  $\bar{e}_L = \bar{L}H_0 x_e$ it simplifies to

$$\dot{V} = -x_e^T Q_1 x_e + 2(\hat{\bar{e}}_L)^T W \Omega^T \tilde{\vartheta} - \frac{1}{\tau} x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_2 x_{\varepsilon} - 2\frac{\sigma}{\gamma} \vartheta^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta} + - 2\tilde{\vartheta} W_N \Omega \left[ \bar{L}(\xi_y + \varepsilon_l - \xi_m) + \beta_\alpha \right] + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \dot{\xi}_y$$
(B.8)

Where we used the fact that  $\hat{\bar{e}}_L = \bar{L}(\hat{\xi}_l - \xi_m)$  and  $\xi_y = \hat{\xi}_l - \varepsilon_l$ . From Eq. (3.15), and knowing that  $W_N \Omega = \Omega W$  and  $\bar{e}_L = \xi_y - \xi_m$  we have that

$$\dot{V} = -x_e^T Q_1 x_e - \frac{1}{\tau} x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_2 x_{\varepsilon} - 2 \frac{\sigma}{\gamma} \vartheta^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta} - \tilde{\vartheta} W_N \Omega (\bar{L}\varepsilon_l + \beta_\alpha) + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} A_c X + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} B_c K_p \Omega^T \tilde{\vartheta} + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} B_c r$$

Knowing that  $\Omega^T \tilde{\vartheta} = \tilde{\theta}^T \omega$ ,  $x_e = X - X_m$ ,  $\omega_r = W_0(x_e + X_m)$  where  $\omega_r = [\omega_u \ \omega_y \ y_p]^T$ ,  $\theta_r^* = [\theta_1^* \ \theta_2^* \ \theta_3^*]^T$  and

$$W_0 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I \\ H_0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.9)

one has

$$\dot{V} = -x_e^T Q_1 x_e - \frac{1}{\tau} x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_2 x_{\varepsilon} - 2 \frac{\sigma}{\gamma} \vartheta^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta} - (\bar{L}\varepsilon_l + \beta_{\alpha})^T W \Omega^T \tilde{\vartheta} + + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} A_c x_e + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} A_c X_m + + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} B_c K_p \tilde{\theta}_r^T W_0 x_e + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} B_c K_p \tilde{\theta}_r^T W_0 X_m + + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} B_c K_p \tilde{\theta}_4^T r + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \bar{H} B_c r$$

Which can be simplified

$$\dot{V} = -x_e^T Q_1 x_e - \frac{1}{\tau} x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_2 x_{\varepsilon} - 2\frac{\sigma}{\gamma} \vartheta^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta} - (\bar{L}\varepsilon_l + \beta_\alpha)^T Q_6 [x_e + X_m] + (\bar{L}\varepsilon_l + \beta_\alpha)^T Q_7 r + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T [Q_3 x_e + Q_4 X_m + Q_5 r]$$

with

$$Q_{3} = P_{2}B_{\varepsilon}\bar{H}B_{c}K_{p}\theta_{r}^{T}W_{0} + P_{2}B_{\varepsilon}\bar{H}A_{c};$$

$$Q_{4} = P_{2}B_{\varepsilon}\bar{H}B_{c}K_{p}\theta_{r}^{T}W_{0} + P_{2}B_{\varepsilon}\bar{H}A_{c};$$

$$Q_{5} = P_{2}B_{\varepsilon}\bar{H}B_{c}K_{p}\theta_{4}^{T} + P_{2}B_{\varepsilon}\bar{H}B_{c};$$

$$Q_{6} = W\tilde{\theta}^{T}W_{0};$$

$$Q_{7} = W\theta_{4}^{T}$$

Since  $\theta$  is bounded and recalling that  $\beta_{\alpha}$  is uniformly bounded by  $\varepsilon_M = \tau K_R$ , and  $\|\varepsilon_l\| \leq \|x_{\varepsilon}\|$ ,

$$\dot{V} \leq -k_1(Q_1) \|x_e\|^2 - \frac{k_2}{\tau} \|x_\varepsilon\|^2 - 2\frac{\sigma}{\gamma} \vartheta^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta} + k_3 \|x_\varepsilon\| \|x_e\| + k_4 \|x_\varepsilon\| + \tau k_5$$

Noting that from (3.10), the term  $-2\frac{\sigma}{\gamma}\vartheta^T W_N \tilde{\vartheta}$  is non-positive since  $\tilde{\vartheta} = \vartheta - \vartheta^*$  and  $M_\vartheta \ge \|\vartheta^*\|$ , we have

$$\dot{V} \le -k_1 \|x_e\|^2 - \frac{k_2}{\tau} \|x_\varepsilon\|^2 + k_3 \|x_\varepsilon\| \|x_e\| + k_4 \|x_\varepsilon\| + \mathcal{O}(\tau)$$

We use the following equality to complete the squares:

$$-\left(\frac{\sqrt{k_2}}{\sqrt{2\tau}} \|x_{\varepsilon}\| - \frac{k_3\sqrt{2\tau}}{2\sqrt{k_2}} \|x_e\|\right)^2 = -\frac{k_2}{2\tau} \|x_{\varepsilon}\|^2 + k_3 \|x_{\varepsilon}\| \|x_e\| - \frac{k_3^2}{2k_2}\tau \|x_e\|^2$$

which leads to

$$\dot{V} \le -\left(\frac{\sqrt{k_2}}{\sqrt{2\tau}} \|x_{\varepsilon}\| - \frac{k_3\sqrt{2\tau}}{2\sqrt{k_2}} \|x_e\|\right)^2 - \left(k_1 - \frac{k_3^2}{2k_2}\tau\right) \|x_e\|^2 - \frac{k_2}{2\tau} \|x_{\varepsilon}\|^2 + k_4 \|x_{\varepsilon}\|$$

and, consequently

$$\dot{V} \le -\frac{k_1}{2} \|x_e\|^2 - \frac{k_2}{2\tau} \|x_\varepsilon\| - \left(\frac{k_1}{2} - \frac{k_3^2}{2k_2}\tau\right) \|x_e\|^2 + k_4 \|x_\varepsilon\|$$

We proceed to complete the squares one more time using the following equation

$$-\left(\frac{\sqrt{k_2}}{2\sqrt{\tau}} \left\|x_{\varepsilon}\right\| - \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{\sqrt{k_2}}k_4\right)^2 = -\frac{k_2}{4\tau} \left\|x_{\varepsilon}\right\|^2 + k_4 \left\|x_{\varepsilon}\right\| - \tau k_5$$

And then we arrive at

$$\dot{V} \le \frac{k_1}{2} \|x_e\|^2 - \frac{k_2}{4\tau} \|x_\varepsilon\| - \left(\frac{k_1}{2} - \frac{k_3^2}{2k_2}\tau\right) \|x_e\|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\tau)$$

Assuming that  $\tau \leq \frac{k_1k_2}{2k_3^2}$ , it follows that

$$\dot{V} \le -\frac{k_1}{2} \|x_e\|^2 - \frac{k_2}{4\tau} \|x_{\varepsilon}\|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\tau)$$

Since  $\|\vartheta\|$  is uniformly bounded, we have that

$$V \leq \begin{bmatrix} x_e \ x_\varepsilon \end{bmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} P_1 & 0 \\ 0 & P_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_e \\ x_\varepsilon \end{bmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-1})$$
(B.10)

Such that we can write, with  $z = [x_e \ x_{\varepsilon}]^T$ 

$$V - \mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-1}) \le z^T P z \le \lambda_{max}(P) z^T z$$
(B.11)

and

$$\dot{V} - \mathcal{O}(\tau) \le -z^T Q z \le -\lambda_{min}(Q) z^T z$$
 (B.12)

$$\dot{V} \le -\lambda \left[ V - \mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-1}) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\tau)$$
 (B.13)

with  $\lambda = \lambda_{min}(Q)/\lambda_{max}(P)$ . Using a comparison lemma it possible to show that there exist constants  $c_z, a > 0$  such that  $||z(t)|| \leq c_z e^{-a(t-t_0)} ||z(t_0)|| + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\tau}) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{1/\gamma}) \forall z(t_0), \forall t \geq t_0 > 0$ 

#### B.2 Proof of Corollary 2:

From (3.6) and (3.15), one has  $y_j^{(i)} = h_j^T A_c^{(i)} X$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, \rho_i - 1$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, m$ . Since the augmented state X is uniformly bounded, then there exist positive constants, such that:  $|y_j^{(i)}| \leq K_i, \forall t \geq t_0 \geq 0$ ,  $i = 0, \ldots, \rho_i - 1$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, M$ . Moreover, the uniformly boundedness of  $y_j^{(\rho_j)}, j = 1, \ldots, M$  follows from the fact that the augmented state X(t), and the signals u(t) and  $u^*$ , are uniformly bounded. The signals  $y_j^{(\rho_j)}(t), j = 1, \ldots, M$  are given by:

$$y_j^{(\rho_j)} = h_j^T A_c^{\rho_j} X$$

Eq. (B.9) allows us to establish that  $|w_r| \leq \kappa_1 |x_e| + \kappa_2$ , since  $X_m$ , r and  $\tilde{\theta}$  are bounded. Hence  $y_j^{(\rho_j)}(t)$  can be upper bounded by

$$\left\| y_j^{(\rho_j)}(t) \right\| \le \kappa_3 \left\| x_e(t) \right\| + \kappa_4$$

. Since  $||x_e(t)|| \leq R \ \forall t \geq T$ , inequalities

$$\left\| y_{j_{[T,t]}}^{(\rho_j)} \right\|_{\infty} \le C_{\rho_j}^{[j]}, \ j = 1, \dots, M$$

can be established since the projection law ensures boundedness of  $\vartheta$ .

#### **B.3** Proof of Theorem 4

The estimate given by the MIMO lead filter and the MIMO RED could be related to  $\xi_y$  in (3.15) as follows:

$$\hat{\xi}_l = \xi_y + \varepsilon_l, \qquad \hat{\xi}_r = \xi_y + \varepsilon_r,$$
(B.14)

where  $\varepsilon_l$  and  $\varepsilon_r$  are estimation errors. From (B.14), equation (3.32) can be rewritten as

$$\hat{\xi}_g = \xi_y + \varepsilon_g, \tag{B.15}$$

$$\varepsilon_g = \alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl})\varepsilon_l + [1 - \alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl})]\varepsilon_r.$$
 (B.16)

The estimation error  $\varepsilon_g$  can be considered as an output disturbance. Thus, the GRED-BMRAC closed-loop error system (1.21), (3.1)–(3.3) can described by:

$$\dot{x}_e = A_c x_e + B_c K_p \left[ u - \theta^{*T} \omega \right], \qquad e = H_0 x_e, \tag{B.17}$$

Note that  $\{A_c, B_c, H_0\}$  is a nonminimal realization of

$$W_m(s) = \frac{K_m}{s + a_m},$$

and therefore is SPR. From (3.33), the estimation error  $\varepsilon_q(t)$  can be rewritten as:

$$\varepsilon_g = \varepsilon_l + \beta_\alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl}(t)),$$
 (B.18)

where by design  $\beta_{\alpha}(\tilde{\nu}_{rl}(t))$  is uniformly bounded by

$$\|\beta_{\alpha}(\tilde{\nu}_{rl}(t))\| < \varepsilon_M, \text{ with } \varepsilon_M = \tau K_R.$$

Substituting (B.15),(B.18) into (3.34)–(3.36), it can be seen that GRED adaptive law is equivalent to lead adaptive law (3.24)–(3.26) with an output disturbance  $\|\beta_{\alpha}(\tilde{\nu}_{rl}(t))\| \leq \varepsilon_M.$ 

Therefore, Theorem 3 holds if all signals of the GRED-BMRAC system belong to  $L_{\infty e}$ . In order to demonstrate that the condition is true, we only have to show that all signals in the MIMO RED system are  $L_{\infty e}$ . This property can be proved by contradiction. Suppose that the maximal interval of finiteness of the signals in the MIMO RED is  $[0, T_M)$ . During this interval, all conditions of Theorem 3 hold and thus all signals of the remaining subsystems of the GRED-BMRAC are bounded by a constant, and in particular  $|y_j^{(i)}(t)|$ ,  $i = 0, \ldots, \rho_j$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, M$ , from Corollary 2. This leads to a contradiction with Lemma 10, whereby, the signals in the MIMO RED could not diverge unboundedly as  $t \to T_M$ . As a consequence of the continuation theorem for differential equations (in Filippov's theory),  $T_M$  must be  $\infty$ , which means that all signals are defined  $\forall t \geq 0$ . Thus, Theorem 3 is valid for the GRED-MRAC system and the closed-loop error system with state z is GEpS with respect to a residual set.

Now, we will analyze the ultimate convergence of the GRED-BMRAC. According to Corollary 1, for sufficiently small  $\tau$  and sufficiently large  $\gamma$  the error state z is steered to an invariant compact set  $D_R := \{z : |z(t)| < R\}$  in some finite time  $T_1 \ge 0$ . Consider the following Lyapunov candidate

$$V = x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 x_{\varepsilon} \tag{B.19}$$

whose time derivative is

$$\dot{V} = -\frac{1}{\tau} x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_2 x_{\varepsilon} + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T P_2 B_{\varepsilon} \dot{\xi}_y$$

following the previous steps

$$\dot{V} = -\frac{1}{\tau} x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_2 x_{\varepsilon} + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_3 x_e + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_4 X_m + 2x_{\varepsilon}^T Q_5 r \qquad (B.20)$$

$$\dot{V} \le -\frac{k_2}{\tau} \|x_{\varepsilon}\|^2 + k_3 \|x_{\varepsilon}\| \|x_e\| + k_4 \|x_{\varepsilon}\|$$
 (B.21)

Within  $D_R x_e$  can be upper bounded by  $||x_e|| \leq R$  such that

$$\dot{V} \le -\frac{k_2}{\tau} \left\| x_{\varepsilon} \right\|^2 + \tau k_5 \tag{B.22}$$

Following similar steps to the proof of Theorem 1

$$\|x_{\varepsilon}(t)\| \le c_{\varepsilon} e^{-a(t-t_0)} \|x_{\varepsilon}(t_0)\| + \tau k_6$$
(B.23)

Since  $\|\varepsilon_l\| \leq \|x_{\varepsilon}\|$ , it is straightforward to show that for some finite  $T_2 \geq T_1$ ,  $\|\varepsilon_l\| \leq \bar{\varepsilon}_l$ , where  $\bar{\varepsilon}_l = \tau K_l$ .

Since the MIMO RED is time invariant, its initial conditions can be considered to be at  $t = T_1$ . From Lemma 10 the initial conditions are finite. If the parameters  $\lambda_i^j$  are adjusted properly, then from Theorem 7 the estimation error  $\varepsilon_r(t)$  converges to zero in some finite time  $T_3 > T_1$ .

Since  $K_R$  is chosen such that  $\varepsilon_M > \overline{\varepsilon}_l + \Delta$  and from (3.33), it follows that after some finite time  $\overline{T} = \max\{T_2, T_3\}$  the estimation of  $\sigma$  becomes exact and being made exclusively by the MIMO RED ( $\alpha(\tilde{\nu}_{rl}) = 0$ ), which implies that  $\varepsilon_g(t) = 0, \forall t \ge \overline{T}$ .

In this case, the overall error system can be described by

$$\dot{x}_e = A_c x_e + B_c K_p [u - u^*], \quad e_L = \bar{L} H_0 x_e,$$
 (B.24)

since this system has uniform relative degree one we can apply the result obtained in [31]. Thus, it is possible to conclude that  $z(t), e(t) \to 0$ .

# Appendix C eBMRAC proofs

#### C.1 Proof of Theorem 5

Property (i) is derived by considering the Lyapunov candidate:  $2V_{\theta} = \theta^T \theta$ . The derivative is:

$$\dot{V} = (\sigma_{eq} - \sigma) \left\|\theta\right\|^2 = (\sigma_{eq} - \sigma)V/2 \tag{C.1}$$

from (3.10) it follows that  $(\sigma_{eq} - \sigma) \leq 0$  for  $\|\theta\| \geq M_{\theta}$ , such that  $\|\theta(t)\| \leq M_{\theta}$  is positively invariant and therefore  $\tilde{\theta}^T \tilde{\theta}$  is uniformly bounded.

Property (ii) is obtained using the following Lyapunov candidate:

$$V = x_{\varepsilon}^T P x_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\gamma} \tilde{\theta}^T \tilde{\theta}$$

The time derivative is

$$\dot{V} = -x_{\varepsilon}^{T}Qx_{\varepsilon} - \frac{2\sigma}{\gamma}\tilde{\theta}^{T}\theta$$
(C.2)

Since  $\|\theta\|$  is uniformly bounded

$$V \le x_{\varepsilon}^T P x_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-1}) \tag{C.3}$$

From which is possible to establish that

$$\dot{V} \le -\lambda_1 \left[ V - \mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-1}) \right] \tag{C.4}$$

where  $\lambda_1 = \lambda_{min}(Q)/\lambda_{max}(P)$ , with  $\lambda_{min}(Q)$  and  $\lambda_{max}(P)$  being the minimum and maximum eigenvalues of Q and P, respectively. The proof of (ii) is completed using a comparison lemma.

Finally, property (iii) is established noting that without the projection, we would have  $\dot{V} = -x_{\epsilon}^T Q x_{\epsilon}$ . Consequently,  $\dot{V} \leq -x_{\epsilon}^T Q x_{\epsilon} \leq 0$ .

Since the term  $-\frac{2\sigma}{\gamma}\tilde{\theta}^T\theta$  is non-positive due to the projection law it can only make

 $\dot{V}$  more negative, such that it does not affect the obtained result. Furthermore, the  $\mathcal{L}_2$  property is not affected by projection, since  $\left|\dot{\theta}\right|^2 \leq \kappa |\gamma e_o \omega|^2$ , where  $\kappa > 0$  is a constant. Further details can be seen in [2] (pp. 205). Since  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Thus,

$$\varepsilon = k^* W_m(s) [u_0 - u^*], \qquad (C.5)$$

it is possible to establish that  $u_0 \to u^*$ . Consequently, referring to the tracking error:

$$e = k^* W_m(s) \left[ \frac{u^*}{\tau s + 1} - u^* \right]$$
 (C.6)

Which is equivalent to

$$e = k^* W_m(s) \left[ \frac{-\tau s}{\tau s + 1} \right] u^* \tag{C.7}$$

Following similar steps presented in the proof of Theorem 2 in [71], it can be shown that  $\omega$  is bounded and hence  $u^*$  is also bounded. Since  $W_m(s)$  is minimum-phase, it follows that<sup>1</sup>

$$\left\|k^* W_m \frac{-\tau s}{\tau s + 1}\right\|_1 \le \tau K_1 \tag{C.8}$$

thus  $||e|| \leq \tau K + c_2 e^{-\lambda_2 t}$  for some positive constants  $c_2$  and  $\lambda_2$ .

#### C.2 Proof of Theorem 6

Similarly to [71], we consider  $k^{nom} = k^* = 1$  for simplicity and write plant and disturbance as

$$y = G_p(s)u + W_d(s)d \tag{C.9}$$

where  $W_d$  is the transfer function from d to e with  $u = \bar{u}^*$ , where  $\bar{u}^*$  is the control that achieves perfect matching with d = 0. It is then possible to write the output error as

$$e = y - y_m \tag{C.10}$$

$$= W_m(s)[-u_0 - u^*] + W_m(s)W_d(s)d + W_m(s)[u_0 - u]$$
(C.11)

The prediction error is then

$$\varepsilon = e - \hat{e} \tag{C.12}$$

$$= W_m(s) [u_0 - u^*] + W_m(s) W_d(s) d$$
 (C.13)

<sup>1</sup>The  $\mathcal{L}_1$  norm of the operator h(t) corresponds to  $\|h\|_1 = \int_0^\infty |x(\tau)| d\tau$ 

If the smooth saturation is used, the modified control signal is

$$u_0 = \theta^T \omega - \bar{d} \frac{\varepsilon}{\|\varepsilon\| + \delta}.$$
 (C.14)

We rewrite as the prediction error as

$$\varepsilon = W_m(s) \left[ \theta^T \omega - \bar{u}^* \right] + W_m(s) W_d(s) d - W_m(s) \bar{d} \frac{\varepsilon}{\|\varepsilon\| + \delta}$$
(C.15)

Using the following Lyapunov candidate

$$V = x_{\varepsilon}^{T} P x_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\gamma} \tilde{\theta}^{T} \tilde{\theta}$$
(C.16)

Calculating its derivative, we have

$$V = 2 \left( A_c \ x_{\varepsilon} + b_c \ \left[ u_0 - u^* \right] \right)^T P x_{\varepsilon} + \frac{2}{\gamma} \left( -\sigma \theta - \gamma e \omega \right)^T \tilde{\theta}$$
(C.17)

which leads to

$$\dot{V} \le -x_{\varepsilon}^{T}Qx_{\varepsilon} + 2x_{\varepsilon}^{T}Pb_{c}\left[u_{0} - u^{*}\right] - \frac{2\sigma}{\gamma}\theta^{T}\tilde{\theta} - 2\varepsilon\tilde{\theta}^{T}\omega + 2x_{\varepsilon}^{T}Pb_{c}||W_{d}||d \qquad (C.18)$$

If it is possible to cancel  $\varepsilon \tilde{\theta}^T \omega$  with  $x_{\varepsilon}^T P b_c [u_0 - u^*]$ 

$$\dot{V} \le -x_{\varepsilon}^{T}Qx_{\varepsilon} - \frac{2\sigma}{\gamma}\theta^{T}\tilde{\theta} + 2x_{\varepsilon}^{T}Pb_{c}||W_{d}||d + 2x_{\varepsilon}^{T}Pb_{c}\bar{d}\frac{\varepsilon}{\|\varepsilon\| + \delta}$$
(C.19)

or, since the model is chosen SPR

$$\dot{V} \le -x_{\varepsilon}Qx_{\varepsilon} - \frac{2\sigma}{\gamma}\theta^{T}\tilde{\theta} + \varepsilon^{T}||W_{d}||d + \bar{d}\frac{\varepsilon^{T}\varepsilon}{\|\varepsilon\| + \delta}$$
(C.20)

The rest of the proof follows closely to [73].

# Appendix D

# Publications

Until the present moment, this work is related to the following publications Regarding the Direct MRAC:

- Transactions on Automatic Control regarding the Direct MRAC [56]
- 2013 American Control Conference [78]
- XIX Congresso Brasileiro de Automática, presented in 2012 [79]
- XX Congresso Brasileiro de Automática, presented in 2014 [56]

Regarding the GRED-BMRAC

- 13th Workshop on Variable Structure Systems [80]
- XX Congresso Brasileiro de Automática [81]

Regarding the eBMRAC

- 19th IFAC World Congress [82]
- XX Congresso Brasileiro de Automática [83]

#### Related topics

- XI Simpósio Brasileiro de Automação Inteligente [84]
- XX Congresso Brasileiro de Automática [85]